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Janice S, Casteel 
City Manager 

(423) 472-4551 
(423) 559-3337 Fax 

jcasteel@clevelandtn,gov 

December 19,2013 

Honorable Mayor, 

<!tity 'of <!tleuelnn~ 
CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
Office of the City Manager 

~ 
'~ V~-1-~ "'V Cl I' . . '. . \ " " .' .. . . 

• /- I ~ I ~ .v· 
(J\,{\,'l:.S~'V 

Members of the City Council and 
Citizens of the City of Cleveland, Tennessee 

Cleveland Municipal Building 
190 Church Street, N,E. 

PO. Box 1519 
Cleveland, TN 37364-1519 

State law requi.res that all general-purpose local governments publish within six months 
of the close of each fiscal year a complete set of financial statements presented iri 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audit in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a finn licensed celtified public 
accountant. Pursuant to that requirement, we hereby issue the comprehensive annual 
financial report of the City of Cleveland for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. 

Tllis report consists of management's representations concerning the fmances of the City 
of Cleveland. Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the 
completeness and reliability of all of the information presented in this repOli. To provide 
a reasonable basis for making these representations, management of the City of 
Cleveland has established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed 
both to protect the city's assets from loss , theft, or nllsuse and to compile sufficient 
reliable information for the preparation of the City of Cleveland's financial statements in 
conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh its 
benefits, the City of Cleveland's comprehensive framework of internal controls has been 
designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the financial 
statements will be free from material misstatement.' As management, we assert that, to 
the best of our knowledge and belief, this fmancial report is complete and reliable in all 
material respects. 

The City of Cleveland's financial statements have been audited by Arnett, Kirksey, 
Kimsey, Sullivan, Lay and Hall, PLLC, a finn of licensed certified public accountants . 

. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements of the City of Cleveland, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, are free of 
material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fulancia l statements; assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and 



evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor 
concluded, based upon tbe andit, tbat there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
unqualified opinion that the City of Cleveland's f. <LUcial statements, for tbe fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2013, are fairly presented in confo, nitY with GAAJ>. Tbe independent 
auditor's report is presented as the fIrst component 0 the financial section of this repOlt. 

Tbe independent audit of the flllancial statements of the City of Cleveland was part of a 
broader, federally mandated "Single Audit" designed to meet the special needs of federal 
grantor agencies. The standards goveming Single Audit engagements require the 
independent audi tor to report not only on the fair presentation of the flllancial statements, 
but also on the City of Cleveland's intemal controls and compliance with legal 
requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements involving 
the administration of federal awards. These reports are located in the Single Audit 
Section at the end of this Comprehensive A1mual Financial Report. 

GAAP require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis 
to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and 
Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and 
should be read in conjunction with it. The City of Cleveland's MD&A can be found 
immediately following the report ofthe independent auditors. 

PROFILEOF THE CITY OF CLEVELAND 

The City of Cleveland, incorporated in 1903, is located in the southeastern corner of the 
state. Cleveland has a highly diversified economy, being the fifth largest industrial city 
in the state with twelve FOltune 500 manufacturers, and being a regional shopping 
destination and health care provider for surrounding counties. Its proximity to the 
mountains, whitewater rafting, and Cherokee lidian heritage is increasing the tourism 
component of the economy. 

The City of Cleveland operates under the council-manager forn1 of government, 
established by an amended Private Act Charter in 1993, foHowing a referendum. Five 
council-members are elected from districts, ruld the mayor and two council members are 
elected at lru·ge. ALI elections are non-prutisan, and the terms are for four years, with half 
the members 'elected every two years. Policy-malcing and legislative authority ru'e vested 
in the council. The council is responsible for, among other things, passing ordinances, 
adopting the budget, appointing committees, hiring the city manager, and appointing the 
city attorney and city judge. The city manager is responsible for carrying out the policies 
·and ordinances of the city council , overseeing the city's day-to-day operations, and 
appointing the heads of the various depaltments. 

The city provides a nill range of services which include police and fue protection; 
sanitation services; the construction ruld maintenance of highways, streets, 8Jld 
infrastructure; recreational activities and cultural events. In addition to general 
government activities, the governing body exercises, or has the authority to exercise, 
oversight of the Utilities Department ru1d the Cleveland City Schools; therefore, these 
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activities are included in the financial statements . However, the Cleveland Housing 
Authori ty, the Bradley/Cleveland IndustTial Development Board and tbe Health and 
Educational Facilities Board have not met the established criteria for inclusion; and, 
accord ingly, are excluded from this report. 

The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City of Cleveland's fmancial plruming 
and contTO!. All departments ofthe city are requi.red to submit capital requests to the city 
mru1ager by February 1 Sl and operatillg budget requests to the finance director by March 
1 Sl each year. The city mru1ager and fmance director make revenue estinlates for the 
upcoming fiscal year. A budget work session is beld in late March or early April, at 
which time department heads and the city manager make presentations to the counci l. 
The finance director aJld city manager provide projections for the current fisca l year's 
budget ruld the coming year's proposed operating budget for council review. In addition, 
the city manager presents the council with her recommendation for a s ix~yem· capital 
improvements progrrul1 based upon the fall pl anni.ng session held by the city council, city 
manager, and department heads. After much ·review ruJd debate aJllong the council , the 
budget is revised to include any recommendations ohhe city council. A proposed budget 
is submitted to the city council by the second council meeting in May. The council is 
required to bo ld public hearings on tbe proposed budget ruld to adopt a final budget and 
tax rate by J1Ule 30th each year, wbich is tbe close of the city's fiscal year. The 
appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function (e.g., public safety), and department 
(e.g., police). Departmental budget officers, with approval of the depm·tment head and 
fmance director, may make transfers of appropri atiolls within a department. However, 
transfers of appropriations between funds require approval of the city council. Budget to 
actual comparisons m·e provided in this report fo r each individual governmental fund for 
which an appropriated annual budget bas been adopted. For tbe general fund, tbis 
comparison is presented on pages 23-45 as part of tbe basic financial statements for the 
governmental funds. The school fund comparison is presented on pages 46-55. For 
nonmajor goverrunental fllJ1ds, Witil appropriated annual budgets, this compm·ison IS 

presented in the govelTU1Jental fUlld subsectioll of this report, which starts on page 90. 

Factors Affecting Financial Condition 

The information presented in the fin rulcial statements is perhaps best understood when it 
is considered from tile broader perspective of tbe specific envir.ol1lllent within which the 
City of Cleveland operates. 

Local economy_ The local economy has shown signs of sustaining economic growtb for 
the cnrrent yeru·. The economic decli ne in previous yeaJ"s was not as drastic as many other 
locations in the state or nation because of tbe diverse economy and the proximity to 
severallru·ge industrial constTuction proj ects. 

A staff report issued in May 2013 by the Te11llessee Advisory Council on 
Intergovernmental Relations (T ACIR) titled "The Recession and Employmenl in Ihe US 
and Tennessee- A Long Road Back 10 Normal?" provides proof that our community: 
wide economic development effort is creating posi tive results for tile ci tizens of 
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Cleveland, Charleston and Bradley County. The Cleveland Metropolitan Statistical Area 
(Cleveland MSA) showed the strongest job growth of tbe 10 metropolitan statistical areas 
in Tennessee in 2012. Cleveland employment grew 5.6 percent compared to 1.4 percent 
statewide and 2.8 percent in Nashville. 

The positive growth trend was also noticed outside of our state. The fu'st recognition we 
received was a feature article in the quarterly journal of the Federal Reserve Bank of 
Atlanta, EconSoulh, Second Quarter 20J 3. The' article focused on the manufacturing 
resurgence i.n Cleveland and highlighted projects by Wacker, Mars Chocolate and 
Whirlpool. In May 2013, a website tbat featmes research on economic development, 
politics, demographics and the economy, NewGeogTaphy.com, published its 2013 
rankings oftbe best cities for job growth. Its evaluation of weighted montbJy employment 
data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics fo r the period from 2001 until the end of 2012 
ranked Cleveland as tbe fourtb best metTopolitan area for job gro\vth out of all 398 metro 
areas in the United States. That compares to a ranking of 372 out of 398 MSAs in 2012, 
giving us the largest overalJ movement for all MSAs in 2013. 

In addition to the accolades above, the Milken Institute's study of tbe best performing 
small cities ranked tbe Cleveland MSA as the 25th best performing small city in 2013, an 
improvement of 94 positions over 201 2. The study " ... ranks U.S. metro areas by how 
well they are creating and sustai.ning jobs and economic grov.1.h. The components include 
job, wages and salary, and technology growth." Selected rankings of the individual 
components used in the analysis had Cleveland ranked 4th i111-yr job growth, 14th in1-yr 
wages and salary growth, 18th in 5-yr job growtll, and 105th in 5-yr wages and salary 
growth. 

Cleveland 's strong economy is evidenced by the following: 

• 2013 saw full-time employment at tbe Amazon FnJfillment Center reach 800, an 
incredible increase over the original employment commitment of 244 full-time 
positions. Both 01 ill Corporation and Lonza completed their modernization 
projects totaling almost $200 lnillion by tbe end of summer. WhiJ'lpool 
Corporation is wrapping up the third and fil1al phase of its new i.nvestment with 
the completion of its research and development laboratory at the new faci lity on 
Benton Pike. Whirlpool Corporation is the largest employer in the City with 
approximately 1,500 employees and one of the largest taxpayers. 

• Volkswagen has completed its cOlrunitrnent to invest up to $1 billion for a 
manufacturing plant i.n neru'by Hamilton County. The plant is located less tban 
twenty minutes from much of Cleveland and has begun shipping Passats around 
the country. Cleveland and tbe surrounding mea is benefiting from tbe 
approximately 2,000 jobs created at the faci lity, as we ll as the estimated 
'additional 9,500 jobs created by suppliers to the plant. 

• Wacker Chemie AF, a Munich, Germru1y-based company, is progressing with its 
construction of a new faci lity in Bradley County witb all estimated capital 
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investment .of $1.8 to $2.0 billi.on and initial employment of approximately 750 
highly skilled workers . The new facility will produce hyperpure polycrystalline 
silicon, a key component in photovoltaics for so lar energy and semiconductors for 
tbe electronics industry. 

• Various commercial developments, totaling over $5 million, have occurred during 
20 13 including Publix, Center for Sports Medicine and Jenkin's Deli at Spring 
Creek. Bradley Square Mall had several additions including Luigi's Pizza, 
Dunham's Sports, Rue 24, Santa Fe Cattle Company, and Sears Outlet. 

• Residential growth included Phase 2 of the Retreat at Spring Creek which 
completed development of 112 units as well as the clubhouse in the swruner of 
2013. Also, Phase 1 of Brooks Edge has completed two of tbe four buildings, 
with the remaining buildings to be completed mid-20 14. 

Long-tem1 financial planning. On March 10,2009, the voters approved an increase in 
the local option sales tax rate from 2.25% to 2.75%, the highest rate allowed by state law. 
Tbe nmds generated from the additional half cent rate increase, which became effective 
on May l SI, would be used for capital needs of the City and the City Schools. TillS 
additional revenue has provided much needed funds to purchase equipment and provide 
paving in tbe city. It bas also funded improvements to the schools including repaying 
debt incurred for constructing a science wing at Cleveland High School. 

The City worked with the IndustTial Development Board, Bradley County, and Cleveland 
Utilities to purchase land for a new industrial park. Spring Branch Industrial Park is 350 
acres and can accommodate approximately two million square feet of 
manufacturing/distribution fac ilities. 

The City and Bradley County will each provide $2 million to match a TDOT grant of $4 
million for the construction of two local interstate connectors in southern area of tbe City 
near the industrial park property. The City believes the development of tllls area will 
produce additional tax revenues and jobs. 

Financial Policies 

Revenue policies. 111e City will budget revenues conservatively so that the chance of a 
revenue shortage during the year is remote. Tills also will help finance contingencies and 
budget amendments that were unforeseen when the Budget was first adopted. The City 
will review armually all fees and charges to assure that they maintain tlleir inilation­
adjusted purchasing power. Since different revenue sources impact classes of taxpayers 
differently, the City Council recognizes that the only way to minimize these different 
impacts is to have a diversified revenue system. These impacts will be considered in 

. making any needed adjustments to the various sources of revenue. The City will make 
every effort to avoid becoming too dependent on one source of revenue in order to 
nllnimize serious fluctuations in any year. The City will consider market rates and rates 
of comparable cities in the region when changing tax rates, fees , illld charges. In tIllS 
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regard, the City will make every etTort to maintain its favo rable comparative position 
with other Tennessee cities which has contributed to our economic development success. 

Reserve fund policy. It is the po licy of the City Council to maintain a reserve in the 
various operating nmds for the City. The reserves are maintained at a level that is 
suffic ient for temporary fi nancing of un fo reseen emergency needs and to continue 
orderl y operations during the months of July through December when cash inflows are 
less, because the majority of property tax collections occur in January and February. The 
percentage is calculated by taking fund balance or working capi tal as a percentage of 
expenditures or operating expenses and transfers to other n mds. These reserves are 
reviewed annually by the city manager and finance directo r. 

Awards and Acknowledgements 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Cleveland for its 
comprehensive annual financia l report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 20 12. 
This was the twenty-fifth consecutive year that the city has received this prestigious 
award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the city published an easily 
readable and efficiently organized CAFR. This report satisfied both GAAP and 
applicable legal requirements. 

A Certillcate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year onl y. We believe that our 
current CAFR continues to meet the Certiticate of Achievement program's requirements 
and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certillcate. 

In addition, the city also received the GFOA 's Distinguished Budget Presentation Award 
for its annual budget document for the last fourteen fisca l years, beginning in Fiscal Year 
1999. In order to qualify fo r the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the city' s 
budget document was judged to be proficient in several categories, including as a po licy 
document, a financial plan, an operations guide, and a communications device. 

The preparation of this CAFR on a timely basis was made possible by the dedicated 
service of the employees of the finance department. We would like to express our 
appreciation to all staff members who have assisted and contributed to this report, in 
addition to the City's independent certified public accountants. Credit must also be given 
to the mayor and city council for their unfa iling support for maintaining the highest 
standards of profess ionalism in the management of the City of Cleveland ' s fi nances. 

Respectfully submi tted, 

~/1t/~ 
Shawn McKay e~~t~~ 
Director of Finance/City Clerk City Manager 
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4395 N. OCOEE STREET 

CLEVELAND. TENNESSEE 37312 

HALL. PLLC 

ME:\1BERS 
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CEf(l'!FIE[) VALUATION ANALY!:.i'S 

INDEPENDENT AUDlTORS' RIlJ'ORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Council 

of the Ci ty of C leveland 
Cleveland, Tennessee 

Report Oil tile Financial Statements 

VIc have audited the accompany ing fin anc ia l s tatements ofthe govcrrunentaI activities, the business-type 

acti vities, each major fund, and the aggregate remain ing fund informat ion of the City of Cleveland, Tennessee, 
as of and fo r the year ended June 30, 20 13, and the related notes to the fiJ.laocial statements, which collective ly 
comprise the City's basic flllaocial statements. 

"'Jalltlgemel1f ~f Responsibility for tlze FinaJtcial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentat ion of these financia l statements in accord ance 
with accounting pr inciples genera lly accepted in the Un ited States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant te::> the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material miss tatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

OUI respons ibility is to express opin ions on these fin ancial statements based 0 0 our audi l. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with auditing standa rds genera lly accepted in the United States of America and standards applicable 
10 financial aud its contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller Gencra l of lbe Uni ted 

Slates. Those standards require that we pl an and perfonI} the audi t to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financ ial statements are free from maleri a l misstatemcnt. 

An audi t invo lves performing procedures to obta in audi t evidence abollt the amOW1ts and disc losures in the 
financ ial statements. The procedures selec ted depend on the aud itor's judgment, inc luding the assessment of 

the risks ofmatcrial misstatement orthe fi nancia l s tatements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control re levant to the entity's preparation and fa ir presentation of the 
fi nanc ia l statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of exp'ress ing an opinion on the effecti veness of the entity's internal control. According ly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes eva luating the appropriateness of accoW1ting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by managemcm, as well as evaluat ing the overall 
presentation oflhe financ ial statements. 

We believe tha t the aud it evidence we have obtained is sufficien t and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

aud it opin ions. 
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Opinions 

Tn our opinion, the fmancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activ ities, the bus iness-type activ ities, each major flmd, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of tbe City of Cleveland, Tennessee, as of June 30, 20 13, and tbe respective changes 
in financial position and, wbere applicable, casb fl ows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the 
General Fund and School Fund, for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Empllasis afMaller 

As described in tbe notes to the financial statements, tbe City has adopted the provisions of Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GAS B) Statement No. 62, Codijication of Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AJCPA Prol1oucements; and Statement No. 63 , 
Reporting Deferred Outj7ml's, Deferred Inflows and Net Position, which became effective for the year ended 
June 30, 20 13. 

Otller Mailers 

Required SupplementGlY Informal ion 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that tbe management's 
discussion and analys is on pages 4 through 16 and the Schedule of Funding Progress on page 89 be presented 
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic fmanda l statements, 
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operationa1, economic, or historical context. 
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance witb 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, whicb consisted primarily of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financia l statements, and oUler knowledge we obtained during 
our aud it of the basic fInancial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on tbe 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us witb sufficient ev idence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 

SupplementGlY and Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City of Cleveland's basic fmancial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual 
nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules, the stati st ical section and the other information section, are 
presented for purposes of additional ana lysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The 
schedule of federal and state financ ial ass istance activity is presented for purposes of additional analysis as 
required by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circu lar A-1 33, Aud its of States, Local Govemments, 
and Non-Profit Organizations, and is also not a required part of the basic fm ancial statements. 

The combining and ind ividual nonmaj or flUld financial statements and schedules, and the schedule offederal 
and state fmancial ass istance activity are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to auditing procedures applied in the audit of the Emancial statements and 
certa in addHional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to ~]e underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare lhe basic financial statements or to the basic fmanc ial statements 
themselves, and other addit ional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United State~ of America. in our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and 
schedules and dle schedule of federal aDd state financial assistance activity, are fair ly stated in all material 
respects in re lat ion to the bas ic fmancial statements as a whole. 

The introductory, statistical sections and otber information have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financia l statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on them. 
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Otlter Reporting Required by Government Auditing Stalldartls 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have aiso issued our report, dated December i6, 20 i3, 
on our consideration of the City of Cleveland's intema l control over financial reporting and on our test of its 
cOlnpl~ance \vith certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal contTol over financial reporting 
and compliance and tbe results of that testing. and nollo provide an opinion on the internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit perfonned in accordance .... vith 
Governmenl Auditing Standards in considering the City'S intcmal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

OMwJ:::-, &'-~' 4i'r>W-<-'r. j,.J..!u""-, If<..c., 'I4/Ctl.-t 
ARNETT, KIRKSEY, KIMSEY, SULLIVAN, LAY & i-fALL, PLLC 
Certified Pubiic Accountants 

December i6, 20 i3 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 

As management of the City of Cleveland, we offer readers of the city's financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Cleveland for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2013. We encourage readers to cons ider the information presented here in 
conjunction with additional info rmation that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which 
can be found in pages i- vi of thi s report. 

Financial Highlights 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

The assets of the City of Cleveland exceeded its liabilities at June 30, 2013 by $251,654,855 
(net position). Of thi s amount, $16,7 13,023 (ulll"estricted net position) may be used to meet the 
city's ongoing obligations to citi zens and cred itors. 
Net position (defined as the difference in revenues and expenses) increased by $10,205,571, an 
increase of 4.2% over FY2012. The City of Cleveland's changes in net position is detailed in 
the chart on page seven of this report. Total revenues increased $4,594,570 which primarily 
included a $3,621,096 increase in capital grants and contributions as well as an increase in 
charges fo r services. Expenses increased $6,201 ,332 over last fiscal year with the largest 
increase consisting of $2,875,390 for general government and $3 ,037,040 for Cleveland 
Utilities. 
The city's property tax rate remained the same at $1.4904 per hundred dollars of assessment. 
The city's residential sanitation fee remained at $6.95 per month. 
The city and county entered the final year of a three-year fire contract in which the county 
agreed to pay for fire suppression service for the fringe area. The contract ended June 30, 20 13 
and was not renewed by Bradley County. 
As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Cleveland 's governmental funds reported 
combined ending fund balances of$27,053,793. 
At the end of the current fiscal yea r, unass igned fund balance for the general fund was 
$ 12,388,007, or 46% of total general fund expenditures. Expenditures do not include translers 
to other funds, which totaled $12,207,902 in the city's general fund. 
Long-term debt increased approximately $2,892,062. 
The City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements No. 62 
and No. 63. This is described in more detail in Note 20 orthe financial statements. 

Ovenriew of thclfinancial Statements 
This di scLlssion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction of the City of Cleveland's bas ic 
tinancial statements. The Ci ty of Cleveland 's basic linancial statements comprise three 
components: 1) government-wide nnancial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to 
the financi al statements. This report al so conta ins other supplementary information in addition to 
the basic fi nancial statements themselves. 

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed 
to provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Cleveland's finances, in a manner similar to 
a private-sector business. 
The statement of net position presents info rmation on all of the City of Cleveland's assets and 
li abilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a usefu l indicator of whether the flnancial condition of the 
City of Cleveland is improving or deteriorating. 
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The statement of activities presents in fo rmation showing how the government's net posItIOn 
changed during the most recent fi sca l yea r. All changes in net position are repo rted as soon as the 
underl ying event giving ri se to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in thi s statement for some items that will on ly result in 
cash fl ows in future I1 scal periods (e.g., unco llected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Cleveland 
that are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental acti vities) 
11·om other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of the ir costs tlu·ough 
user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City of 
Cleve land include general government, public satety, hi ghways and streets, sanita tion, economic 
development, and cu lture and recreati on. The busi ness-type acti vities of the City of Cleve land 
include Cleveland Utiliti es Electric and Water Systems and the Cleveland Municipal Airport 
Authority Fund. 

The government-wide financial statements include not onl y the City of Cleveland itself (which is 
the primary government), but also the operat ions of the Cleveland City Schools, C leve land Public 
Library, C leve land Utilities and Cleve land Municipal Airport Authority which are not considered 
legally separate. However, the Cleve land I-lousing Authority, the Bradley/C leve land Industria l 
Development Board, and the Health and Ed ucational Facilities Board are not legal entities of the 
City of Cleve land , and accordingly are excluded from thi s report. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 17-18 of thi s report. 

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of 
Cleveland, like other state and loca l governments, uses fund accou nting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with fi nance-related lega l req uirements. All of the funds of the City of Cleveland can 
be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds. 

Governmental funds. GovenU11cntal funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as gove rnmenta l activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike 
the government-wide financial statements, governmenta l fund financial statements focus on near­
term inflows and outflows of spendab le resources, as we ll as on balances o f spendable resources 
available at the end of the fi scal year. Such information may be useful in eva luating a government' s 
near-term ti nancing requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental acti vities in the government-wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may bette r understand the long-term impact of the govcrnment's near-term 
financing deci sions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and governmental fund statement of 
revenues, expendi tures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate th is 
comparison between governmental funds and govern men ta l activities . 
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The City of Cleveland maintains a number of individual governmental funds. Information is 
presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement 
of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund ba lances for the general fund and school timd, 
which are considered to be major fund s. Data from the remaining governmental funds are 
combined into a single aggregated presentat ion. Individual fund data for each of these non-major 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements later in thi s report beginning 
on page 90. 

The City of Cleveland adopts an annua l appropriated budget for its governmental funds. A 
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the major gove rnmental funds including the 
genera l fund and school fund to demonstrate compliance with thi s budget. 

The basic governmental fund financia l statements can be found on pages 19-55 of this report. 

Propl"iet:lI), funds. The City of Cleveland maintains two different types of proprietary funds: 
enterpri se funds and internal service funds. Enterpri se funds are used to report the same functions 
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The C ity of 
Cleveland uses enterprise funds to account for its Cleveland Util ities Electri c and Water operations 
and the Airport operations. Interna l se rvice fund s are an accounting device used to accumulate and 
allocate costs internally among the City of Cleveland 's various functions. The City of Cleveland 
uses an internal service fund to account for servicing its lleet of vehicles . Because this service 
predominantly benefits governmental rather than business-type functions, it has been included 
within governmental activities in the gove rnment-wide financial statements. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, on ly in more detail. The proprietary funds fin ancial statements provide separate 
information for the Cleveland Utilities Elect,.ic and Water operations and the Airport fund , a ll of 
which are considered to be major funds of the City. 

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 56-59 of thi s report. 

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essentia l to a 
fu ll understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund tinancial statements. The 
notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 60-88 of this report. 

Othe.· information. [n add ition to the basic financia l statements and accompany ing notes, thi s 
report also presents certa in required supplementary information concerning the City of Cleveland' s 
progress in funding its ob ligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required 
supplementary information can be fo und on page 89 of thi s report. 

The combining statements referred to ea rli er in connection with the non-major governmental funds, 
as well as the data for the internal service fund , are presented immed iately following the required 
supplementary information on pensions. Combining and individual fund statements and schedu les 
can be found on pages 90-131 of thi s report. 

- 6 -



Govcmmcnt-widc Financial Analysis 

As noted earl ier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial 
position. In the case of the City of Cleveland, assets exceeded liabilities by $25 1,654,855 at the 
close of thi s fiscal year. 

The largest portion of the City of Cleveland 's net pos ition (9 1 percent) refl ec ts its investment in 
capita l assets (e.g. , land , buildings, mac hinery, and equipment), less any debt used to acquire those 
assets that is still outstanding. The City of Cleve land uses these capital assets to provide services to 
its citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of 
Cleveland' s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay thi s debt must be provided from other sources, s ince the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 

Current assets 
Receivables and other noncurrent 
assets 
Deferred Charges 

Capital assets 

Total assets 
Total deferred outflows of 

resources 

Long·term liabilities outstanding 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net position: 

Invested in capital assets, net of 

related debt 

Restricted 

Unrestricted 

Total net position 

City of Cleveland 's Net Position 
Governmental 

Activities 

FY2013 FY201 2 

$58 .322.457 S58.010.596 

0 0 

729,600 748, 187 

140 ,299,894 135,991,067 

199,351,951 194 ,749,580 

5 ,149,662 7,252,080 

87 ,052,064 84,802,686 

30,781 ,932 29,636,482 

117 ,833,996 114 ,439,168 

68,705,499 66,979,125 

4,903,327 6 ,449,583 

13,058,791 14,134,054 

S86,667,617 S87,562,762 

Business~type 

Activities 

FY2013 FY2012 

S24,273,878 534,679,333 

3,340,740 1,512, 140 

506,789 533,446 

220,488,717 201,889,795 

248,610,124 238,6 14,71 4 

0 0 

61 ,598,314 60,553,353 

22,024,572 24,174,839 

83,622,886 84,728,192 

161,333,006 143,097, 174 

0 0 

3,654,232 10,789,348 

$164,987,238 5153,886,522 

Total 

FY2013 FY2012 

S82,596,335 592,689,929 

3,340,740 1,512,140 

1,236,389 1,281,633 

360,788,611 337,880,862 

447,962,075 433,364,564 

5,149,662 7,252,080 

148,650,378 145,356,039 

52,806,504 53,811 ,321 

201,456,882 199,167,360 

230,038,505 210,076,299 

4,903,327 6.449,583 

16,713,023 24,923.402 

$251,654,855 $241.449,284 

Two percent of the City of Cleve land 's net position represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining $ 16,7 13,023 in unrestri cted net position may 
be used to meet the government's ongoi ng ob ligations to its c iti zens and cred itors. 

At June 30, 20 13, the City of Cleveland is ab le to report positive balances in a ll three categories of 
net position, both for the government as a whole, as we ll as for its separate governmental and 
business-type acti vities. 
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Governmental activities. Governmental activ ities dec reased the City of Cleveland's net position 
by $895, 145, detailed as fo llows: 

• 

• 

C ity of Cleveland 's Changes in Net Position 

Governmental Business-type Total 

Activities Activities 

FY2013 FY2012 FY2013 FY2012 FY2013 FY2012 

Revenues: 

Program revenues: 

Charges for services 56,394,007 $7,308,364 51 19,276,712 5117,863,444 $125,670,719 $125,171 ,808 

Operating grants and contributions 42,650,493 42,136,892 45,097 174,663 42,695,590 42,311 ,555 

Capital grants and contributions 1,622,538 2,823,302 9,622,580 4,800,720 11 ,245,118 7,624,022 

General revenues: 

Property taxes 16,598,001 16,497,090 0 0 16,598,001 16,497,090 

Other taxes 20,431 ,482 20,241 ,721 0 0 20,431,482 20,241 ,721 

Grants and contributions not restricted 

to specific programs 566,435 708,181 0 0 566,435 708,181 

Other 36 1,702 332,687 55,945 143,358 417,647 476,045 

Total revenues 88,624,658 90,048,237 129,000,334 122,982,185 217,624,992 213,030,422 

Expenses: 

General government 6,338,456 3,463,066 0 0 6,338,456 3,463,066 

Planning and inspection 1,140,908 1,481 ,745 0 0 1,140,908 1,481,745 

Public safely 18,702,183 18,523,073 0 0 18,702,183 18,523,073 

Public works 9,539,339 10,047 ,079 0 0 9,539,339 10,047,079 

Health and welfare 829,343 725,353 0 0 829,343 725,353 

Culture and recreation 4,734,464 4,638,754 0 0 4,734,464 4,638,754 

Education 46,972,946 46,792,601 0 0 46,972,946 46,792,601 

Interest on long-term debt 2,878,690 2,822,451 0 0 2,878,690 2,822,451 

Water and sewer 0 0 22,183,642 21 ,547, 173 22,183,642 21,547,173 

Electric 0 0 93,526,162 91 ,125,591 93,526,162 91,125,591 

Other enterprise 0 0 573,288 51,203 573,288 51,203 

Total expenses 91,136,329 88,494 ,122 116,283,092 112,723,967 207,419,421 201,218,089 
Increase (decrease) in net posi tion 
before transfers (2,51 1,671 ) '1.554,115 12,717,242 10,258,218 10,205,571 11,812,333 

Transfers 1,616,526 '1,893,518 11 ,616,526) 11,893,518) 0 0 

Increase (decrease) in net position (895,145) 3,447,633 11 ,100,716 8,364,700 10,205,571 11,812,333 

Net position - beginning 87,562,762 8"t,753,802 153,886,522 145,521,822 241,449,284 227,275,624 

Prior period adjustment 0 2,361 ,327 0 0 0 2,361,327 

Net position - ending 586,667,617 587,562,762 S164,987,238 $153,886,522 5251,654,855 S24 1,449,284 

The ci ty's property tax rate was $1.4904 per $ 100 of assessed value in fi seal year 20 13 . 
Property and other tax revenues increased s lightly over FY20 12. 
Operati ng grants and contributions inc reased $5 13,60 I due to a combination o r increases 111 

federa l, state and Bradley County funds received fo r education. 
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• Capital grants and contributions decreased $ \ ,200,764 pri marily due to completion of ARRA 
and Greenway grant proj ects. 

• Cleveland's second largest revenue source is local sa les tax which increased $71, 195. In 
Tennessee, the tirst half of local sa les tax goes to education based upon average daily 
attendance. The second half is generally distributed between cities and counties based upon 
whether the sale occUlTed in the city or the county; however, Cleveland and Bradley County's 
local sales tax (second halt) is distributed accord ing to a local agreement, instead of the state's 
situs-based formu la. 

• The most significant change in expenditures was an increase of $2,875,390 lor the purchase of 
land for the new industrial park. 

50,000,000 
45,000,000 
40,000,000 
35,000,000 
30,000,000 
25,000,000 
20,000,000 
15,000,000 
10,000,000 

5,000,000 

Expenses and Progmm Revenues - Governmental Activities 

II Expenses 

II Revenues 
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Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities 

_ Grants & contributions not restricted _ other taxes 

_ Other _ Charges for services 

_ Operating grants and contributions _ Capita l grants and contributions 

_ Property taxes 

0.6% 

Ilusiness-typc activities. Business-type activities increased the City of C leve land ' s net pos ition by 
$ 11 ,100,716. 

• 

• 

• 

Charges lor services increased $ 1,4 13,268. This increase is attributed to a combination of the 
e lectri c and water operations of C leveland Utilities. 
Capital grants and contributions increased $4,82 1,860. This was primarily lo r im provements to 
I,vate r and sewe r infrastructure and construction of the new jetport termina l buildi ng. 
Ex penses for business-type activities increased $3,559, 125. The most signifi cant changes in 
ex penses wc re e lectric power purchased, water syste m operation, and the ope rating expenses 
and deprec iation of the new jetport. 
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Busincss-type Activities 
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Financial Analysis of the City 's Funds 

As noted earl ier, the City of Cleveland uses timd accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance 
with finance-related legal requirements. 

Govemmental funds. The focu s of the City of Cleveland 's governmental funds is to provide 
information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information 
is useful in assessing the City of Cleveland's financing requirements. The unass igned fund balance 
may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available at the end of the fiscal year 
for tuture unforeseen emergencies. 

As of the end of the current fi scal year, the City of Cleveland's governmental funds reported 
combined ending fund balances of $27,053,793, an increase of $1,395,503. The combined fund 
balance is broken down as follows: 

• $477,715 is non-spendab le consisting of inventories and permanent fund principal 
• $3 ,101 ,853 is restricted for limited use in law enforcement, community development, street 

improvements, recycling, capital outlay and education 
• $728,768 is committed by the City Council fo r use by Solid Waste Management 
• $ 10,357,450 is ass igned Jor designated use for education, the library, debt service and 

capita l out lay 
• $ 12,388,007 is unassigned. 

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City 01' Cleveland. At the end of the current 
fi scal year, unassigned fund balance was $ 12,388,007. Unassigned fund balance represents 46% of 
total fund expenditures. However, the unassigned fund balance only represents 32% when 
compared to total fund expenditures and transfers to other tunds (e.g., debt service and schools) . 

The fund balance of the City of Cleveland 's genera l fund increased $326,402 during the current 
fi scal year. This is attributed to revenues exceed ing budgeted amounts (property taxes and state­
shared revenues) and city departments spending less than the final amended budget. Severa l vacant 
employee positions remained unfill ed due to the slow recovery of the national and local economy. 
The fu nd balance of the School Fund increased $ 168,175. The increase is due to expenditures for 
regular instruction and other student support being less than budgeted. 

The debt service fund has a total fund balance of $2,68 1,465. The net increase in fund balance 
during the current year was $132,958. 

Proprietary funds. The City of Cleveland's proprietary funds provide the same type of 
inFormation fo und in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 

Unrestricted net position at the end of the year amounted to $4,394,024 for the Cleveland Utilities 
Water Division, $4,067,353 for Cleveland Uti lities Electric Division, ($4,807,145) for the 
Cleveland Municipal Airport Fund and $247,986 for the Fleet Management Fund. 
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

General fund revenues were amended during the yea r to increase $9 15,473 with property tax and 
state sales and income tax making up most of the increase. General fund expenditures were 
amended to increase $ 174,41 1 di stributed among several departments. Departmental budget 
officers closely monitored expenditures during the fiscal year in order to minimize budget 
amendments. 

Actual revenues exceeded the I'inal amended budge t by $ 124,733. This was due to increased 
collections for local sales tax and state income tax, as well as increases in charges for services. 

Differences between the final amended budget and actual expenditures were $434,083 . Vacancies 
in various departments and reductions in spending throughout all departments accounted for this. 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

Capital assets. The City of Cleveland 's investment in capital assets tor its governmental and 
business type activities as of .Iune 30, 20 13 amounts to $360,788,6 11 (net of accumulated 
depreciation), which is a $22,907,749 increase over last tl sca l year. Thi s investment in capi tal 
assets includes land, buildings, other improvements, equipment, and infi·astructlll'e. 

Major capital asset events during the current li sca l year included the foll owing: 

• General govenUllent added $2 13, 183 in improvements largely due to additional equipment 
purchased lo r the li brary. 

• Public Safety added $323 ,648 in capital assets with the purchase of vehicles, radios, mobile data 
terminals and in-car video equipment. 

• Public Works added $2,063,034 primarily in road, sidewalk, and drainage infrastructure. 
• Parks and Recreation added $ 1,871,015 in improvements in Waterville Go[f Course, a new 

playground at Tinsley Park, and ex tension of the Greenway. 
• Cleveland Ci ty Schools added $ [,8 [4,451 in capital assets largely due to the purchase of 

property for a new elementary schoo l. 
• Business-type activities added $ 18,589,922 in improvements for water, sewer and electric 

systems and construction on the new airport. 

- 13 -



City of Cleveland's Capital Assets 
(net of depreciation) 

Governmental Bu siness-type Total 

Activities Activities 

FY2013 FY2012 FY201 3 FY2012 FY2013 FY201 2 

Land $ 10,385,070 $ 9,216,970 $ 28,609,250 $ 27,110,574 $ 38,994,320 $ 36,327,544 
Buildings and 

Systems 75,799,745 77,253,251 177,463,305 166,175,844 253,263, 050 243,429,095 

Improvements 
other than 
buildings 4,623,912 3,072,086 9,982,285 0 14,606,197 3,072,086 

Furniture, 
fixtures, 
equipment & 
vehicles 7,512,11 5 7,623,997 857,624 173,607 8,369,739 7,797,604 
Infrastructure 36,262,282 35,643,887 0 0 36,262,282 35,643,887 
Construction in 

Progress 5,716,770 3,180,876 3,576,253 8,429,770 9,293,023 11 ,610,646 

Total $140,299,894 $135,991,067 $220,488,717 $201,889,795 $360,788,611 $337,880,862 

Additional information on the City of Cleveland 's capi tal assets can be found in Note 4 on pages 
68-69 of this report. 

Long-tel'lll debt. At the end of the current fi sca l year, the City of Cleveland had total debt 
outstanding of $130,750,241. Of this amount, $37,145,000 compri ses bonds backed solely by the 
full faith and credit of the city. The city also issues bonds secured by specified revenue sOllJces 
(i.e. , revenue bonds); however, in the event of default, the full fa ith and cred it of the city are 
irrevocably pledged. The city had $55,055,000 in revenue bonds outstanding at the end of the fiscal 
year. The city also finances capital projects through loans from bond proceeds issued by various 
agenc ies in Tennessee, including $33,986,442 for city general projects and $4,903 ,981 for 
Cleveland Utilities. The City also has a ca pital lease on lighting upgrades for the City Schools in 
the amount 0[$653,35 1. 

- 14 -



City o f Cleveland's Outstanding Debt 

(Genera l Obligation Bonds, Revenue Bonds, Loans lllrough Bond Proceeds issued by the Publ ic 
Bui lding Authorities of Sevier and Blount Counties, Tennessee, and other long-term notes) 

Governmental Business-type Total 
activities activities 

FY2013 FY2012 FY2013 FY2012 FY2013 FY2012 
General obligation 
bonds 37,145,000 39,095,000 0 0 37,145,000 39,095,000 
Long-term notes issued 

through various 
agencies in TN 33,986,442 29,428,344 4, 903,981 877,265 38,890,423 30, 305,609 

Capita l leases 653,351 692 ,527 0 0 653,351 692,527 
Revenue bonds 0 0 55,055,000 58 ,875,000 55,055,000 58,875 ,000 
Less bond discount! 

Premiums 192,357 212,384 131,688 143,189 324,045 355,573 
Less Deferred Charges 

for refunding (382,755) (416,313) (934 ,823) (1,049,217) (1,317,578) (1,465,530) 

Total 71 ,594,395 69,011,942 59,155,846 58,846,237 130,750,241 127,858 ,179 

At the request of the ci ty, the Public Bui lding Authorities entered into interest rate swap agreements 
for a ll of the outstanding Local Government Improvement Bonds, Series IV -C-3 and A-2-A, 
During the term of the swap agreements, the city effectively pays a fixed rate on the debt plus or 
minus the difference between the variable in te rest due the bond holders and the variab le rate 
rece ived fro m the counterparty. Add itional deta il s abo ut the city's long-te rm de bt are included in 
Note 6 on pages 70-73 . 

The City of Cleveland maintains an "A+" rating fro m Standard & Poor's and an "A2" rat ing fro m 
Moody' s Investor Service for general obligation debt. The revenue bonds o f C leveland Uti lities 
carry the same ratings. 

State statutes do not li mit the alllount o f genera l ob ligation debt a governmental ent ity may issue ; 
however, the city has adopted a financial po licy which lim its long-term debt to 10 percent of its 
tota l assessed va luation . This ca lculati on does not incl ude revenue bonds issued for improvements 
in the electric and water systems. The ci ty's lega l debt margi n at June 30, 20 13 is $42,970,066, and 
is ca lculated on page 159 of this report. 

- 15 -



Economic Factors and Next Veat·'s Budget and Ra tes 

• The ./une 201 3 unemployment rate for Cleveland was 8.5 percent, which is down fi'om the 10J 
percent a year ago. Bradley County was 7.7 percent, which is down fi'om 9.0 percent ii'om a 
year ago. Tennessee ' s ave rage unemployment rate was 8.8 percent and the national average rate 
was 7.8 percent. 

• The city qualifles as an Entitl ement Community for the CDBO program due to des ignati on as a 
princ ipal city in a Metropolitan Statistica l Area (MSA). 

• Local sa les tax collections increased .9% from thc previous fi sca l yea r. This is a pos itive sign 
that a recovery in the current economy may be occurring. State sales tax col lections have shown 
positive signs as we ll, with a 1.9% increase. 

All o f these factors we re considered in prepari ng the city's budget for the 201 4 ti scal yea r. 
Management has again been conse rvati ve in estimating revenues fo r 2014. No use o r the general 
fund balance is projected fo r the new fl sca l year. 

Requests fat· Information 

This financial report is designed to prov ide a general overview of the Ci ty o f Cleveland ' s flnances 
for all those with an interest in the city's finances. Questi ons concerning any o f' the info rmati on 
provided in thi s report or requests for additiona l financia l informati on may be addressed to the City 
o f Cleveland, Offi ce of the Finance Director, Post Office Box 15 19, Cleve land, Tennessee 37364-
15 19. 

- 16 -
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
STATEMENt OF NET POSmON 

June 30,2013 

Primary Government 
Business-

Governmerital type 
Activities Activities Total 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,466,352 $ 11,234,335 $ 26;700,687 
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 4,951 136 5,087 
Investments 741,813 ·0 741,813 
Investments - restricted 454,985 0 454,985 
Accounts receivable - net 824,207 17,245,600 18,069,807 
Property taxes receivable - net 20,520,377 0 20,520,377 
Sales tax receivable 2,733,032 0 2,733,032 
Due from other government agencies 9,736,748 712,838 10,449,586 
Internal balances 7,618,334 (7,618,334) 0 
Inventories 217,403 2,032,801 2,250,204 
Prepaids 4,255 666,502 670,757 

Total current assets $ 58,322,457 $ 24,273,878 $ 82,596,335 
Noncurrent assets: 
Receivable from customers for conservation loans $ 0 $ 1,449,526 $ 1,449,526 
Deferred charges 729,600 506,789 1,236,389 
Other noncurrent assets 0 1,891,214 1,891,214 
Capital assets: 

Land and construction in progress 16,101,840 32,185,503 48,287,343 
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 124,198,054 188,303,214 312,501,268 

Total noncurrent assets $ 141,029,494 $ 224,336,246 $ 365,365,740 
Total Assets $ 199,351,951 $ 248,610,124 $ 447,962,075 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives $ 5,149,662 $ 0 $ 5,149,662 

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 5,149,662 $ 0 $ 5,149,662 

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities: 
Accrued liabilities $ 3,041,821 $ 3,111,240 $ 6,153,061 
Accounts payable 953,431 11,560,491 12,513,922 
Customer deposits 0 3,152,485 3,152,485 
Unearned revenue 23,460,395 0 23,460,395 
Bonds, notes and capital leases - current 3,192,041 4,200,356 7,392,397 
Compensated absences payable - current 134,244 0 134,244 

Total current liabilities $ 30,781,932 $ 22,024,572 $ 52,806,504 
Long-term liabilities: 
Conservation advances from TVA $ 0 $ 1,488,869 $ 1,488,869 
Derivative - interest rate swap 5,149,662 0 5,149,662 
Bonds, notes and capital leases payable 68,402,354 54,955,491 123,357,845 
Compensated absences payable 1,543,807 0 1,543,807 
Post-employment benefits payable 11,956,241 5,153,954 17,110,195 

Total long-term liabilities $ 87,052,064 $ 61,598,314 $ 148,650,378 
Total Liabilities $ 117,833,996 $ 83,622,886 $ 201,456,882 

NETPOSmON 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ 68,705,499 $ 161,333,006 $ 230,038,505 
Restricted for: 
Law enforcement 72,632 0 72,632 
Community development - federal grants 53,151 0 53,151 
Street improvements 506,244 0 506,244 
Capital outlay 3,682,480 0 3,682,480 
Recycling 4,000 0 4,000 
Education 111,184 0 111,184 
Perpetual care: 
Nonexpendable 473,636 0 473,636 

Unrestricted 13,058,791 3,654,232 16,713,023 
Total Net Position $ 86,667,617 $ 164,987,238 $ 251,654,855 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmanciaI statements. -17 -
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
BALANCE SHEET 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS' 
June 30, 2013 

Other Total 
General School Governmental Governmental 

Fund Fund Funds Funds 
ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,268,347 $ 4,892,186 $ 7,283,482 $ 15,444,015 
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 0 0 4,951 4,951 
Investments 0 0 741,813 741,813 
Investments - restricted 0 0 454,985 454,985 
Accounts receivable - net 587,664 0 212,679 800,343 
Property taxes receivable - net 20,520,377 0 0 20,520,377 
Sales tax receivable 1,987,109 745,923 0 2,733,032 
Due from other government agencies 1,817,654 5,076,286 2,842,808 9,736,748 
Due from other funds 5,958,443 0 1,736,692 7,695,135 
Inventories 4,079 0 0 4,079 
Prepaids 0 0 4,255 4,255 

Total Assets $ . 34,143,673 $ 10,714,395 $ 13,281,665 $ 58,139,733 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities: 
Accrued liabilities $ 381,267 $ 2,267,599 $ 266,965 $ 2,915,831 
Accounts payable 375,534 343,379 222,980 941,893 
Due to other funds 0 0 76,801 76,801 
Matured interest payable 0 0 1,097 1,097 
Matured bonds payable 0 0 1,000 1,000 
Deferred revenue 20,994,786 4,802,311 1,352,221 27,149,318 

Total Liabilities $ 21,751,587 $ 7,413,289 $ 1,921,064 $ 31,085,940 

Fund balances: 
NoIispendable: 

Inventories $ 4,079 $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,079 
Permanent fund principal 0 0 473,636 473,636 

Restricted for: 
Law enforcement 0 0 72,632 72,632 
Community development - federal grants 0 0 53,151 53,151 
Street improvements 0 0 506,244 506,244 

Recycling 0 0 4,000 4,000 

Capital outlay . 0 0 2,354,642 2,354,642 

Education· 0 61,452 49,732 111,184 

Committed to: 
Solid Waste 0 0 728,768 728,768 

Assigried to: 
Education 0 .3,239,654 542,176. 3,781,830 

Library 0 0 320,116 320,116 

Debt service 0 0 2,681,465 2,681,465 

Capital outlay 0 0 3,574,039 3,;;74,039 
Unassigned 12,388,007 0 0 12,388,007 

Total fund balances $ 12,392,086 $ 3,301,106 $ 11,360,601 $ 27,053,793 

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 34,143,673 $ 10,714,395 . $ 13,281,665 $ 58,139,733 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. - 19-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET 

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
June 30,2013 

Total fund balances per governmental funds balance sheet 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Long-term liabilities, including bonds, notes payable, compensated 
absences, post-employment benefits and interest payable are not due 
and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds. 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs 
of fleet management services to individual funds. The assets and 
liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental 
activities in the statement of net assets. 

Some of the City's revenues will be collected after year-end but are 
not available soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures 
and therefore are deferred in the funds. 

Net position of governmental activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. 

$ 27,053,793 

139,173,170 

(84,622,979) 

1,374,710 

3,688,923 

$ 86,667,617 

-20 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE . 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Other Total 
General Sch09l Governmental Governmental 

Revenues: Fund Fund Funds Funds 

Taxes $ 29,091,580 $ 0 $ 4,968,239 $ 34,059,819 
Licenses and permits 432,178 0 0 432,178 

Intergovernmental 4,898,661 33,497,104 10,725,767 49,121,532 

Fines and forfeitures 534,632 0 14~025 548,657 

Charges for services 2,072,566 239,258 3,100,423 5,412,247 

Interest 14,509 6,974 58,131 79,614 

Miscellaneous 238,080 300,265 210,282 748,627 

Total revenues $ 37,282,206 $ 34,043,601 $ 19,076,867 $ 90,402,674 

Expenditures: 

Current: 

General government $ 2,174,653 $ 0 $ 112,223 $ 2,286,876 

Community development 686,792 . 0 240,123 926,915 

Public safety 15,810,689 0 553,772 16,364,461 

Public works 3,726,777 0 4,190,566 7,917,343 

HeaIth and welfare 654,628 0 0 654,628 

Culture and recreation 2,662,952 0 1,201,465 3,864,417 

Education 0 38,334,017 6,339,839 44,673,856 

Appropriations 1,074,137 0 0 1,074,137 

Capital outlay 0 0 12,573,516 12,573,516 

Debt service: 

Principal retirement 0 167,376 2,523,777 .2,691,153 

Interest and fiscal charges 0 18,878 2,837,592 2,856,470 

Total expenditures $ 26,790,628 $ 38,520,271 $ 30,572,873 $ 95,883,772 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over expenditures $ 10,491,578 $ (4,476,670) $ (11,496,006) $ (5,481,098) 

Other financing sources (uses): 

Transfers in $ 2,042,726 $ 5,131,845 $ 7,541,801 $ 14,716,372 

Transfers out (12,207,902) (487,000) (404,944) (13,099,846) 

Notes issued 0 0 5,260,075 5,260,075 

Total other financing 

sources (uses) $ (10,165,176) $ 4,644,845 $ 12,396,932 $ 6,876,601 

Net change in fund balances $ 326,402 $ 168,175 $ 900,926 $ 1,395,503 

Fund balance at beginning of year 12,065,684 3,132,931 10,459,675 25,658,290 

Fund balance at end of year $ 12,392,086 $ 3,301,106 $ 11,~60,601 $ 27,053,793 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 21 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, 

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTMTIES 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Net change in fund balances for to~l governmental funds 

. Governmental funds report capital. outlay as expenditures. However, in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their 
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the 
amount by which capital outlay exceeded depreciation in the current period. 

Governmental funds report only the proceeds from the sale of assets and do not 
take into effect the cost of capital assets sold. 

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial 
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. 

Repayment oflong-term debt is reported as an expenditure in governmental 
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of 
net assets. 

Notes issued are reported as a financial resource in the governmental funds. 
However, this is reported as an increase in long-term li.abilities in the 
statement of net assets. During the current year additional loan proceeds 
were drawn on notes and capital leases payable issued. 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of fleet 
management services to individual funds. The net activity of the internal 
service fund is reported with governmental activities. 

Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of 
current financial resoUrces and therefore are not reported as expenditures 
in governmental funds. These activities consist of: 

Net decrease in accrued interest 
Debt issuance costs 
Amortization of debt issuance cost 
Amortization of deferred charges 
Amortization of bond premiums 
Decrease in compensated absences 
Increase in post-employment benefits 

Total additional expenditures 

Change in net position of governmental activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

$ 9,898 
36,000 

(54,587) 
(33,558) 
20,027 
21,911 

(2,201,009) 

$ 1,395,503 

4,341,770 

(13) 

(1,778,004) 

2,691,153 

(5,260,075) 

(84,161) 

(2,201,318) 

$ (895,145) 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND AClUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

. Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final ActUal (Negative) 
REVENUES: 
Taxes: 

Property taxes - real estate $ 16,300,000 $ 16,500,000 $ 16,284,761 $ (215,239) 
Property taxes - utility 338,000 350,000 344,124 (5,876) 
Interest and penalty on taxes 230,000 225,000 232,828 7,828 
In lieu oftaxes 270,000 256,000 247,399 (8,601) 
Local sales tax 8,300,000 8,300,000 8,454,653 154,653 
Wholesale beer tax 1,420,000 1,490,000 1,514,062 24,062 
Gross receipts tax 1,020,000 1,075,000 1,139,178 64,178 
Franchise taxes - gas 500,000 400,000 435,777 35,777 
Franchise taxes - charter 420,000 423,000. 438,798 15,798 

Total taxes $ 28,798,000 $ 29,019,000 $ 29,091,580 $ 72,580 

Licenses and permits: 
. Beer licenses $ 6,000 $ 5,200 $ 4,175 $ (1,025) 

Beer renewal fee 12,000 12,700 13,117 417 
Liquor license 0 2,000 0 (2,000) 
Liquor renewal license 18,000 22,000 22,440 440 
Building permits 150,000 200,000 185,500 (14,500) 
Electrical permits 7,000 7,300 7,160 (140) 
Electricians fees 0 19,000 17,373 (1,627) 
Electrical licenses 16,000 0 0 0 
Mechanical permits 11,000 14,000 18,425 4,425 
Mechanical licenses 7,000 3,500 6,800 3,300 
Plumbing permits 25,000 38,000 39,152 1,152 
Plumbing licenses 9,000 9,000 10,225 1,225 
Street cut permits 60,000 55,'000 55,585 585 
Land disturbance permit 5,000 6,000 9,415 3,415 
Tree permit 0 0 10 10 
Rezoning fee 0 3,000 4,200 1,200 

Pud rezoning fee 0 650 650 0 
Zoning appeal fee 500 750 2,850 2,100 

Zoning letter fee 500 1,250 1,150 ' (100) 

Minor encroachment fee 0 0 100 100 
Certificate of appropriateness 0 800 950 150 
Recreation permits and maintenance fee 5,000 5,200 6,365 1,165 

Plat review fee 2,000 2,500 2,555 55 

Plans review fee 10,000 15,000 16,906 1,906 
Certificate of occupancy 4,000 6,500 6,050 (450) 
Alley or street abandonment fee 0 150 600 450 

Wrecker permit fees 0 225 425 200 

Total licenses and permits $ 348,000 $ 429,725 $ 432,178 $ 2,453 

Intergovernmental reVenues: 
Federal grant - protective vest $ 0 $ 0 $ 2,926 $ 2,926 

Police training supplement 52,800 49,800 49,800 0 
Fire training supplement 52,200 48,000 48,000 0 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. - 23-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Revenues - (Continued) 
Intergovernmental revenues - (Continued) 

State sales tax $ 2,700,000 $ 2,860,000 $ 2,857,391 $ (2,609) 
State income tax 700,000 900,000 955,854 55,854 
State beer tax 21,000 20,000 20,411 411 
State mixed drink tax 100,000 100,000 120,629 20,629 
State gas inspection tax 80,000 85,000 84,592 (408) 
State highway maintenance tax 194,000 200,000 194,579 (5,421) 

T.V.A. - In lieu of taxes 470,000 472,000 471,568 (432) 
Excise tax 100,000 92,000 92,911 911 

Total intergovernmental revenues $ 4,470,000 $ 4,826,800 $ 4,898,661 $ 71,861 

Fines and forfeitures: 
Traffic tickets $ 550,000 . $ 550,000 $ 357,199 $ (192,801) 
Parking tickets 30,000 30,000 17,405 (12,595) 
Animal Shelter tickets 0 600 500 (100) 
Code enforcement fines 1,500 3,000 2,600 (400) 
Beer fines 0 0 1,000 1,000 
Court clerk fees 2,000 3,200 2,418 (782) 
Drug fines 20,000 14,000 12,796 (1,204) 
Sessions court 25,000 43,000 43,709 709 
Circuit court 20,000 10,000 13,851 3,851 
Officers - sessions court 65,000 72,500 68,332 (4,168) 
Officers - circuit court 2,500 5,500 6,367 867 
State refunds 0 500 355 (145) 
Sex offender registry 4,000 7,500 8,100 600 

Total fines and forfeitures $ 720,000 $ 739,800 $ 534,632 $ (205,168) 

Charges for services: 
Police protection $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ 0 
Fire inspection fees 1,000 1,500 1,350 (150) . 

Police department contracted services 10,000 30,000 51,286 21,286 
Airport maintenance 10,000 15,000 14,152 (848) 
Animal Shelter - boarding fees 8,000 85,000 103,423 18,423 
Animal Shelter - spay/neuter 0 1,775 150 (1,625) 
Bradley County - animal control 324,600 324,600 325,000 400 
Bradley County - fire protection 911,100 911,100 911,100 0 
Bradley County - fire tax 0 0 177,569 177,569 
Tinsley Pool gate 22,000 24,000 20,236 (3,764) 
Tinsley Pool concessions 5,000 6,500 7,728 1,228 
Tinsley Pool rental 4,000 5,000 4,110 (890) 
Tinsley Park tournament 0 4,000 0 (4,000) 
Tinsley Park concessions 22,000 25,000 24,432 (568) 
Tinsley Park rental 1,300 ·2,500 1,750 (750) 
Cleveland Community Center 5,000 6,000 10,705 4,705 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. -24 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE --·BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended Iune 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original. Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues - (Continued): 

. Charges for services - (Continued) 
College Hill recreation $ 10,000 $ 9,000 $ 5,517 $ (3,483) 
College Hill Panther account 0 1,000 968 (32) 
College Hill football fundraising 0 900 1,064 164 
College Hill program fee 7,000 8,500 7,606. (894) 
Park and recreation miscellaneous 2,000 2,500 3,346 846 
SRO - City Schools 200,000 20~,00O 202,996 (4) 
Waterville concessions 25,000 28,000 19,457 (8,543) 
Waterville permits-IrlSr 20,000 15,500 14,453 (1,047) 
Waterville permits-Individual 8,000 4,000 4,758 758 
Waterville permits-Family 5,000 2,000 770 (1,230) 
Waterville tournaments 20,000 7,000 5,808 (1,192) 
Waterville specials 120,000 65,000 59,454 (5,546) 
Waterville cart rental fee 25,000 15,000 12,888 (2,112) 
Waterville cart shed rental 1,000 1,550 1,450 (100) 
Waterville green fee weekday regular 1,000 1,000 455 (545) 
Waterville green fee weekday 9 hole 5,000 3,500 2,556 (944) 
Waterville green fee weekday IrlSr 10,000 8,000 4,610 (3,390) 
Waterville green fee weekend regular 2,000 1,500 799 (701) 
Waterville green fee weekend 9 hole 2,000 2,500 868 (1,632) 
Waterville pro shop 10,000 3,200 2,186 (1,014) 
Waterville miscellaneous 1,000 2,000 1,930 (70) 
Wellness program dues-city 7,000 8,000 8,941 941 
Wellness program dues-schools 3,000 3,000 2,773 .(227) 
Wellness program dues 4,000 4,000 3,922 (78) 

Total charges for services $ 1,862,000 $ 1,891,625 $ 2,072,566 $ 180,941 

Interest $ 10,000 $ 12,700 $ 14,509 $ 1,809 

Miscellaneous revenues: 
T~er court reimbursement $ 0 $ 12 $ 12 $ 0 
Auction sale of equipment 0 8,339 17,410 9,071 
Sale of equipment 0 17,625 4,625 (13,000) 
Sale of scrap metal 0 6,000 4,257 (1,743) 
Donations - Memorial tree fund 0 9,300 10,170 870 
Old timers banquet 2,000 2,500 1,420 (1,080) 
Greenway Public Arts Comm 0 5,000 6,287 1,287 
Sign and decal reimbursement 2,000 3,500 3,262 (238) 
Donations - Cleveland Fire Department 0 1,000 1,000 0 
Donations - Police Memorial 0 7,836 7,836 0 
Police Dept. - miscellaneous donations 0 750 750 0 
TML safety grant - matching 0 2,000 2,000 0 
TML package bonus 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 
Miscellaneous insurance revenue 0 8,000 7,844 (156) 
Reimbursement - Public Works trucks 0 5,161 4,774 (387) 
Animal Shelter donations 0 1,500 2,017 517 
Animal Shelter - pet adoptions 0 10,000 15,073 5,073 
Donations - national night out 0 500 500 0 
TML reimbursement police vehicles 0 11,700 11,613 (87) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese financial statements. - 25-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive· 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Reven~es - (Continued): 
Miscellaneous revenues - (Continued) 

Fire mise/reports $ 0 $ 0 $ . 99 $ 99 
TML reimbursement for property damage 0 3,400 3,389 (11) 
TML work comp salary reimbursement 0 400 447 47 
Employee jury duty reimbursement 0 100 66 (34) 
Sundry income 25,000 10,000 5,693 (4,307) 
Insurance refunds 0 90,000 89,964 (36) 
Sundry income - clerk and master 0 12,000 16,035 4,035 
Temporary collection - business tax 0 0 385 385 
Temporary collection account 0 0 ·36 36 
Miscellaneous seized funds 0 16,100 16,035 (65) 
BTA - booth· rental fee 0 100 81 (19) 

Total miscellaneous revenues $ 34,000 $ 237,823 $ 238,080 $ 257 

Total revenues $ 36,242,000 $ 37,157,473 $ 37,282,206 $ 124,733 

Expenditures: 
Current 

General government: 
Legislative and judicial: 

Salaries - administrative $ 61,400 $ 61,400 $ 61,415 $ (15) 
Salaries - city council 62,400 62,400 62,475 (75) 
Salaries - judicial 34,900 34,900 34,830 70 
Part time wages 1,200 1,200 0 1,200 
Service awards 500 500 0 500 
Longevity 3,800 3,800 3,600 200 
Sold vacations 1,200 1,200 1,180 20 
Christmas bonus 400 750 742 8 
Dental insurance 6,400 6,400 4,276 2,124 
Social security 12,400 12,400 11,222 1,178 
Health insurance 83,500 65,000 61,458 3,542 
Retirement 27,000 27,000 22,187 4,813 
Life and disability insurance 4,900 4,900 1,274 3,626 
Election 15,000 15,000 0 15,000 
Postage 500 500 156 344 
Printing 1,500 1,500 495 1,005 
Subscriptions and memberships 5,200 5,200 665 4,535 
Advertising 3,000 3,000 941 2,059 
Telephone and pager 11,000 11,000 13,922 (2,922) 
Government consulting services 8,000 8,000 6,000 2,000 
Equipment repair and replacement 1,600 1,600 772 828 
Contract maintenance· services 4,000 4,000 3,902 98 
Emergency repairs - city buildings 20,000 10,600 8,490 2,110 
Travel and training 12,000 12,000 5,131 6,869 
Council work sessions 3,000 3,000 2,080 920 
Complimentary meals 1,500 1,500 681 819 
Office expenditures and paper 4,000 4,000 4,272 (272) 
Janitorial 400 400 0 400 
Insurance - general liability 900 1,200 1,154 46 
Insurance - workers compensation 1,100 1,100 (31) 1,131 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. -26 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (C01itinued) 
General government - (Continued) 

Legislative andjudicial- (Continued) 
Rent - parking lots $ 1,800 $ 1,800 $ 0 $ 1,800 

Service pins - all departments 900 900 538 362 

Employee Christmas dinner 2,200 2,200 0 2,200 

Employee picnic 8,000 12,000 12,038 (38) 

Miscellaneous 500 500 28 472 

Office machinery and equipment 700 700 11 689 

Council room equipment and supplies 1,200 1,200 1,200 0 

Total legislative and judicial $ 408,000 $ 384,750 $ 327,104 $ 57,646 

Administration and finance 
Salaries $ 666,000 $ 659,000 $ 660,576 $ (1,576) 
Overtime wages 8,000 10,000 16,681 (6,681) 
Part time wages 29,000 33,000 46,892 (13,892) 
Service awards 100 100 475 (375) 
Longevity 8,900 10,000 9,000 1,000 
Sold vacations . 10,000 10,000 8,482 1,518 
Christmas bonus 1,500 8,000 7,927 73 
College pay 2,000 2,000 1,965 35 
Dental insurance 6,500 6,500 5,499 1,001 
Social security 55,400 55,320 53,732 1,588 
Health insurance 115,000 106,000 95,713 10,287 
Retirement 114,000 115,300 108,532 6,768 
Life and disability insurance 8,200 8,500 7,614 886 
Employee assistalice program 9,600 9,500 8,876 624 
Education reimbursement 0 1,430 2,860 (1,430) 
Worker's compensation claims 0 1,000 2,100 (1,100) 

Flex spending program 12,000 13,000 5,333 7,667 
Laundry and dry cleaning 2,200 2,400 380 2,020 
Postage 20,000 25,500 19,855 5,645 
Postage machine lease 800 700 660 40 
Printing 10,000 10,000 7,887 2,113 

Printing - property taxes 4,800 4,800 4,751 49 
Citizens Newsletter 1,500 1,650 1,621 29 
Subscriptions and memberships 6,000 6,000 6,439 (439) 

Advertising 11,000 10,500 9,024 1,476 

Utilities 32,000 .30,000 28,493 1,597 

Utilities - Sign shop 0 500 144 356 

Telephone 29,000 29,000 33,114 (4,114) 
Contracted services - computer systems 220,000 236,000 245,865 (9,865) 
Drug and alcohol tests 3,500 3,500 1,595 1,905 
Legal fees 105,000 121,000 102,932 18,068 
Audit fees 51,000 49,000 49,000 0 
Reappraisal fee 50,000 74,582 74,582 0 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. - 27-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVE~S, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN fUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 -

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

. Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued) 
Current - (Continued) . 

General government - (Continued) 
Administration and finance - (Continued) 

Appraisal fee $ 1,500 $ 1,500 $ 0 $ 1,500 
Actuarial services 3,000 10,500 2,500 8,000 
Vehicle 500 3,000 566 2,434 
Small equipment repairs 500 750 480 270 
Copier maintenance 3,000 2,200 2,728 (528) 
Building maintenance 12,000 56,918 20,499 36,419 
Maintenance - Little Building 0 900 990 (90) 
Car allowance 12,600 12,600 12,250 350 
Training and travel 9,000 20,000 8,643 11,357 
Departmental work sessions 800 2,000 3,058 (1,058) 
Credit card fees 19,000 20,000 18,985 1,015 
Pest control 1,000 1,000 I,Oq4 (4) 
Office expenditures 32,000 31,000 29,877 1,123 
First aid safety supplies 100 100 33 67 
Janitorial supplies 2,000 2,000 1,904 96 
Gasoline and oil 2,500 2,500 2,874 (374) 
Insurance - buildings and contents 3,700 4,500 4,452 48 
Insurance - vehicles 300 350 321 29 
Insurance - general liability 4,200 5,100 5,070 30 
Insurance - workers compensation 2,700 2,700 2,590 110 
Insurance - professional liability 38,000 55,500 55,390 110 
Insurance - employee bonds 1,500 1,275 605 670 
Contracted services - security 1,500 1,500 1,500 0 
Employee appreciation day . 11,000 11,000 10,397 603 
Miscellaneous 500 500 1,509 (1,009) 
Bad debt 35,000 30,000 17,158 12,842 
Insurance rebate CIGNA 0 19,500 13,288 6,212 
Equipment 1,100 1,100 369 731 

Total administration and finance $ 1,792,000 $ 1,953,775 $ 1,847,549 $ 106,226 

Total general government $ 2,200,000 $ 2,338,525 $ 2,174,653 $ 163,872 

Community development: 
Salaries $ 368,000 $ 368,000 $ 394,177 $ (26,177) 
Overtime wages 1,600 1,600 531 1,069 
Part time wages 8,500 5,500 4,180 1,320 
Service awards 0 200 200 0 
LongeVity 2,800 4,100 4,050 50 
Sold vacations 5,100 5,100 3,001 2,099 
Christmas bonus 800 3,800 3,710 90 
College.pay 700 700 625 75 
Dental insurance 5,100 5,100 4,725 375 
Social security 28,000 29,700 28,388 1,312 
Health insurance 82,800 79,700 73,871 5,829 
Retirement 61,000 67,800 66,863 937 
Life and disability insurance 4,600 4,900 3,836 1,064 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. -28 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 
STATEMENT OF REVE~S, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts . Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 
Community development - (Continued) . 

Education reimbursement $ 4,200 $ 2,700 $ 1,430 $ 1,270 
Worker's compensation claims 200 200 0 200 
Laundry and dry cleaning 1,000 1,000 256 744 
Postage 5,400 2,200 1,703 497 
Scanner/copier lease 0 4,700 4,683 17 
Printing and artwork 1,300 300 291 9 
Subscriptions and memberships 4,500 4,000 3,368 632 
Advertising 1,500 500 433 67 
Utilities 10,500 9,500 9,379 121 
Telephone 13,000 18,900 18,929 (29) 
Vehicle maintenance 6,000 1,500 1,497 3 
Office equipment maintenance 1,500 1,500 1,470 30 
Building maintenance 3,000 4,200 . 4,193 7 
Car allowance 4,200 4,200 4,200 0 
Travel and training 6,500 7,700 7,680 20 
Complimentary meals 1,200 1,200 1,039 161 
Credit card fees 4,000 4,500 3,927 573 
Contracted services - pest control 300 300 172 128 
Camera supplies 0 750 750 0 
Office supplies 6,000 8,300 8,695 (395) 
O.S.H.A. first aid kits 200 200 54 146 
Janitorial supplies 800 600 151 449 
Uniforms 1,400 2,250 2,125 125 
Gasoline and oil 7,900 5,400 5,342 58 
Insurance - buildings and contents 800 1,100 1,079 21 
Insurance - vehicles and equipment 800 1,000 967 33 
Insurance - general liability 1,800 2,200 2,182 18 
Insurance - workers compensation 11,000 7,500 7,461 39 
Insurance - employee bonds 100 100 50 50 
Planning commission 4,000 3,500 2,674 826 
Board of zoning appeals 700 700 515 185 
Historic zoning commission 700 900 8'74 26 
Miscellaneous 500 300 216 84 
Office equipment 0 850 850 0 

Total community development $ 674,000 $ 680,950 $ 686,792 $ (5,842) 

Public safety: 
Police department: 

Salaries $ 4,009,000 $ 3,751,500 $ 3,836,595 $ (85,095) 
Overtime wages 315,000 418,000 447,068 (29,068) 
Part-time wages 14,500 13,500 12,781 719 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. -:29 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expendit)lres - (Continued) 
Current - (Continued). 

Public safety - (Continued) 
Police department - (Continued) 

Accumulated holiday pay $ 1,500 $ 6,000 $ 6,439 $ (439) 
Salaries - school patrol 70,400 81,400 74;192 7,208 
Supplemental pay 2,400 1,900 1,780 120 
State grant - in service training 55,200 50,200 49,200 1,000 
Overtime - contracted services 0 30,000 44,492 (14,492) 
Service awards 2,900 2,675 .2,675 0 
Longevity 50,300 50,800 50,725 75 
Sold vacations 46,000 46,000 42,372 3,628 
Christmas bonus 11,400 50,200 50,132 68 
College pay 6,200 6,200 6,165 35 
Dental insurance 64,300 47,800 47,042 758 
Social security 345,000 335,000 332,837 2,163 
Health insurance 830,000 705,000 702,081 2,919 
Retirement 871,200 874,700 870,563 4,137 
Life and disability insurance 49,700 49,700 48,296 1,404 
Unemployment compensation 4,300 4,300 733 3,567 
Education reimbursement 4,300 4,300 2,860 1,440 
Worker's compensation claims 10,000 10,000 8,889 1,111 
Laundry and dry cleaning 21,000 18,000 14,391 3,609 
Employee physicals 10,000 7,500 5,511 1,989 
Pre-employment tests 11,500 4,500 2,604 1,896 
Uniforms - school patrol 4,200 4,700 4,031 669 
Postage 5,000 2,500 2,129 371 
800 MHZ radio 0 1,000 256 744 
Lease - radio tower. 5,000 5,000 4,900 100 
Contracted services - vehicles 5,600 5,600 5,419 181 
Communications - replacement 8,000 4,000 3,635 365 
Printing 8,000 8,000 2,177 5,823 
Subscriptions and memberships 11,000 7,250 3,694 3,556 
Accreditation 7,000 10,000 8,854 1,146 
Advertising 800 0 0 0 
Flowers and plaques 0 600 568 32 
Utilities 95,600 90,600 88,555 2,045 
Telephone 140,000 145,000 136,352 8,648 
NCIC computer line 8,000 8,000 8,000 0 
Vehicle maintenance· ·330,000 375,000 358,187 16,813 
Small equipment repair 2,000 1,000 694 306 
'Copier maintenance 1,400 1,900 1,734 166 
Building maintenance 23,000 23,000 21,992 1,008 
Travel and training 40,000 40,000 31,370 8,630 
Recruiting 0 8,500 4,348 4,152 
Mutual aid meals 1,500 1,000 1,124 (124) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 30 -. 



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 
STATEMENT OF REVPNUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Contiriued) 

Current - (Continued) 

Public safety - (Continued) 
Police department - (Continued) 

Bradley Co. equipment maintenance $ 0 $ 14,400 $ 14,372 $ 28 
Janitorial contract 30,000 30,000 29,940 60 
Police supplies 5,000 5,500 4,323 1,177 
Batteries 2,000 2,000 1,052 948 
Tapes - video and audio 1,000 1,000 579 421 
Detective supplies 2,000 0 0 0 
Crime scene unit supplies 2,000 2,000 1,587 413 
SRT supplies 7,000 7,500 7,355 145 
Offi<:e expenditures and paper 28,000 28,000 25,985 2,015 

Protective vests - federal grants 0 8,003 7,320 683 

Protective vests 8,000 8,000 0 8,000 
OSHA safety supplies 800 800 525· 275 
Janitorial supplies 2,800 2,800 3,017 (217) 

Uniforms 47,000 43,000 35,661 7,339 . 

Ammunition 35,000 35,000 32,451 2,549 

Crime prevention 1,500 0 0 0 

Firing range 2,500 2,700 2,588 112 

Code Enf educational supplies 3,000 1,000 559 441 

Gasoline and oil 330,000 302,400 279,626 22,774 

. Canine fees 3,000 3,500 3,264 236 

Insurance - buildings and contents 10,200 11,650 11,635 . 15 

Insurance - vehicles and equipment .67,200 75,000 74,473 527 

Insurance - general liability 58,300 59,000 58,923 77 

Insurance - workers compensation 123,000 142,100 137,243 4,857 

Insurance - employee bonds 500 500 400 100 

Computer software support 2,500 2,500 1,500 1,000 

Miscellaneous 500 500 645 (145) 

Honor Guard 500 - 10,500 10,370 130 

V oluiJ.teer services 2,500 3,000 1,930 1,070 
Investigative funds 1,500 1,500 1,49'6 4 

Sex offender registry 0 8,500 2,448 6,052 

, Police memorial 0 1,000 802 198 

Donations - Police Memorial 0 16,800 11,764 5,036. 

Guns/taser replacements 14,000 35,035 24,295 10,740 

Small equipment 500 8,600. 8,371 229 

Office equipment 1,500 0 0 0 

Computer equipment 2,500 2,500 1,337 1,163 

Total police department $ 8,298,000 $ 8,188,113 $ 8,146,278 $ 41,835 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 31 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Budgeted Amounts 

Original Final Actual 

Expenditures - (Continue9) 

Current - (Continued) 
Public safety - (Continued) 

Fire department: 
Salaries $ 4,182,000 $ 3,940,710 $ 4,030,535 
Overtime wages 190,000 230,000 268,924 
Fire runs 10,000 10,000 2,319 
Supplemental pay 68,000 68,000 71,937 
State grant - in service training 52,200 48,000 48,600 
Service awards 2,000 2,000 1,625 
Longevity . 50,000. 50,000 53,777 
Sold vacations 15,000 15,000 13,494 
Christmas bonus 9,800 46,700 46,635 
College pay 300 300 280 
Dental insurance 55,000 . 55,000 53,291 
Social security 335,000 335,000 324,93.1 
Health insurance 966,000 966,000 910,031 
Retirement 910,000 877,780 &99,333 
Life and disability insurance 53,000 53,000 51,708 
Education reimbursement 3,000 7,700 6,934 
Worker's compensation claims 6,500 6,500 1,564 
Laundry and dry cleaning 18,000 18,000 18,056 
Immunization and physicals 40,000 50,100 50,220 
Recruit testing 0 4,200 4,197 
Postage 500 500 805 
800 MHZ radio maintenance fee 0 5,000 183 
Radio maintenance fee 6,000 0 0 
Radio and repeater maintenance 4,200 4,200 3,900 
Conimunications replacement 3,000 1,000 370 
Printing 500 500 326 
SUbscriptions and memberships 3,200 3,700 3,428 
License/certification renewal 2,400 2,400 1,973 
Advertisipg 0 600 556 
Utilities 110,000 110,000 95,897 
Telephone 80,000 88,500 103,112 
Apparatus equipment testing 3,900 3,900 1,965 
Vehicle maintenance 90,000 91,000 93,881 
Small equipment repair 2,800 2,996 2,640 
Copier maintenance 1,900 2,700 2,464 
Extrication repair/test 0 2,800 2,800 
Building maintenance 40,000 45,000 41,930 
Travel and training 21,000 12,500 11,979 
Training/education material 3,500 3,200 767 
Mutual aid meals 2,100 3,400 3,313 
Towels and cloths 800 800 418 
Bat;teries 1,000 1,000 832 
Electronics - camera supplies 600 0 0 
Office supplies 6,500 6,500 6,832 
Arson supplies 1,500 500 113 

The ,accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

(Continued) 

Variance 

Positive 

(Negative) 

$ (89,825) 
(38,924) 

7,681 
(3,937) 

(600) 
375 

(3,777) 
1,506 

65 
20 

1,709 
10,069 
55,969 

(21,553) 
1,292 

766 
4,936 

(56) 
(120) 

3 
(305) 

4,817 
0 

300 
630 
174 
272 
427 

44 
14,103 

(14,612) 
1,935 

(2,881) 
356 
236 

0 
3,070 

521 
2,433 

87 
382 
168 

0 
(332) 
387 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL . 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 
Public safety - (Continued) 
Fire deparbnent - (Continued) 
Safety $ 4,500 $ 4,500 $ 3,411 $ 1,089 
Medical supplies/equipment 9,000 6,200 1,715 4,485 
Janitorial supplies 16,000 16,000 15,049 951 
Bedding 500 500 0 500 
Uniforms 36,000 23,090 12,975 10,115 
Vehicle graphics 500 500 0 500 
Operating costs 6,500 6,500 6,363 137 
Gasoline 74,000 74,000 63,721 10,279 
Appliance repair 3,500 5,500 5,632 (132) 
PPE equipment gear 25,000 15,200 11,471 3,729 
Extinguisher refills 2,000 2,000 576 1,424 
Hazmat supplies 5,000 3,000 2,244 756 
Insurance - building and contents 8,000 8,400 8,306 94 
Insurance - vehicles and equipment 27,000 27,000 26,345 655 
Insurance - generaIliability 33,000 41,000 40,907 93 
Insurance - workers compensation 90,000 105,000 104,884 116 
Miscellaneous 500 600 0 600 

. Public information 500 400 0 400 
City funded - Honor Guard 1,000 .1,000 773 227 
Fire prevention program 3,200 3,200 2,695 505 
ISO firefighting equipment 5,000 8,800 7,552 1,248 
Office equipment 1,000 400 551 (151) 
Breathing apparatus equipment 15,000 15,000 8,196 6,804 
Furniture 2,000 500 400 100 
Computer equipment 0 600 587 13 
Small equipment 1,600 2,100 2,032 68 
Radio equipment 3,500 3,500 2,332 1,168 

Total fire deparbnent $ 7,725,000 $ 7,551,176 $ 7,567,592 $ (16,416) 

Safety program: 
Salaries $ 49,700 $ 52,000 $ 49,711 $ 2,289 
Service Awards 0 250 250 0 
Longevity 1,200 1,200 1,200 0 
Sold vacation 1,000 1,000 955 45 
Christmas bonus 100 550 530 20 
College pay 300 300 280 20 
Dental insurance . 300 300 (289) 589 
Social security 3,900 4,000 3,938 62 
Health insurance 5,500 5,500 4,101 1,399 
Retirement expense 8,500 8,800 8,790 10 
Life/disability expense 600 625 628 (3) 
Clothing allowance 400 350 350 0 
Hazard Comm-MSDS 500 450 453 .(3) 
Telephone expense 800 1,100 1,018 82 
Training and travel 2,500 1,500 1,2.99 201 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 33 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Ori~inal Final Actual (Negative) 
Expendinn:es - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 
Public safety - (Continued) 

Safety program - (Continued) . 
Office supplies $ 300 $ 200 $ 162 $ 38 
Wellness center operations 10,000 8,955 15,142 (6,187) . 
Safety supplies 500 400 383 17 
Gasoline and oil 300 300 180 120 
TML driver safety grant 5,000 5,000 0 5,000 
TML safety grant 2,000 4,000 3,132 868 
Insurance - vehiCles 300 350 321 29 
Insurance - general liability 300 300 283 17 
Worker's comp 200 200 0 200 
Professional liability 300 0 0 0 
Miscellaneous 500 0 188 (188) 
Incentive program 5,000 5,000 3,814 1,186 

Total safety program $ 100,000 $ 102,630 $ 96,819 $ 5,811 

Total public safety $ 16,123,000 $ 15,841,919 $ 15,810,689 $ 31,230 

Public works: 
Operations division: 

Salaries $ 710,000 $ 710,000 $ 708,232 $ 1,768 
Overtime wages 10,000 10,000 9,357 643 
Part time wages 6,700 6,800 6,754 46 
Supplemental pay 700 700 591 109 
Service awards 500 500 4-25 75 
Longevity 12,700 12,700 12,700 0 
Sold vacations 9,200 9,200 7,407 1,793 
Christmas bonus 2,200 10,600 10,599 1 
College pay 200 200 125 75 
Dental insurance 11,400 11,400 9,952 1,448 
Social security 56,800 57,5510 55,007 2,493 
Health insurance 174,500 152,800 153,765 (965) 
Retirement 122,800 126,800 124,614 . 2,186 
Life and disability insurance 9,200 9,200 9,027 173 
Unemployment compensation 500 500 0 500 
Worker's compensation claims 2,000 2,000 2,375 (375) 
Laundry and dry cleaning 600 600 37 563 
Pre-employment drug testing 500 500 64 436 
Safety shoes 2,700 2,700 2,412 288 
Postage 500 500 77 423 
800 MHZ radio expense 3,000 3,000 3,000 0 
GPS services 3,800 6,300 6,208 92 
Printing 200 200 0 200 
Subscriptions and memberships 400 400 i04 196 
Advertising 200 1,600 1,421 179 
Utilities 35,000 31,000 29,443 1,557 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 34-



. CITY OF CLEyELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 
Public works - (Continued) 

Operations division - (Continued) 
Telephone $ 22,000 $ 26,000 $ 25,793 $ 207 
Sur:veys 3,000 1,000 610 390 
Small equipment maintenance - signs 1,700 0 0 0 
Building maintenance 9,000 13,200 12,397 803 
Travel and training 2,000 300 200 100 
Departmental work sessions 0 100 10 90 
Pest control 1,000 1,000 879 121 
Office expenditures and paper 7,000 4,100 3,987 113 
Operating supplies 4,000 4,900 4,881 19 
Safety supplies 1,500 1,900 1,909 (9) 
Janitorial supplies 1,500 1,500 1,311 189 
Uniforms 9,500 9,500 9,298 202 
Gasoline and oil 128,600 138,600 125,666 12,934 
Repairs and parts 240,000 240,000 212,207 27,793 
Sign shop supplies 2,800 2,800 2,458 342 
Sign parts and supplies 40,000 44,700 15,036 29,664 
Major safety markings 80,000 74,900 74,867 33 
Thermoplastic contract 10,000 2,100 2,024 76 
Paving and materials 250,000 247,500 242,069 5,431 
Insurance - building and contents 5,700 5,800 5,714 86 
Insurance - vehicle and equipment 12,500 15,000 14,775 225 
Insurance - general liability 9,300 12,000 11,787 213 
Insurance - workers compensation 26,300 32,000 31,904 96 
Miscellaneous 500 500 424 76 
Incentive program 4,000 4,000 2,905 1,095 
Small equipment 3,000 8,774 7,660 1,114 
Small equipment - signs 1,800 8,800 8,594 206 
Total operations division $ 2,053,000 $ 2,068,674 $ 1,973,161 $ 95,513 

Engineering: 
Salaries $ 210,900 $ 207,500 $ 205,232 $ 2,268 
Overtime wages 500 0 0 0 
Service awards 0 100 , 100 0 
Longevity 1,800 1,800 1,800 0 
Sold vacations 4,000 3,400 2,455 945 
Christmas bonus 500 2,200 2,120 80 
Dental insurance 2,00.0 2,200 2,144 56 
Social security· 16,400 16,700· 15,245 1,455 

Health insurance 34,400 37,600 37,577 23 
Retirement 35,700 36,400 36,020 380 
Life and disability insurance 2,700 3,500 3,215· 285 
Education reimbursement 1,400 0 . 0 0 
Worker's compensation claims 200 200 0 200 
Clothing allowance and shoes 600 600 92 508 
Postage 200 200 37 163 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 35 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 

Budgeted Amounts . Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued). 

Current - (Continued) 
Public works - (Continued) 
Engineering - (Continued) 

Printing $ 100 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Subscriptions and memberships 1,600 1,200 1,129 71 
Advertising 100 200 112 88 
Telephone 8,000 6,100 4,352. 1,748 
Engineering services 20,000 20,000 8,004 11,996 
Parkcad software - plans 0 1,320 1,320 O· 

Survey expense 5,000 2,300 2,200 100 
Vehicle maintenance 5,000 5,000 2,701 2,299 
Office equipment maintenance 1,000 . 1,400· 1,235 165 

. Building maintenance 0 100 33 67 
Travel and training 1,500 2,200 2,127 73 
Complimentary meals 0 100 36 64 
Office expenditll!es 4,000 8,100 9,487 (1,387) 
Operating supplies 200 200 174 26 
Janitorial 600 600 56 544 
Uniforms 1,100 1,100 915 1'85 
Gasoline and oil 4,700 4,700 3,742 958 
Insurance - building and contents 300 1,300 1,223 77 
Insurance - vehicle and equipment 900 1,100 1,061 39 
Insurance - general liability 1,200 0 0 0 
Insurance - workers compensation 6,900 2,900 621 2,279 
Miscellaneous 500 500 45 455 
Computer equipment 0 180 0 180 
Equipment 1,000 3,400 2,639 761 

Total engineering $ 375,000 $ 376,400 $ 349,249 $ 27,151 

Street lighting and signals: 
Street lighting $ 775,000 $ 719,400 $ 715,891 $ 3,509 
Telephone 3,000 3,000 1,884 1,116 
Traffic light utility service 55,000 38,750 32,145 6,605 
Pole attachments 0 9,650 9,629 21 
Interchange lighting 0 53,000 105,238 (52,238) 
Traffic light repair maintenance 300,000 302,000 302,030 (30) 
Small equipment 1,000 8,200 8,135 65 
CU - Greenway Lighting 0 60,000 60,000 0 

Total street lighting and signals . $ 1,134,000 $ . 1,194,00.0 $ 1,234,952 $ (40,952) 

Storm water management: 
Salaries $ 84,000 $ 84,000 $ 82,926 $ 1,074 
Overtime 1,000 1,000 1,752 (752) 
Longevity 900 1,000 950 50 
Sold vacations 1,600 1,600 0 1,600 
·Christmas bonus 300 1,100 1,060 40 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 36-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 

Bud~eted Amounts Positive 

Ori~inal Final Actual (Ne~ative) 

Exp~nditures - (Continued) 
Current - (Continued) 

Public works - (Continued) 
Storm water management - (Continued) 

Dental insurance $ 1,200 $ 1,200 $ 1,008 $ 192 
Social security 6,500 6,800 5,546 1,254 
Health insurance 21,000 21,000 19,352 1,648 
Retirement 14,000 14,700 14,396 304 
Life and disability insurance 1,100 1,100 1,448 (348) 
Education reimbursement 3,000 2,100 0 2,100 
Postage 200 200 93 107 
Printing 200 200 150 50 
Public education programs 6,800 6,800 9,860 (3,060) 
Subscriptions and memberships 1,200 1,200 611 589 
Advertising 200 200 46 154 
Telephone 3,000 3,000 2,812 188 
Travel and training 5,500 5,500 4,682 818 
Work session 2,500 2,500 1,173' 1,327 
NPDES permit fee 3,500 3,500 3,460 40 
Office supplies 1,000 1,000 1,072 (72) 
Operating supplies 1,500 1,500 599 901 
Benthic sampling/labwork 7,000 3,777 0 3,777 
Clothing 1,000 1,000 997 3 
Gasoline 2,900 2,900 2,103 797 
Repairs and parts 2,000 2,000 1,210 790 
Insurance - vehicles 400 600 516 84 
Insurance - general liability 500 600 566 34 
Insurance - worker's compensation 300 0 0 0 
Miscellaneous 100 100 31 69 
Vehicle 0 7,848 7,848 0 
Benjamin Crest lot 38 0 43,500 0 43,500 
Trash receptacles 6,300 6,300 30 6,270 
Computer software 600 600 0 600 
Office furniture and equipment . 1,000 1,000 422 578 

Total storm water management $ 182,300 $ 231,425 $ 166,719 $ 64,706 

FEMA Storm Damage 
Tornado storm damage $ 0 $ 1,200 $ 2,696 $ (1,496) 

Total FEMA storm damage $ . )@ 0 $ 1,200 $ 2,696 $ (1,496) 

Total public works $ 3,744,300 $ 3,871,699 $ 3,726.,777 $ 144,922 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 37-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Budgeted Amounts 
Original Final Actual· 

Expenditures - (Continued) 
Current - (Continued) 

Health and welfare 
Animal Control 

Salaries $ 264,000 $ 253,000 $ 256,352 
Overtime wages 18,000 24,270 25,517 
Part time wages 0 2,000 2,665 
Service awards 600 425 425 
Longevity 4,900 4,850 4,850 
Sold vacations 700 700 ° Christmas bonus 900 4,240 4,240 
Dental insurance 3,300 2,500 1,817 
Social security 21,700 23,200 22,157 
Health insurance 53,800 45,100 42,356 
Retirement 46,200 48,200 46,758 
Life and disability insurance 3,200 3,300 3,238 
Education reimbursement 1,500 ° ° Worker's compensation claims 1,000 1,000 ° Laundry and dry cleaning 4,000 4,750 4,458 
Employee physicals 600 200 150 
Protective immunizations 300 300 56 
Postage 500 300 270 
Contracted services - vehicles 900 1,000 587 
Communications replacement 500 500 ° Printing 2,000 2,000 1,746 
Subscriptions and memberships 800 1,100 995 
Advertising 300 300 ° Utilities and pager 11,500 11,500 9,738 
Telephone 11,000 13,900 12,428 
Donated spay and neuter 0 7,029 12,990 

State grant spay/neuter ° 1,775 50 
Adoption and veterinary fees 22,000 99,000 92,845 
Sick/veterinary ° 18,509 19,766 
Vehicle maintenance 15,000 20,500 20,843 
Copier maintenance 600 595 579 
Grounds improvement 1,000 265 265 
Building maintenance 6,500 6,500 6,993 
Training and travel 1,500 .1,500 . 1,234 
Credit card fees 0 2,500 1,510 
Landfill 3,000 1,500 1,050 
Janitorial contract 6,400 6,400 6,000 
Office supplies and printing 2,500 2,500 2,186 
OSHA safety supplies 500 500 63 
Janitorial supplies 6,000 6,000 5,978 
Unifonns and safety shoes 4,700 3,200 2,215 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

(Continued) 

Variance 
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(Negative) 

$ (3,352) 
(1,247) 
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0 
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1,762 
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1,725 

6,155 

(1,257) 

(343) 

16 

° (493) 
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990 
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22 

985 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Bud~eted Amounts 

Original Finai Actual 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 
Health and welfare - (Continued) 

Animal Control - (Continued 

Ammunition $ 800 $ 50 $ 0 
Gasoline and oil 26,700 23,250 20,610 
Euthanasia and supplies 6,000 3,000 0 
Pet food 6,000 8,000 6,547 
Donations - cages and supplies 0 500 218 
Insurance - building and contents 300 300 297 
Insurance - vehicles and equipment 1,200 1,500 1,432 
Insurance - general liability 1,400 1,700 1,618 
Insurance - workers compensation 6,100 7,003 7,002 
Miscellaneous 500 500 239 
Equipment 1,100 1,300 1,295 

Total Animal Control $ 572,000 $ 674,011 $ 654,628 

Total health and welfare $- 572,000 $ 674,011 $ 654,628 

Culture and recreation: 
College Hill Recreation Center: 

Salaries $ 101,000 $ 101,000 $ 100,190 
Overtime wages 1,000 5,000 4,192 
Part time wages 60,000 60,000 60,874 
Longevity 2,300 2,300 2,300 
Sold vacations 2,000 2,000 1,925 
Chrislmas bonus 400 1,600 1,590 
Dental insurance 1,200 1,200 536 
Social security 12,600 12,600 12,642 
Health insurance 21,600 21,600 19,237 

Retirement 18,000 18,000 18,320 

Life and disability insurance 1,300 1,300 1,275 

Unemployment compensation 500 0 0 
Education reimbursement 400 0 0 
Worker's compensation claims 200 200 0 
Utilities 54,700 48,000 43,768 

Telephone 5,500 5,500 5,898 
Building maintenance 20,700 20,700 17,906 
Team. competition and trips 2,600 2,600 2,556 
Office expenditures and paper 1,600 1,600 1,083 

Janitorial supplies 3,000 3,500 3,099 
Gate concession supplies 3,500 3,500 4,025 

Gasoline 400 400 0 
Pool 4,600 9,000 7,060 
Athletic supplies ?,OOO 5,300 3,710 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. 

(Continued) 

Variance 
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(Negative) 

$ 50 
2,640 
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0 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 

Bud~eted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued) 
Current - (Continued) 
Culture and recreation - (Continued) 

College Hill Recreation Center - (Continued) 
Program development $ 6,000 $ 6,000 $ 5,774 $ 226 
Insurance - building and contents 4,300 4,500 4,460 40 
Insurance - general liability 1,700 2,400 2,306 94 
Insurance - workers compensation 4,600 4,800 4,785 15 
NE - football fundraising . 0 900 660 240 
Cheerleading program expense 0 1,000 450 550 
Program 5,000 5,000 4,878 122 
Miscellaneous 500 1,000 536 464 

BCCSA activities 15,000 16,000 15,924 76 

Team donations 1,500 1,500 1,082 418 

Youth achievement program 5,300 3,000 2,313 687 
Swim team 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 

Small equipment 0 4,000 3,988 12 

Total College Hill Recreation Center $ 368,000 $ 379,000 $ 361,342 $ 17,658 

Parks and recreation: 
Salaries $ 327,000 $ 327,000 $ 344,038 $ (17,038) 
Overtime wages 3,500 3,500 1,755 1,745 
Part time wages 20,000 20,000 15,495 4,505 
Service awards 400 400 350 50 
Longevity 3,800 3,600 3,800 (200) 
Sold vacation 2,600 2,600 1,459 1,141 
Christmas bonus 1,000 4,250 4,769 (519) 
College pay 200 200 125 75 
Dental insurance 4,000 4,000 4,200· (200) 
Social security 28,000 28,000 26,534 1,466 
Health insurance 79,600 79,600 77,933 1,667 
Retirement 56,000 56,000 59,807 (3,807) 
Life and disability insurance 4,300 4,300 3,661 639 
Unemployment compensation 1,500 500 365 135 
Worker's compensation claims 900 900 745 155 
Laundry and dry cleaning 500 500 275 225 
Postage 200 200 122 78 
Membership 600 600 775 (175) 
Advertising 300 300 66 234 
Utilities 8,900 8,900 9,447 (547) 
Telephone 9,000 9,000 10,758 (1,758) 
Vehicle maintenance 45,000 48,000 45,937 2,063 
Equipment and repairs 5,500 5,500 1,889 3,611 
Grounds maintenance 23,000 24,500 22,959 1,541 
Fletcher building 9,000 9,000 11,265 (2,265) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. -40 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 

Bud~eted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 

Culture and recreation - (Continued) 

Parks and recreation - (Continued) 
Car allowance $ 4,200 $ 4,200 $ 4,200 $ 0 
Training and travel 3,000 4,500 4,324 176 
Office expenditures 1,300 1,300 1,546 (246) 
Uniforms 3,500 2,000 1,391 .609 
Gasoline and oil 34,100 37,500 45,777 (8,277) 
Insurance - building and contents 3,400 3,800 3,712 88 
Insurance - vehicles and equipment 4,100 4,800 4,744 56 
Insurance - general liability 3,300 4,500 4,419 81 
Insurance - worker's compensation 9,300 5,400 5,313 87 
Miscellaneous 500 500 103 397 
Old timers banquet 2,500 2,500 1,403 1,097 

Greenway public arts comm 0 5,000 2,180 2,820 

Small equipment 1,000 1,000 398 602 

Total parks and recreation $ 705,000 $ 718,350 $ 728,039 $ (9,689) 

Landscaping maintenance: 
Salaries $ 226,000 $ 226,000 $ 238,932 $ (12,932) 
Overtime wages 900 900 3,170 (2,270) 
Part-time 0 0 2,990 (2,990) 

Service awards 100 175 175 0 

Longevity 3,600 3,700 3,700 0 

Sold vacations 1,900 1,900 526 1,374 

Christmas bonus 800 4,250 4,240 10 

Dental insurance 3,000 3,000 2,356 644 

Social security 17,500 17,500 18,003 (503) 

Health Insurance 53,800 53,800 47,438 6,362 

Retirement 38,000 38,000 38,294 (294) 

Life and disability insurance 3,600 3,600 3,018 582 

Worker's compensation claims 500 500 0 500 

Pre-employment testing 100 100 0 100 

Postag: 100 100 34 66 

Subscriptions and memberships 1,500 1,500 415 1,085 

Advertising . 200 . 200 0 200 

Utilities 3,100 3,100 1,611 1,489 

Telephone 4,600 4,600 4,425 175 

Vehicle maintenance 60,000 60,000 54,758 5,242 

Equipment repairs 1,800 1,800 109 1,691 

Travel and training 2,600 2,600 1,803 797 

Work sessions 0 0 36 (36) 

Other contracted services 300 825 825 0 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 41 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE -.BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 

Btlageted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 

Culture and recreation - (Continued) 
Landscaping maintenance - (Continued) 

Lee University monument $ 0 $ 800 $ 762 $ 38 
Office expenditures 800 500 345 155 
Botanical supplies 9,000 11,000 10,858 142 
Uniforms 3,500 3,500 3,410 90 
Trees 7,500 7,500 5,772 1,728 
Donations - memorial tree fund 0 12,631 1,184 11,447 
Gasoline and oil 29,000 29,000 27,625 1,375 
Insurance - building and contents 2,300 0 0 0 
Insurance - vehicle and equipment 6,400 5,400 5,355 45 
Insurance - general liability 1,500 3,200 3,102 98 
Insurance - workers compensation 9,600 7,600 7,526 74 
Miscellaneous 200 200 343 (143) 
Small equipment 800 1,000 744 256 

Total landscaping maintenance $ 495,000 $ 510,881 $ 493,884 $ 16,997 

Cleveland Community Center: 
Salaries $ 140,000 $ 140,000 $ 138,845 $ 1,155 
Part time wages 40,000 40,000 59,638 (19,638) 
Service awards 200 200 150 50 
Longevity 4,400 4,400 4,300 100 
Sold vacations 1,600 1,650 1,642 8 
Christmas bonus 500 2,150 2,120 30 
Dental insurance 1,400 1,400 529 871 
Social security 13,700 13,700 15,350 (1,650) 
Health insurance 27,500 27,500 19,190 8,310 
Retirement 24,000 24,000 22,902 1,098 
Life and disability insurance 1,700 1,700 1,566 134 
Worker's compensation claims 100 400 1,217 (817) 
Advertising 0 200 137 63 
Utilities 40,000 40,000 41,389 (1,389) 
Telephone 4,000 5,000 5,564 (564) 
Vehicle maintenance 500 500 485 15 
Building maintenance 7,500 8,500 12,441 (3,941) 
Team trips and competition 1,500 1,350 . 1,329 21 
Office expenditures and paper 700. 700 666 34 
Janitorial contract 2,000 3,000 1,806 1,194 
Pool 4,400 7,500 7,803· (303) 
Athletic supplies 1,500 1,000 1,192 (192) 
Ceramic supplies 500 500 0 500 
Insurance - building and contents 3,000' 3,300 3,203 97 
Insurance - general liability 1,600 2,200 2,125 75 

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese'financial statements. -42 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,EXPE~ITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 

Culture and recreation - (Continued) 
Cleveland Community Center - (Continued) 

Insurance - worker's compensation $ 3,700 $ 2,300 $ 2,214 $ 86 
Contracted services - floor maintenance 2,000 2,000 1,731 269 
Contracted services - security 1,200 1,600 1,589 11 
Miscellaneous 500 500 557 (57) 
Swim team 2,000 2,000 338 1,662 
Junior pro basketball 3,000 3,000 4,544 (1,544) 
Cardinal account 3,700 3,700 1,008 2,692 
Small equipment 600 3,600 3,149 451 
HVACunit 0 8,000 8,000 0 

Total Cleveland Community Center $ 339,000 $ 357,550 $ 368,719 $ (11,169) 

Tinsley Park: 
Salaries $ 115,700 $ 115,700 $ 94,753 $ 20,947 
Overtime 2,500 2,500 1,000 1,500 
Social se~urity 9,000 9,000 7,306 1,694 
Unemployment compensation 0 0 301 (301) 
Utilities 35,000 35,000 29,969 5,031 
Telephone 1,000 1,500 2,158 (658) 
Maintenance and repairs 10,000 17,000 22,196 (5,196) 
Lifeguard training 0 1,000 1,191 (191) 
Janitorial supplies 3,000 3,000 5,376 (2,376) 
Tournament 6,000 6,000 5,262 738 
Pool 17,000 16',500 21,994 (5,494) 
Concession supplies 16,500 22,000 20,790 1,210 
Insurance - building and contents 2,500 2,800 2,751 49 
Insurance - general liability 1,000 1,500 1,404 96 
Insurance - worker's compensation 4,800 4,800 2,730 2,070 
Equipment 0 7,500 6,481 ' 1,019 

Total Tinsley Park $ 224,000 $ 245,800 $ 225,662 $ 20,138 

Waterville: 
Salaries $ 180,000 $ 180,000 $ 159,867 $ 20,133 
Overtime 6,000 6,000 9,234 (3,234) 
Part time wages 43,000 43,000 46,371 (3,371) 
Service awards 300 300 200 100 ' 

Longevity 2,700 2,700 2,400 300 
Sold vacations 2,500 2,500 3,182 (682) 
Christmas bonus 700 3,200 2,650 550 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 43-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 

Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Exp~nditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 
Culture and recreation - (Continued) 

Waterville - (Continued) 
I>entalinsurance $ 2,800 $ 2,800 $ 1,807 $ 993 
Social security 17,900 17,900 15,812 2,088 
Health insurance 53,100 53,100 43,057 10,043 
Retirement 33,000 33,000 29,499 3,501 
Life and disability insurance 2,600 2,600 2,585 15 
Worker's compensation claims 100 100 0 100 
SUbscriptions and memberships 1,000 700 215 485 
Advertising and marketing 1,800 1,300 888 412 
Utilities 26,000 26,000 28,753 (2,753) 
Telephone 10,200 10,200 10,115 85 
Vehicle maintenance 1,500 1,500 1,019 481 
Equipment parts and maintenance 19,000 20,500 19,500 1,000 
Sod, seed and course maintenance 8,000 11,000 12,960 (1,960) 
Building maintenance 2,000 7,000 7,290 (290) 
Golf cart maintenance 0 0 754 (754) 
Travel and training 900 100 0 100 
Credit card fees 3,500 3,500 1,670 1,830 
Contracted services - pest control 300 300 196 104 
Office expenditures 700 600 780 (180) 
Janitorial 1,500 1,500 2,110 (610) 
Uniform 2,700 2,500 2,465 35 
Golf course accessories 1,000 1,000 793 207 
Tires, tubes, etc. 900 400 0 400 
Irrigation and drainage supplies 2,000 2,000 973 1,027 
Proshop 9,000 4,000 2,397 1,603 
Concession supplies 17,000 17,000 18,735 (1,735) 
Small supplies 500 0 0 0 
Fertilnrer and chemicals 20,000 19,600 13,159 .6,441 
Insurance - building and contents 1,900 1,900 1,857 43 
Insurance - general liability 2,500 4,200 4,129 71 
Insurance - worker's compensation 8,200 5,800 5,725 75 
Contracted services - security 2,700 2,700 2,576 124 
Miscellaneous 500 500 103 397 
Equipment 28,000 28,000 29,480 (1,480) 

Total Waterville Golf Course $ 518,000 $ 521,000 $ 485,306 $ 35,694 

Total culture and recreation $ 2,649,000 $ 2,732,581 $ 2,662,952 $ 69,629 

Appropriations: 
Jointly funded $ 18,100 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Regional Museum 42,300 42,300 43,000 (700) 
MT AS benchmarking 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 
Municipal League dues 9,200 9,200 9,102 98 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. - 44-



CITY OF CLEVELANp, TENNESSEE 

GENERAL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Current - (Continued) 
Appropriations - (Continued) 

Economic development $ 45,000 $ 45,000 $ 45,000 $ 0 
Southeast Tennessee Development 8,000 8,000 8,257 (257) 
Mainstreet Cleveland 25,000 25,000 25,000 0 
Cemetery Association 10,000· 10,000 10,000 0 
Court's Community Services 53,900 53,900 59,148 (5,248) 
Keep America Beautiful 28,100 28,100 28,100 0 
JuveJ;rile Court match 1,100 1,100 1,100 0 
United Way supporters 1,000 1,000 998 2 
SETHRA - Transit 135,000 135,000 135,000 0 
Communications Center 450,000 450,000 450,00·0 0 
Emergency Management 87,300 84,990 74,715 10,275 
SETDD legal fees 0 1,000 0 1,000 
Veterans Affairs Office 22,100 22,100 22,875 (775) 
Behavioral Research 2,000 2,000 2,000 ° L T recovery permit fees 0 2,000 ° 2,000 
Life Bridges (20%) ° 6,200 6,200 0 
Development Services Agency 6,200 ° ° 0 
Community Services Agency 94,400 94,400 94,306 94 
HV AC @ Bradley/Cleveland Comm SVCS ° 12,000 11,600 400 
Aqua Tigers equipment 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 
Bradley Cleveland football 3,500 3,500 3,500 0 
Youth baseball 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 
Cleveland Youth Softball 4,000 4,000 4,000 0 
Soccer Association 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 
Soccer Association - land 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 
Foothills Country Fair 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 
Vocational School 19,800 22,236 22,236 0 

Total appropriations $ 1,088,000 $ 1,085,026 $ 1,074,137 $ 10,889 

Total expenditures $ 27,050,300 $ 27,224,711 $ 26,790,628 $ 434,083 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures $ 9,191,700 $ 9,932,762 $ 10,491,578 .$ 558,816 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers in $ 1,927,000 $ 2,070,000 $ 2,042,726 $ (27,274) 
Transfers out (11,116,700) (12,030,400) (12,207,902) (177,502) 

Total other financing sources(uses) $ (9,189,700) $ {9,960,400) $ PO,165,176) $ (204,776) 

Net change in fund balances $ 2,000 $ (27,638) $ 326,402 $ 354,040 

Fund balance at beginning of year 10,261,832 12,065,684 12,065,684 ° 
Fund balance at end of year $ 10,263,832 $ 12,038,046 $ 12,392,086 $ 354,040 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. -45 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental: 

Federal government: 
Education of the handicapped $ 40,598 $ 51,759 $ 51,759 $ 0 
Other direct federal revenue 138,990 153,011 160,825 7,814 

Total federal government $ 179,588 $ 204,770 $ 212,584 $ 7,814 

State of Tennessee: 
Basic education program $ 21,099,000 $ 21,294,000 $ 21,263,078 $ (30,922) 
School food service 25,663 27,047 27,047 0 
Driver education 8,000 8,000 8,000 0 
Other state education funds 287,000 328,525 332,810 4,285 
Career ladder program 224,648 224,648 154,098 (70,550) 
Career ladder extended contract 164,793 164,793 63,300 (101,493) 
Other state grants 967,624 1,013,604 1,048,652 35,048 
State mixed drink tax 85,072 95,072 109,827 14,755 
State income tax 30,427 30,427 40,938 10,511 

Total State of Tennessee $ 22,892,227 $ 23,186,116 $ 23,047,750 $ (138,366) 

Bradley County: 
Property taxes - current $ 5,593,817 $ 5,537,095 $ 5,473,321 $ (63,774) 
Property taxes - prior 182,061 182,061 213,605 31,544 
Cir clerk/clerk & master 116,000 116,000 125,921 9,921 
Interest and penalty 31,369 31,369 32,939 1,570 
In lieu of taxes - Local Utilities 1,305 1,305 1,798 493 
In lieu of taxes - Other Utilities 34,595 91,317 106,852 15,535 
Marriage license 2,825 2,825 2,685 (140) 
Bank excise tax 18,201 18,201 17,504 (697) 
Interstate telecommunications tax 2,126 2,126 2,951 825 
Local sales tax 4,273,193 4,273,193 4,259,194 (13,999) 

Total Bradley County $ 10,255,492 $ 10,255,492 $ 10,236,770 $ (18,722) 

Total Intergovernmental $ 33,327,307 $ 33,646,378 $ 33,497,104 $ (149,274) 

Charges for services: 

Tuition $ 101,935 $ 101,935 $ 104,179 $ 2,244 
Community service fees 152,396 152,396 134,191 (18,205) 
Criminal background fee 4,800 4,800 888 (3,912) 

Total charges for services $ 259,131 $ 259,131 $ 239,258 $ (19,873) 

The accompanymg notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. - 46-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Bud~eted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues - (Continued) 

Interest $ 5,000 $ .6,250 $ 6,974 $ 724 

Miscellaneous: 
E rate funding $ 0 $ 49,626 $ 52,639 $ 3,013 
Miscellaneous re:fuD.ds 98,841 98,841 59,735 (39,106) 
Sale of equipment 1,640 21,640 24,396 2,756 
Damages recovered 1,800 1,800 914 (886) 
Contributions 137,172 153,522 153,291 (231) 
Other 30,000 30,000 9,290 (20,710) 

Total miscellaneous $ 269,453 $ 355,429 $ 300,265 $ (55,164) 

Total revenues $ 33,860,891 $ 34,267,188 $ 34,043,601 $ (223,587) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Education: 
Regular instruction: 

Teachers $ 13,395,455 $ 13,434,360 $ 13,400,590 $ 33,770 
Career ladder program 129,000 129,000 88,375 40,625 
Career ladder extended contract 141,211 141,211 46,000 95,211 
Homebound teachers 57,279 53,279 54,414 (1,135) 
Assistants 1,085,648 1,085,648 1,070,610 15,038 
Other salaries and wages 193,439 205,989 202,120· 3,869 
Certified substitute teachers 120,000 130,000 165,097 (35,097) 
Non-certified substitute teachers 92,780 92,780 101,375 (8,595) 
Social security 929,061 894,839 866,922 27,917 
State retirement 1,399,792 1,400,303 1,359,645 40,658 
Life insurance 15,607 15,607 29,253 (13,646) 
Medical insurance 1,856,777 2,014,757 2,006,584 8,173 
Unemployment compensation 18,000· 18,000 13,314 4,686 
Employer medicare liability 217,281 210,463 205,479 4,984 

Other fringe benefits 144,000 144,000 134,647 9,353 

Maintenance and repair 18,650 18,650 6,346 12,304 

Other contracted services 323,520 390,771 431,766 (40,995) 

Instructional supplies 268,465 268,465 366,386 (97,921) 

Textbooks 305,000 290,000 233,592 56,408 

Other supplies and materials 31,000 32,500 27,287 5,213 

Other charges 9,825 9,825 10,065 (240) 

Regular instruction equipment 210,414 210,414 184,555 25,859 

Total regular instruction $ 20,962,204 $ 21,190,861 $ 21,004,422 $ . 186,439 

.Special education: 
Teachers $ 1,585,137 $ 1,580,137 $ 1,583,144 $ (3,007) 

Career ladder program - 19,000 19,000 16,500 2,500 
Homebound teachers 1,000 3,000 4,171 (1,171) 

Assistants 277,618 277,618 294,803 (17,185) 

. Speech pathologist 250,076 250,076 . 255,238 (5,162) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 47-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued): 
Current - (Continued): 
Education - (Continued): 

Special education - (Continued): 
Certified substitute teachers $ 4,000 $ 8,700 $ 13,790 $ (5,090) 
In-service training 0 3,000 4,613 . (1,613) 
Non-certified, substitute teachers 3,000 0 0 0 
Social security 131,238 131,238 123,835 7,403 
State retirement 211,077 206,077 201,910 4,167 
Life insurance 1,956 1;956 1,956 0 
Medical insurance 222,026 233,875 230,361 3,514 
Employer medicare liability 30,692 30,692 29,824 868 
Contracts with private agencies 22,102 22,102 18,387 3,715 
Maintenance and other repair services 1,700 1,700 0 1,700 
Other contracted services 0 0 500 (500) 
Instructional supplies 24,527 24,527 22,148 2,379 
Qther supplies and materials 6,773 6,773 7,478 (705) 
Special education equipment 4,600 4,600 4,032 568 

Total special education $ 2,796,522 $ 2,805,071 $ 2,812,690 $ (7,619) 

Vocational education: 
Teachers. $ 841,503 $ 754,567 $ 756,200 $ (1,633) 
Career ladder extended program 0 O· 700 (700) 
Certified substitute teachers 1,500 3,500 4,708 (1,208) 
Non-certified substitute teachers 1,000 1,500 2,970 (1,470) 
Social security 51,929 45,929 43,888 2,041 
State retirement .74,725 68,725 67,213 1,512 
Life insurance 639 639 639 0 
Medical insurance 106,040 97,040 96,723 317 
Employer medicare liability 12,144 11,144 10,292 852 
Maintenance and repair services 8,500 8,500 19,773 (11,273) 
Tuition 375 375 0 375 
Other contracted services 4,500 4,500 12,193 (7,693) 
Instructional supplies 33,200 33,200 41,153 (7,953) 
Other supplies and materials 2,300 2,300 1,957 343 
Vocational instruction equipment 67,167 67,167 40,204 26,963 

Total vocational education $ 1,205,522 $ 1,099,086 $ 1,098,613 $ 473 

Students: 
Attendance: 
Supervisor $ 40,546 $ 40,546 $ 40,546 $ 0 
Other salaries & wages 38,880 38,880 38,880 0 
Social security 4,924 4,924 4,771 153 
State retirement 10,090 10,090 10,062 28 
Life insurance 120 1,303 1,303 0 
Medical insurance 2,586 3,591 3,590 1 
Employer medicare liability 1,152 1,152 1,116 36 
Other contracted services 9,000 9,000 9,000 0 

Total attendance $ 107,298 $ 109,486 $ 109,268 $ 218 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 48-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Bud~eted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued): 
C~ent - (Continued): 
Education - (Continued): 

Students - (Continued): 
Health services: 
Medical personnel $ 83,655 $ 80,655 $ 71,287 $ 9,368 
Other salaries and wages 82,171 61,334 61,334 0 
Social security 10,282 8,990 7,687 1,303 
State retirement 13,921 10,220 6,365 3,855 
Life insurance 94 94 94 0 
Medical insurance 15,712 16,795 19,840 (3,045) 
Employer medicare liability 2,404 2,102 1,798 304 
Travel 3,407 4,407 4,546 (139) 
Other contracted services 2,525 3,100 316 2,784 
Drugs and medical supplies 2,000 2,000 1,993 7 
Other supplies and materials 7,108 6,700 9,857 (3,157) 
Other charges 9,700 33,582 32,743 839 

Total health services $ 232,979 $ 229,979 $ 217,860 $ 12,119 

Other student support: 

Career ladder program $ 9,000 $ 9,000 $ 7,000 $ 2,000 

Guidanc~ personnel 605,281 605,281 604,249 1,032 

Psychological personnel 81,229 81,229 80,339 890 

Career ladder extended contracts 0 0 70·0 (700) 

Social workers 86,128 86,128 86,786 (658) 

Attendants 76,795 126,795 136,737 (9,942) 

Other salaries and wages 168,280 219,6~6 219,879 (243) 

Social security. 63,359 66,543 67,771 (1,228) 

State retirement 93,787 102,322 97,829 4,493 

Life insurance 867 867 867 0 

Medical insurance 86,627 82,627 77,325 5,302 

Employer medicare liability 14,887 14,887 15,849 (962) 

Evaluation and testing 89,350 89,350 79,699 9,651 

Maintenance and repair services 600 600 0 600 

Other contracted services 237,670 242,670 202,996 39,674 

Other supplies and materials 6,315 6,315 10,132 (3,817) 

Total other student support $ 1,620,175 $ 1,734,250 $ 1,688,158 $ 46,092 

Total students $ 1,960,452 $ 2,073,715 $ 2;015,286 $ 58,429 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 49-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued): 
Current - (~ontinued): 
Education - (Continued): 

Instructional staff: 

Regular instruction program : 

Supervisor $ 352,421 $ 363,887 $ 363,887 $ 0 

Career ladder program 20,500 20,500 10,000 10,500 

Librarians 468,428 468,428 469,759 (1,331) 

Materials supervisor 43,119 43,119 43,119 0 

Secretaries 132,374 132,374 132,374 ° 
Other salaries and wages 152,225 142,225 141,261 964 

Social security 71,639 71,639 67,488 4,151 

State retirement 126,040 126,040 128,672 (2,632) 

Life insurance 1,183 0 0 0 

Medical insurance 138,027 152,750 151,238 1,512 

Employer medicare liability 16,754 16,754 15,783 971 

Dues and subscriptions 4,000 4,000 1,684 2,316 

Travel 36,000 36,000 26,507 9,493 

Other contracted services 8,500 11,938 19,953 (8,015) 

Library books 35,900 35,900 34,069 1,831 
Other supplies and materials 21,650 21,650 14,981 6,669 
In-service staff development 75,400 75,400 76,983 (1,583) 
Other equipment 3,500 3,500 9,721 (6,221) 

Total regular instruction program $ 1,707,660 $ 1,726,104 $ 1,707,479 $ 18,625 

Special education: 
Supervisor $ 87,806 $ 87,806 $ 87,806 $ ° Career ladder program 1,000 1,000 1,000 ° Social security . 5,506 5,506 5,468 38 
State retirement 7,886 7,886 7,886 0 
Life insurance 29 29 29 0 
Medical insurance 4,742 4,742 5,459 (717) 
Employer medicare liability 1,277 1,277 1,279 . (2) 
Consultants 500 500 0 500 
Travel 1,500 1,500 3,990 (2,490) 

Total special education $ 110,246 $ 110,246 $ 112,917 $ (2,671) 

Vocational education: 
Supervisor $ 75,204 $ 75,204 $ 75,204 $ 0 
Career ladder program 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 
Secretaries 25,524 25,524 25,524 0 
Social security 6,432 6,432 6,005 427 
State retirement 11,204 11,204 10,920 284 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 50-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued): 

Current - (Continut:d): 
Education - (Continued): 

Instructional staff - (Continued): 

. Vocational education - (Continued): 
Life insurance $ 72 $. 72 $ 72 $ 0 
Medical insurance 7,785 10,785 10,784 1 
Employer medicare liability 1,504 1,504 1,404 100 
Travel. 2,500 2,500 304 2,196 

Total vocational education $ 133,225 $ 136,225 $ .130,217 $ 6,008 

Total instructional staff $ 1,951,131 $ 1,972,575 $ 1,950,613 $ 21,962 

General administration: 
Board of education: 
Board and committee members fees $ 52,800 .$ 52,800 $ 52,800 $ 0 
Social security 3,274 3,274 3,274 0 
Employer medicare 765 765 765 0 
Other fringe benefits 740 740 0 740 
Audit services 12,750 13,000 13,000 0 
Dues and membership 11,753 11,753 14,953 (3,200) 
Legal services 10,000 10,000 12,133 (2,133) 
Liability insurance 42,543 46,769 46,769 0 
Premiums on corporate surety bonds 10,044 11,070 11,070 0 
Trustee's commission 109,753 109,753 118,687 (8,934) 
Worker's compensation insurance. 142,083 171,786 171;786 0 
Criminal investigation 8,000 8,000 4,992 3,008 
Refund for criminal investigation 2,000 2,000 678 1,322 
Other charges 32,000 32,000 28,486 '3,514 . 

Total board of education $ 438,505 $ 473,710 $ 479,393 $ (5,683) 

Office of superintendent: 
Administrative officer $ 130,754 $ 130,754 $ 130,754 $ O. 

Assistants 90,466 90,466 90,466 0 
Career ladder program 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 
Secretaries 71,822 74,910 72,325 2,585 
Other salaries and wages 7,200 7,200 7,200 0 
Social security 18,490 17,490 16,414 1,076 
State retirement 32,360 30,360 29,799 561 
Life insurance 195 195 195 0 
Medical insurance 34,950 37,243 37,243 0 
Employer medicare liabilitY 4,324 4,324 4,200 124 . 

Other fringe benefits 3,923 3,923 3,923 0 
Communication 120,000 90,000 85,155 4,845 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Ne~ative) 

Expenditures - (Continued): 
Current - (Continued): 
Education - (Continued): 

General administration - (Continued): 
Office of the superintendent - (Continued): 

Dues and memberships $ 2,500 $ 2,624 $ 3,005 $ (381) 
Postal charges 6,500 6,500 5,509 991 
Travel 4,300 4,300 7,681 (3,381) 
Other contracted services 24,600 24,600 21,943 2,657 
Office supplies 17,500 17,500 14,362 3,138 

Other charges 17,900 17,900 16,358 1,542 
Administrative equipment 5,000 5,000 5,479 ~479) 

Total office of superintendent $ 593,784 $ 566,289 $ 553,011 $ 13,278 

Total general administration $ 1,032,289 $ 1,039,999 $ 1,032,404. $ 7,595 

Office of the Principal: 
Principals $ <,70,408 $ 663,408 $ 662,461 $ 947 
Career ladder program 10,000 10,000 7,000 3,000 
Assistant principals 535,807 559,001 559,001 0 
Secretaries 314,399 314,399 314,514 (115) 
Clerical personnel 25,930 25,930 25,930 0 
Social security 95,264 95,264 92,851 2,413 
State retirement 164,801 164,801 163,041 1,760 
Life insurance 1,386 1,386 1,386 0 
Medical insurance 150,988 165,823 165,823 0 
Employer medicare liability 22,280 22,280 21,715 565 
Dues and memberships 2,825 2,825 1,911 914 
Maintenance and repair services 1,925 1,925 0 1,925 
Postal charges 7,435 7,135 5,269 1,866 
Travel 5,100 5,100 907 4,193 
Other contracted services 13,425 13,725 20,850 (7,125) 
Office supplies 11,000 11,000 7,928 3,072 
Other charges 250 250 1,324 (1,074) 
Administrative equipment 11,125 11,125 5,164 5,961 

Total office of the principal $ 2,044,348 $ 2,075,377 $ 2,057,075 $ 18,302 

Business administration: 
Bookkeepers $ 176,508 $ 176,508 $ 173,608 $ 2,900 
Social security 10,945 10,822 9,419 1,403 
State retirement 29,459 27,459 26,870 589 
Life insurance 163 163 163 0 
Medical insurance 19,902 21,099 20,620 479 
Employer medicare liability 2,559 2,559 2,373 186 
Data processing services 11,918 12,844 12,845 (1) 
Travel 1,000 1,000 383 617 

Total business administration $ 252,454 $ 252,454 $ 246,281 $ 6,173 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 52-



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 53 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued): 

Current - (Continued): 
Education - (Continued): 

Transportation - (Continued) 
Social security $ 33,981 $ 33,981 $ 36,197 $ (2,216) 
State retirement 15,666 15,666 15,890 (224) 
Life insurance 94 94 94 0 
Medical insurance 14,837 18,513 18,513 0 
Employer medicare 7,947 7,947 8,467 (520) 
Contracts with parents 1,000 1,000 ° 1,000 
Medical and dental services 3,500 3,500 2,325 1,175 
Travel 1,100 1,100 813 287 
Other contracted services 22,500 22,500 9,385 13,115 
Diesel fuel 181,788 181,788 191,317 (9,529) 
Gasoline 20,000 20,000 19,366 634 
Lubricants 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 
Tires and tubes 9,962 9,962 10,643 (681) 
Vehicle parts 79,440 79,440 106,946 (27,506) 
Other supplies and materials 2,000 2,000 1,258 742 
Vehicle and equipment insurance 45,202 49,812 49,812 ° Other charges 1,550 15,550 1,373 14,177 
Other equipment 0 .20,940 12,620 8,320 

Total transportation $ 990,637 $ 1,035,863 $ 1,074,119 $ (38,256) 

Food service: 
Other salaries and wages $ 57,150 $ 57,150 $ 57,150 $ ° Social security 3,543 3,543 ' 3,472 71 
State retirement 5,075 5,075 5,073 2 
Life insurance 47 47 47 ° Medical insurance 5,172 5,459 5,459 ° Employer medicare liability 829 829 813 16 

Total food service $ 71,816 $ 72,103 $ 72,014 $ 89 

Community services: 
Supervisor $ 55,597 $ 55,597 $ 55,597 $ 0 
Other salaries and wages 162,228 162,228 184,946 (22,718) 
Social security 13,506 13,506 14,531 (1,025) 
State retirement 4,937 4,937 5,612 (675) 
Life insurance 34 34 34 0 
Medical insurance 9,665 10,682 10,692 (10) 
Employer medicare liability 3,158 3,158 3,398 (240) 
Travel 4,141 4,141 1,223 2,918 
Other contracted services 20,000 20,000 20,146 (146) 
Food supplies . 30,000 30,000 9,339 20,661 
Other supplies and materials 23,780 22,763 12,542 10,221 
Refunds 350 350 ° 350 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE· 
SCHOOL FUND (Continued) 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITIJRES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original . Final Actual (Ne~ative) 

Expenditures - (Continued): 
Current - (Continued): 

Education - (Continued): 
Community services - (Continued): 

Other charges $ 2,000 $ 2,000 $ 1,569 $ 431 

Total community services $ 329,396 $ 329,396 $ 319,629 $ 9,767 

Early Childhood Education: 
Contracts with other public agencies $ 967,624 $ 1,013,604 $ 1,048,652 $ (35,048) 

Total early childhood education $ 967,624 $ 1,013,604 $ 1,048,652 $ (35,048) 

Total education $ 38,355,245 $ 38,775,542 $ 38,334,017 $ . 441,525 

Debt Service 
Principal on bonds $ 263,360 $ 263,360 $ 167,376 $ 95,984 
Interest on bonds 167,786 167,786 18,878 148,908 
Other debt service 0 194,700 0 194,700 

Total debt service $ 431,146 $ 625,846 $ 186,254 $ 439,592 

Total expenditures $ 38,786,391 $ 39,401,388 $ 38,520,271 $ 881,117 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ (4,925,500) $ (5,134,200) $ (4,476,670) $ 657,530 

Other Financing Sources (Uses) 
Transfers in $ 5,134,200 $ 5,134,200 $ 5,131,845 $ (2,355) 

Transfers out 0 0 (487,000) '-(487,000) 

Total other financing sources(uses) $ 5,134,200 $ 5,134,200 $ 4,644,845 $ (489,355) 

Net change in fund balances $ 0 $ 0 $ 168,175 $ 168,175 

Fund balance at beginning of year 3,132,931 3,132,931 3,132,931 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 3,132,931 $ 3,132,931 $ 3,301,106 $ 168,175 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

June 30, 2013 

Enterprise Funds 

Cleveland Cleveland Cleveland 

Utilities Utilities Municipal Internal 

Water Electric Airport Service 

Division Division Fund Total Fund 

ASSETS 

Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,354,878 $ 4,810,588 $ 68,869 $ 11,234,335 $ 22,336 

Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 136 0 0 136 0 

Accounts receivable - net 3,001,675 14,215,674 28,251 17,245,600 23,864 

Due from other government agencies 0 0 712,838 712,838 0 

Inventories 310,079 1,669,965 52,757 2,032,801 213,324 

Prepaids 27,688 208,744 430,070 666,502 0 

Total current assets $ 9,694,456 $ 20,904,971 $ 1,292,785 $ 31,892,212 $ 259,524 
Noncurrent assets: 

Receivable - conservation loans $ 0 $ 1,449,526 $ 0 $ 1,449,526 $ 0 

Debt issue cost, being amortized 383,343 115,096 8,350 506,789 0 

Other assets 0 1,797,061 94,153 1,891,214 0 
Capital assets: 
Land and construction in progress 4,040,934 1,054,574 27,089,995 32,185,503 108,291 

Other capital assets, net of 

accumulated depreciation 104,639,845 69,879,082 13,784,287 188,303,214 1,018,433 

Total noncurrent assets $ 109,064,122 $ 74,295,339 $ 40,976,785 $ 224,336,246 $ 1,126,724 

Total assets $ 118,758,578 $ 95,200,310 $ 42,269,570 $ 256,228,458 $ 1,386,248 

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable $ 916,226 $ 10,323,474 $ 320;791 $ 11,560,491 $ 11,538 

Customer deposits 0 3,152,485 0 3,152,485 0 

Due to other funds 0 100,000 5,881,642 5,981,642 0 

Notes payable - current 222,356 0 78,000 300,356 0 

Revenue bonds payable - current 2,960,000 940,000 0 3,900,000 0 

Other current liabilities 1,864,706 1,246,534 0 3,111,240 0 

Total current liabilities $ 5,963,288 $ 15,762,493 $ 6,280,433 $ 28,006,214 $ 11,538 
Noncurrent liabilities: 

Post-employment benefits payable $ 2,902,707 $ 2,251,247 $ 0 $ 5,153,954 $ 0 

Conservation advances from TVA 0 1,488,869 0 1,488,869 0 

Due to other funds 0 1,636,692 ·0 1,636,692 0 

Notes payable 3,247,626 0 1,356,000 4,603,626 0 
Revenue bonds payable 

(net of unamortized discount) 38,531,707 11,820,158 0 50,351,865 0 
Total noncurrent liabilities $ 44,682,040 $ 17,196,966 $ 1,356,000 $ 63,235,006 $ 0 
Total liabilities $ 50,645,328 $ 32,959,459 $ 7,636,433 $ 91,241,220 $ 11,538 _ 

NET POSITION 
Invested in. capital assets, net of 

related debt $ 63,719,226 $ 58,173,498 $ 39,440,282 $ 161,333,006 $ 1,126,724 

Unrestricted 4,394,024 4,067,353 (4,807,145) 3,654,232 247,986 
Total net position $ 68,113,250 $ 62,240,851 $ 34,633,137 $ 164,987,238 $ 1,374,710 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 56-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Ente!Erise Funds 
Cleveland Cleveland Cleveland" 
Utilities Utilities Municipal Internal 
Water Electric Airport Service 

Division Division Fund Total Fund 
Operating Revenues: 

Charges for services $ 21,097,904 $ 94,707,658 $ 123,841 $ 115,929,403 $ 624,283 
Other operating revenues 1,908,928 1,438,381 0 3,347,309 0 

Total operating revenues $ 23,006,832 $ 96,146,039 $ 123,841 $ 119,276,712 $ 624,283 

Operating Expenses: 
Power purchased $ 0 $ 79,304,189 $ 0 $ 79,304,189 $ 0 

Operation expenses 12,488,456 6,823,118 376,827 19,688,401 675,777 

Maintenance expense 2,804,324 3,035,186 0 5,839,510 0 
Depreciation and amortization 5,093,470 3,584,496 186,727 8,864,693 32,931 

Total operating expenses $ 20,386,250 $ 92,746,989 $ 563,554 $ 113,696,793 $ 708,708 

Operating income (loss) $ 2,620,582 $ 3,399,050 $ (439,713) $ 5,579,919 $ (84,425) 

Non Operating Revenues (Expenses): 
Interest income $ 27,966 $ 27,756 $ 223 $ 55,945 $ 263 
Interest expense (1,797,392) (447,343) (9,734) (2,254,469) 0 

Plant cost recovered through 
contributions 0 (331,830) 0 (331,830) 0 

Other income (expense) 0 43,272 1,825 45,097 0 

Total nonoperating revenues 
(expenses) $ (1,769,426) $ (708,145) $ (7,686) $ (2,485,257) $ 263 

Income before contributions 
and transfers $ 85J,156 $ 2,690,905 $ (447,399) $ 3,094,662 $ (84,162) 

Capital contributions 142,492 331,830 9,148,258 9,622,580 0 

Transfers in 0 0 426,200 426,200 0 

Transfers out (205,046) (1,837,680) 0 (2,042,726) 0 

Change in net position $ 788,602 $ 1,185,055 $ 9,127,059 $ 11,100,716 $ (84,162) 

Total net position - beginning 67,324,648 61,055,796 25,506,078 153,886,522 1,458,872 

Total net position - ending $ 68,113,250 $ 62,240,851 $ 34,633,137 $ 164,987,238 $ 1,374,710 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Enterprise Funds 

Cleveland Cleveland Cleveland 

Utilities Utilities Municipal Internal 

Water Electric Airport Service 

Division Division . Fund Total Funds 

Cash flows from operating activities: 

Receipts from customers $ 24,116,386 $ 96,735,942 $ 95,677 $ 120,948,005 $ 625,652 

Payments to suppliers (9,999,523) (82,357,338) (473,806) (92,830,667) (333,801) 

Payments to employees for services (4,398,346) (7,162,252) (24,529) (11,585,127) (344,784) 

Net cash provided by 
(used in) operating activities $ 9,718,517 $ 7,216,352 $ (402,658) $ 16,532,211 $ (52,933) 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities: 

Interfund loan borrowing $ 0 $ 0 $ 1,340,642 $ 1,340,642 $ 0 

Transfers out (205,046) (1,837,680) 0 (2,042,726) 0 

Net cash provided by 
(used in) financing· activities $ (205,046) $ (1,837,680) $ 1,340,642 $ (702,084) $ 0 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities: 

Additions to plants $ (9,824,618) $ (6,035,205) $ (13,059,621) $ (28,919,444) $ 0 

Proceeds received for contributions 

in aid of construction 142,492 331,830 10,306,039 10,780,361 0 

Proceeds from sale of assets 0 398,705 1,825 400,530 0 

Removal cost 0 (590,954) 0 (590,954) 0 

Salvage 77,927 201,177 0 279,104 0 
Transfers in 0 0 426,200 426,200 0 
Proceeds from issuance of debt 2,923,346 0 1,400,000 4,323,346 0 
Payment of principal on long-term debt (3,121,629) (920,000) (75,000) (4,116,629) 0 
Payment of interest on long-term debt (1,681,401) (429,258) (9,202) (2,119,861) 0 
Debt issuance costs (22,500) 0 0 (22,500) 0 

Net cash provided by (used in) capital 

and related fmancing activities $ (11,506,383)" $ (7,043,705) $ (1,009,759) $ (19,559,847) $ 0 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Interest received $ 27,966 $ 71,027 $ 223 $ 99,216 $ 263 

Net cash provided by investing activities $ 27,966 $ 71,027 $ 223 $ 99,216 $ 263 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents $ (1,964,946) $ (1,594,006) $ (71,552) $ (3,630,504) $ (52,670) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,319,960 6,404,594 140,421 14,864,975 75,006 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 6,355,014 $ 4,810,588 $ 68,869 $ 11,234,471 $ 22,336 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued) 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Enterprise Funds 

Cleveland Cleveland Cle,veland 

Utilities Utilities Municipal Internal 

Water Electric Airport Service 

Division Division Fund . Total Funds 

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities: 
Operating income Ooss) $ 2,620,582 $ 3,399,050 $ (439,713) $ 5,579,919 $ (84,425) 
Adjustments to reconcile net operating 

revenues to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 

Depreciation 5,219,317 3,750,529 186,727 9,156,573 32,931 
Changes ip. operating assets and 

liabilities 
Accounts receivable 1,109,554 421,291 (28,164) 1,502,681 1,369 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 0 (4,282) 0 (4,282) 0 
Inventories (46,882) 144,932 (52,757) 45,293 2,510 
Receivable from customers for 

conservation loans 0 (2,956) 0 (2,956) 0 
Prepaids 52,078 (139,704) 0 (87,626) 0 
Other assets 0 (8,719) (97,400) (106,119) 0 
Accounts payable 271,677 (768,796) .6,034 (491,085) (5,318) 
Customer deposits 0 171,567 0 171,567 0 
Other current liabilities 492,191 259,470 22,615 774,276 0 
Conservation loans 0 (6,030) 0 (6,030) 0 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 9,718,517 $ 7,216,352 $ (402,658) $ 16,532,211 $ (52,933) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 59-
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2013 

Note 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The City of Cleveland, Tennessee was incorporated in 1903 under the provisions of Chapter 307 of The 
Acts of 1903. The City operates under the Council-Manager form of government as authorized under 
Chapter 78 of the Private Acts of 1993 and amended by Chapter 165 of the Private Acts of 1994 as it 
relates to the operation of the school system. The City provides the following services as authorized by 
its charter: health, public safety, welfare and general government services. 

The following is a summary of significant policies: 

A. Reporting Entity 

The fmancial statements of the City of Cleveland include those of separately administered 
organizations that have a significapt operational or financial relationship with the City. 

Based on the foregoing criteria, the financial statements of the following organizations are included 
in the accompanying fmancial statements as part of the primary government: 

Cleveland Board of Education 

The Board of Education consists of seven members. Members are elected to four-year terms. 
The Council levies taxes for the Board's operations and issues debt for its capital projects. The 
financial position and results of operations of the Board of Education are reported in the School 
Fund, School Federal Projects Fund, and School Food ServicesFund as governmental fund types, 
and included as part of the primary government due to the fact that it is not considered to be legally 
separate. 

Cleveland Board of Public Utilities 

The Board of Public Utilities consists of five members appointed by the City Council. The City 
Council has authority over the Board, prescribes the rules and regulations to which the Board must 
comply, and must approve their budget and proposed changes in rates. The financial position and 
results of operations of the Board of Public Utilities are presented in the Cleveland Utilities Water 

Division and Cleveland Utilities Electric Division in the enterprise fund section. The activities of 

the Board of Public Utilities are includable as part of the primary government due to the fact that 
it is not considered to be legally separate. 

Cleveland Public Library Board 

The Board of Cleveland Public Library consists of seven members appointed by the City Council and 
the C<;>unty Commission. The Board is fiscally dependent upon the City because the City Council 
approves the Library's budget and issues debt for its capit;:tl projects. The financial position and 
results of operations of the Cleveland Public Library Board are reported in the Library Fund 
as a governmental fund type and includable as part of the primary government due to the fact that 
it is not considered to be legally separate. 
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Note I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Cont.) 

B. Government-wide and Food Financial Statements 

Government-wide Statemeilts- The statement of net position and the statement of activities display 
information about the primary government. These statements include the finanCial activities of the 
overall govermnent. Eliminations have been"made to minimize the double-counting of internal 
activities. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of 
the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental 
revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or 
:iIi. part by fees charged to external parties. ' 

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues 
for the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City's governmental 
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, 
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include (a) fees, fines, 
and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 
program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenue, including all taxes, are presented 
as general revenue. 

Fund Financial Statements - The fund financial statements provide information about the City's funds, 
including its governmental funds and proprietary funds. Separate statements for each fund category 
are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise 
funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are 
aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. 

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange 
transactions associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in 
which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as 
subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

General Fund. This is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of 
the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

School Fund. This fund is used to account fo~ the revenues and expenditures of the City of 
Cleveland public school system. Funding for the school system is provided by federal and state 
grants as well as state and county taxes. 

The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 

Cleveland Utilities Water Division. This fund is used to account for the provision of water and 
wastewater services to the residents of the City. All activities necessary to provide such services are 
accounted for in this fund, including, but not limited to, administration, operations, maintenance, financing, 
billing and collection and some service areas outside the corporate boUndaries. 

Cleveland Utilities Electric Division. This fund is used to account for the provision of electric 
service to the residents of the" City. All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted 
for in this fund, including, but not limited to, administration, operation, maintenance, financing~ billing 
and collection and some service areas outside the corporate boundaries. 

Cleveland Municipal Airport Authority Fund. This fund is used to account for grants and local funds 
used to meet the aviation needs of the community. " 
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Note I - SUM:MARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Cont.) 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements - (Cont.) 

Additionally, the government reports the following fund type: 

Internal Service Fund. This fund is used to account for the maintenance of all vehicles owned by 
the City of Cleveland and various other government agencies. 

As a general rule the effect ofinterfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. Exceptions to this rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes where the amounts ru.:e reasonably 
equivalent in value to the interfund services provided and other charges between the government's 
water, wastewater and electric functions. Eliminations of these charges would distort the direct costs 
and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. -

C. Measurement focus, Basis of Accounting 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues 
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which 
they' are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measure-
ment focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they 
are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the revenues 
are collected within sixty days after year-end. Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise-taxes, gasoline 
taxes, wholesale beer taxes, income taxes, mixed drink taxes, gross receipts taxes and in-lieu of taxes 
are susceptible to accrual. Licenses and pe;rmits, fines and forfeitures, gross receipts taxes and excise 
taxes are recorded as revenue when received in cash because they are generally not measurable until 
actually received. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for 
principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which 
are recorded only when payment is due. General capital asset acquisitions are reported- as expen~tures 
in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are 
reported as other financing sources. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expe~es generally result from providing services and producing and delivering 
goods in connection with the proprietary fund's principal ongoing operation. The principal operating 
revenues of the City's enterprise funds and internal service fund are charges to customers for sales 
and services. Cleveland U~ilities - Water Division also recognizes as operatmg revenue the portion 
of the tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system. Operating 
expenses for enterprise funds and the internal service fund inclllde the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting 
this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. The effect of interfund activity 
has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 

D. Cash and Cash Equiyalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and certificates of deposit with original 
maturities of three months or less, primarily with local financial institutions. 
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Note 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Cont.) 

E. Investments 

Investments are stated at fair value based on quoted market prices, except for non-negotiable 
certificates of deposit that are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Legal provisions 
of the city charter require that all investments be properly insured or collateralized with a federal 
depository. State statutes authorize 'the government to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, 
cOInmercial paper, corporate bonds, repurchase agreements, and pooled investment funds. 

F. Receivables and Payables 

Activity between funds that are representative of lendinglborrowing arrangements outstanding 
at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds" or "advances 
to/from other funds." All other outstanding balances between funds are r~ported as "due tot 
from other funds." ~y residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and 
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal 
balatices. " 

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible. 
The reserve method is used to estimate the allowance for electric and water service receivables. 

The City's property tax is levied each October 1, on the assessed value listed as of the prior 
January 1, for all real and personal property located in the City. City property tax revenues are 
recognized when levied to the extent they result in current receivables. Taxes not collected as 
of March I of the following year are considered delinquent and are subject to lien on April 1 of 
the succeeding year. 

G. Inventories and Prepaid Items 

Inventories are valued at cost, using the first-in, first-out method. The costs of governmental 
governmental fund~type inventories are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than 
when purchased. 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded 
as prepaid items. 

H. Restricted Assets 

Certain proceeds of the Cleveland Utilities - Water Division revenue bonds, as well as certain 
resources set aside for their repayment, are classified as restricted assets on the balance sheet 
because they are maintained in separate bank accounts and their use is limited by applicabl(l 
bond covenants. They are represented mostly by cash and certificates of deposit. When both 
restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use 
restricted resoUrces fIrst, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

1. Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., primary 
roads,. secondary roads, drainage), are reported in the applicable governmental or bUsiness-type 
activities columns in the government-wide fInancial statements. Capital assets are defIned by the 
government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $500 and an estimated useful life 
in excess of two years. Such a,ssets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if 
purchased or constru~ted. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at 
the date of donation. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of 
the asset or materially extend assets' lives are not capitalized. 
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Note I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Cont.) 

I. Capital Assets - (Cont.) 

Property plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 

Asset Class 
Infrastructure - Roads 
Infrastructure - Drainage 
Infrastructure ~ Detention Ponds 
Buildings 
Vehicles 
Equipment 
Other Improvements 

Electric Division 
Class 

Structures, transmission 
and distribution systems 

Equipment 
Transportation equipment 

Years 

33-50 
10-20 

5 

Cleveland Utilities 
Water Division 

Class 
Structures, transmission and 

distribution systems 
Equipment 
Transportation equipment 

Years 
50 
20 
40 

20-50 
5 

5-10 
25 

Years 

25-50 
10-20 

5 

Cleveland Utilities uses a composite straight-line rate expressed as a percentage of average 
depreciable plant. The 2013 rates for the Electric Division and Water Divisions were 3.2% 
and 2.8% respectively. When property subject to depreciation is retired or otherwise disposed 
of in the normal course of business, its costs, together with the cost of removal less salvage, is 
charged to the reserve for depreciation. Replacements of property (exclusive of minor items of 
property) for Cleveland Utilities are charged to utility plant accounts. 

Cleveland Utilities Electric and Water Divisions charge a portion of depreciation on certain 
transportation equipment to other expense classifications based on relative usage. Depreciation 
charged to other accounts was $166,033 and $125,847 for Cleveland Utilities Electric Division and 
Water Division respectively. The following schedule reconciles this allocation of depreciation 
expense: 

Depreciation and amortization per 
statement of revenues, expenses 
and changes in net position: 

Depreciation charged to clearing account 

Depreciation and amortization per 
statement of cash flows 

J. Compensated Absences 

Reconciliation 

$ 8,677,966 

291,880 

$ 8,969,846 

It is the-City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay 
benefits. There is no liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave since the government does not 
have a policy to pay any amounts when employees separate from service with the government. 
All vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund 
financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if 
they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 
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Note 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Cont.) 

K. Long-term obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statem~nts, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of 
net position. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized 
over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or 
discount. 

In the fund. financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, 
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is 
reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuance are reported as other 
financing sources while discounts on debt issuance are reported as other financing uses. Issuance 
costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt 
service expenditures. 

L. Net Position and Fund Equity 

In the government-wide financial statements equity is classified as net position and displayed in three 
components: 

Invested ill capital assets, net of related debt - Consists of capital assets, including restricted capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, 
notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisitio~, construction, or improvement of 
those assets. As of June 30, 2013, outstanding bond proceeds totaled $136. 

Restricted net position - Consists of amounts with constraints placed on the use either by (1) external 
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or (2) 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted net position - All other amounts that do not meet the definition of restricted or invested 
in capital as~ets, net of related debt. 

On the government-wide Statements of Net Position, the restricted equity consist of the following: 

Permanent fund principal for animal shelter 
Permanent principal for library 
Law enforcement': drug fund 
Community development - federal grants 
Street maintenance -' State funding 
Recycling - state grant 
Education - federal grants 
Capital outlay - federal grant 
Capital outlay - donor restriction 
Capital outlay - sales tax referendum 

$ 459,936 
13,700 
72,632 
53,151 

506,244 
4,000 

111,184 
50,395 

261,126 
3,370,959 

$ 4,903,327 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance in classifications that comprise 
a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purposes for which amounts in these funds can be spent. These classifications consist of the 

following: 

Nonspendable Fund Balance - includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are 
.either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained 
intact. 

Restricted Fund Balance - includes amounts that have constraints placed on the use of the 
resources that are either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributor~ or 
laws and regulations of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legisl.ation. 
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Note I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (Cont.) 

L. Net Position and Fund Equity - (Cont.) 

Committed Fund Balance - includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes 

pursuant to constraints imposed by formal ordinances by the City Council, the City's 

highest level of decision-making authority. 

Assigned Fund Balance - includes amounts that are constrained by the City's intent to 
be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed (excluding 

, stabilization arrangements). The City Council is the authorized body to make 

assignments. 

Unassigned Fund Balance - the residual classification of the General Fund. This 

classification represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and 

that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the 

General Fund. 

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes of which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is 
available, the City considers restricted funds to have been spent frrst. When an expenditure is incurred 
for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the City considers amounts to 
have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as 
needed, unless the City Council has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions. 

M. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. 
The City follows the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the 
fmancial statements: 

1. The City holds budget hearings in mid March of each year with all department heads submitting 
requests. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing 
them. Also, a six-year capital budget is presented ,in conjunction with the operating budget. 

2. At a later date, the City Manager makes a formal presentation to the Council for the fmalized 
budget. 

3. Prior to July 1, the budget and property tax rate are due for passage by ordinance. 

4. The City Clerk is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any fund; 
however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the 
City Council. Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the fund level. 

5. Formal legally adopted budgets are employed as a management control device during the year 
for all funds except for Cleveland Utilities - Electric and Water Divisions. Budgeted amounts 
reflected in the accompanying fmal budget and actual comparison are as originally adopted and 
amended by the City Council. 

6. All appropriations which are not expended lapse at year end. 

7. During the year, supplementary appropriations were necessary. The effect of the amendments 
were to increase budgeted revenues by $7,929,954, and increase budgeted expenditures by 
$16,130,728. The Increase in revenues is primarily from federal grants and tax revenue received 
by the City. The increase in budgeted expenditures is a result of the additional funding. 

N. Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated events and transactions that occurred between June 30,2013, and December 
16,2013, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued, for possible recognition or 
disclosure in the fmancial statements. 
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Note 2 - DEPOSITS AND rnvESTMENTS 

At year end, all deposits of the City of Cleveland were covered by federal depository insurance or by, 

collateral held by the State of Tennessee Collateral Pool for Public Deposits. 

At year end, the government's investment balances, other than certificates of deposit, were held in the 

State ofTe~essee Local Government investment P~ol. In accordance with state law, the Pool operates 

in conformity with all of the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission's (SEC) Rule 2a7 as 

promulgated under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Accordingly, the Pool qualifies as 

a 2a7-like pool and is reported at the net asset value per share (which approximates fair value) even though 

it is calculated using the amortized cost method. The Pool is subject to regulatory oversight by the State 

Treasurer, although it is not registered with the SEC. 

Investment~aturities 

Fair Less than One to 

Value One Year Five Years 

Certificates of Deposit $ 819,921 $ 819,921 $ 0 

State Treasurer's investment pool 376,969 376,969 0 

Total investments $ 1,196,890 $ 1,196,890 $ 0 

Interest rate risk - In acc'ordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines in fair 

values by limiting the amount invested in long-term investments and bidding the amount of interest earned on 

checking accounts with area banks. Presently, the City earns one hundred percent of the federal funds rate 

on accounts. During fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, a total of$135,501 was earned in interest income. 

Credit risk - State law limits investments in commercial paper and corporate bonds to the top two ratings issued by 

nationally recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSROs). As of June 30, 2013, the City's investment in the 

State Treasurer's investment pool was rated AAA, by Standard & Poor's and Aaa by ~oody's Investors Service. 

Concentration of credit risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the 

City's investment in a single issuer. The City places no limit on the amount that may be invested with one issuer. 

Custodial credit risk - Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of a failure of the counterparty 

to a transaction, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the 

possession of an outside party. The City does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for investments. 

Note 3 - RECEIVABLES 

Receivables as of year end for the government's individual major funds, nonmajor, and internal 

service funds in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts 

are as follows: 

Allowance 

Inter- for 

govern- Customer Uncollect- Net 

Receivables mental Taxes' Accounts Other ibles Receivables 

General $ 3,300,619 $ 21,483,521 $ 0 $. 587,664 $ (459,000) $ 24,912,804 

S(:hool 5,188,778 745,923 0 0 (112,492) 5,822,209 

Water 0 0 3,001,675 0 0 3,001,675 

Electric 0 0 14,366,225 0 (150,551) 14,215,674 

Airport 712,838 0 28,251 0 0 741,089 

Nonmajor 2,842,808 0 23,864 212,679 0 3,079,351 

Totals $ 12,045,043 $ 22,229,444 $. 17,420,015 $ 800,343 $ (722,043) $ 51,772,802 
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Note 3- RECEIVABLES - (Cont.) 

Cleveland Utilities Electric and Water Divisions recognize revenues based on billings to customers on 

monthly meteHeading cycles and also an accrual for the estimate of unbilled revenue for service 

provided from the date of each meter reading to the end of the month. 

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not 

considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Governmental funds also defer 

revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been received but not yet earned. At the 

end of the current fiscal year, the various components of deferred revenue reported in the governmental . 

funds were as follows: 

Unavailable Unearned Total 

Delinquent property taxes receivable (general fund) . $ 1,595,452 $ 0 $ 1,595,452 

Delinquent property taxes receivable (school fund) 144,568 0 144,568 

Income tax (general fund) 477,927 0 477,927 

State beer tax (general fund) 4,825 0 4,825 

TVA - In-lieu oftai. (general fund) 117,892 0 117,892 

Income tax (school fund) . 20,421 0 20,421 

Sales tax - (sales tax capital projects fund) 1,327,838 0 1,327,838 

2013 Property tax levy (general fund) 0 18,780,620 18,780,620 

2013 County shared revenues (school fund) 0 4,637,322 4,637,322 

Fees collected in advance (school food service) 0 24,383 24,383 

Fees collected in advance (general fund) 0 18,070 18,070 

Total $ 3,688,923 $ 23,460,395 $ 27,149,318 

Note 4- CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows: 

Beginning Ending 

Balance Increases Decreases Balance 

Governmental activities: 

Capital assets not being depreciated: 

Land $ 9,216,970 $ 1,168,100 $ 0 $ 10,385,070 

Construction in progress 3,180,876 4,162,913 ~1,627,019) 5,716,770 

Total capital assets not being depreciated $ 12,,397,846 $ 5,331,013 $ (1,627,019) $ 16,101,840 

Capital assets, being depreciated: 

Buildings $ 103,975,292 $ 678,276 $ 0 $ 104,653,568 

. Improvements other than buildings 7,084,791 1,821,178 0 8,905,969 

Infrastructure 52,612,083 1,826,162 0 54,438,245 

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and vehicles 28,021,884 1,570,408 (775,918) 28,816,374 

Total capital assets being depreciated $ 191,694,050 $ 5,896,024 $ (775,918) $ 196,814,156 

Less accumulated depreciation for 

Buildings (26,722,041) (2,131,782) 0 (28,853,823) 
Improveinents other than buildings (4,012,705) (269,352) 0 (4,282,057) 
Infrastructure (16,968,196) (1,207,767) 0 (18,175,963) 

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and vehicles (20,397,887) (1,682,277) 775,905 . (21,304,259) 

Total accumulated depreciation $ {68,100,849) $ (5,291,178) $ 775,905 $ (72;616,102) 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net $ 123,593,221 $ 604,846 $ (13) $ 124,198,054 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 135,991,067 $ 5,935,859 $ (1,627,032) $ 140,299,894 
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Note 4 ~ 

Note 5-

CAPITAL ASSETS - (Cont.) 
Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases 

Business-type activities: 
Capital assets not being depreciated: 
Land and land rights, easements $ 27,110,574 $ 1,498,676 $ 0 $ 
Construction work-in-progress 8,429,770 135,982 (4,989,499) 

Total capital assets not being depreciated $ . 35,540,344 $ 1,634,658 $ (4,989,499) $ 
Capital assets being depreciated: 
Plant in service $ 294,157,419 $ 20,328,975 $ (1,625,144) $ 
Other improvements 0 10,097,776 ·0 
Equipment . 402,462 705,154 0 

Total capital assets being depreciated . $ 294,559,881 $ 31,131,905 $ {l,625,144) $ 

Less accumulated depreciation for 
Plant in service $ (127,981,575) $ (9,041,514) $ 1,625,144 
Other improvements 0 (115,491) 0 
Equipment (228,855) (21,137) 0 

Total accumulated depreciation $ (128,210,430) $ (9,178,142) $ 1,625,144 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net $ 166,349,451 $ 21,953,763 $ 0 

Business-type activities capital assets $ 201,889,795 $ 23,588,421 $ (4,989,499) 

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows: 

General government $ 80,674 
Community development 41,027 

Public safety 802,403 

Public works 1,331,561 

Health and welfare 13,897 

Culture and recreation 625,149 

Education 2,363,536 

Capital assets held by the government's internal service 
fund are charged to various functions based on usage 32,931 

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 5,291,178 

INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAY ABLES, AND TRANSFERS 

The composition ofinterfund balances as ofJune 30, 2013, is asfollows: 

Due to/from other funds: 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount 

General fund Nonmajor governmental $ 76,801 

Spring Branch Industrial Park Fund Cleveland Utilities - Electric 1,736,692 

General fund Cleveland Municipal Airport 5,881,642 

$ 7,695,135 

Of the total interfund receivable/payable balances, $6,058,443, is expected to be repaid within one year. 
Transfers and payments within the reporting entity are substantially for the purpose of subsidizing 
operating functions, funding capital projects and asset acqUisitions, or maintaining debt se~ce on a 
routine basis. Resources are accumulated in a fund to support and simplify the administration of various 
projects or programs. 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Ending 
Balance 

28,609,250 
3,576,253 

32,185,503·· 

312,861,250 
10,097,776 . 

1,107,616 

324,066,642 

(135,397,945) 
(115,491) 
(249,992) 

~135,763,428) 

188,303,214 

220,488,717 
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Note 5 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS - (Cont.) 

Note 6-

Transfers in: 

Cleveland 

General School Nonmajor Municipal 

Transfers out: Fund Fund Governmental Airport Fund 

General fund $ 0 $ 5,120,000 $ 6,661,702 $ 426,200 $ 

School fund 0 0 487,000 0 

Cleveland Utilities - Electric 1,837,680 0 0 0 

Cleveland Utilities ~ Water 205,046 0 0 0 
Nonmajor Governmental 0 11,845 393,099 0 

$ 2,042,726 $ 5,131,845 $ 7,541,801 $ 426,200 $ 

LONG-TERM DEBT 

Capital Leases 

The City has entered into two lease agreement as lessee for financing improvements to the school system 

to upgrade the lighting systems in its facilities. The lease agreements qualify as capital leases for accounting 

purposes and, therefore, have been recorded at the present value of the future· lease payments as of the 

inception date. Future payments are as follows: 

Fiscal Year 

Ending June 30, 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019-2023 

General Obligation Bonds 

Principal 

$ 151,850 $ 

161,551 

169,259 

46,262 

48,226 

76,203 

Interest 

. 32,174 

22,472 

14,765 

6,688 

4,725 

3,223 

Reguirements 

$ 184,024 

184,023 

184,024 

52,950 

52,951 

79,426 
$ 84,047 $ 737,398 653,351 :::$======= ======= 

The government issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of 

major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have also been issued to refund older issues of general 

obligation bonds. 

General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the government. 

These bonds generally are issued as 20-year serial bonds with increasing amounts of principal maturing 

each year. General obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

Purpose 

Governmental activities 

Governmental activities - refwiding 

Interest Rates 

4.00-5.00% 

2.00-5.00% 

Amount 

$ 5,250,000 

31,895,000 
$ 37,145,000 

Totals 

12,207,902 

487,000 

·1,837,680 

205,046 

404,944 

15,142,572 
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Note 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - (Cont.) 

General Obligation Bonds - (Cont.) 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are·as follows: 

Fiscal Year Total 
Ending June 30, PrinciEal Interest Re9,uirements 

2014 $ 1,660,000 $ 1,486,606 $ 3,146,606 
2015 1,785,000 , 1,433,931 3,2i8,931 
2016 1,865,000 1,370,806 3,235,806 
2017 1,~75,000 1,309,481 3,284,481 
2018 2,075,000 1,241,481 3,316,48i 

2019-2023 11,785,000 4,912,974 16,697,974 

2024-2028 10,965,000 2,449,757 13,414,757 
2029-2033 4,650,000 697,532 5,347,532 

2034-2038 385,000 42,875 427,875 

$ 37,145,000 $ 14,945,443 $ 52,090,443 

Revenue Bonds 

The government also issues bonds where the government pledges iricome derived from the acquired or 

constructed assets to pay debt service. 

The revenue bonds are collateralized as to payment of principal and interest by a pledge of sufficient 

revenues, after deduction of all current operating expenses, to meet principal and interest payments 

when due. In the event of a deficiency of revenues, the full faith, credit and resources of the City of 

Cleveland are irrevocably pledged for the prompt payment of principal ai:td interest when due. Revenue 

bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

Purpose 

Cleveland Utilities - Water Division 

Cleveland Utilities - Electric Division 

Interest Rates 

1.00-5.75% 

1.00-5.75% 

Amount 

$ 42,265,000 

12,790,000 

Debt service requirements to maturity for revenue bonds of Cleveland Utilities for the fiscal year ended 

June 30, 2013, are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Total 

Ending June 30, Principal Interest Requirements 

2014 $ 3,900,000 $ 1,969,190 $ 5,869,190 

2015 3,945,000 1,861,276 5,806,276 

2016 3,965,000 1,754,342 5,719,342 

2017 4,075,000 1,633,687 5,708,687 

2018 4,020,000 1,504,414 5,524,414 

2019-2023 17,510,000 5,590,998 23,100,998 

2024-2028' 12,170,000 2,519,684 14,689,684 

2029-2033 3,685,000 755,204 4,44~,204 

2034-2038 1,785,000 199,281 .1,984,281 

$ 55,055,000 $ 17,788,076 $ 72,843,076 
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Note 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - (Cont.) 

Notes Payable 

Principal requirements to maturity for notes payable accounted for in the governmental activities 

for the fiscal ye~ ended June 30, 2013, are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Total 

Ending June 30, PrinciEal Interest Re9,uirements 

2014 $ 1,380,191 $ 1,502,986 $ 2,883,17'7 

2015 1,371,337 1,456,868 2,828,205 

2016 1,393,906 1,409,350 2,803,256 

2017 1,392,577 1,360,222 2,752,799 

2018 1,414,577 1,310,427 2,725,004 

2019-2023 7,817,886 5,751,717 13,569,603 

2024-2028 12,249,758 3,823,801 16,073,559 

2029-2033 7,807,000 583,872 8,390,872 

$ 34,827,232 $ 17,199,243 $ 52,026,475 

Principal requirements to maturity for notes payable accounted for in the business-type activities 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Total 

Ending June 30, Principal Interest Requirements 

2014 $ 300,356 $ 215,015 $ 515,371 

2015 305,099 203,652 508,751 

2016 308,858 192,114 500,972 

2017 312,633 180,438 493,071 

2018 317,424 168,628 486,052 

2019-2023 1,655,587 630,168 2,285,755 
2024-2028 1,655,053 338,283 1,993,336 

2029-2033 875,626 78,565 954,191 

$ 5,730,636 $ 2,006,863 $ 7,737,499 

Beginning Ending Due Within 

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year 
Governinental activities: 

General obligation bonds $ 39,095,000 $ 0 $ (1,950,000) $ 37,145,000 $ 1,660,000 

Notes payable 29,428,344 5,260,075 (701,977) 33,986,442 1,380,191 

Capital leases 692,527 0 (39,176) 653,351 151,850 

Compensated absences 1,699,962 1,417,010 (1,438,921) 1,678,051 134,244 
Postemployment benefits 9,755,232 3,054,540 (853,531) 11,956,241 0 
Derivative - interest rate swap 7,252,080 ,0 (2,102,418) 5,149,662 0 
Less bond dis.count/premium 212,384 0 (20,027) 192;357 0 
Less deferred charges (416,313) 0 33,558 (382,755) 0 

Total $ 87,719,216 $ 9,731,625 $ (7,072,492) $ 90,378,349 $ .3,326,285 
i 
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Note 6 ~ LONG-TERM DEBT - (Cont.) 

Beginning Ending Due Within 
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year 

Business-type activities: 

Revenue bonds $ 58,875,000 $ 0 $ (3,820,000) $ 55,055,000 $ 3,900,000 
Notes payable 109,000 4,323,346 (262,500) 4,169,846 265,500 
State revolving loan fund 768,265 0 (34,130) 734,135 34,856 
Conservation advances 1,762,424 361,079 (367,109) 1,756,394 267,525 
Postemployment benefits 4,127,429 1,552,493 (525,968) 5,153,954 0 
Less bond discount/premiums 143,189 0 (11,500) 131,689 0 
Less deferred charges (1,049,217) 0 114,394 (934,823) 0 

$ 64,736,090 $ 6,236,918 $ (4,906,813) $ 66,066,195 $ 4,467,881 

Compensated absences, postemployment benefit obligations and pension benefit obligations are generally 

liquidated by the general fund, school fund, school federal projects fund, school food service fund, library 

fund, state street aid fund, and solid waste management fund. 

On April 18, 2012, the Public Building Authority of the City of Clarksville, Tennessee, issued $1,006,000, in 

aggregate principa~ amount of Local Government Public Improvement Bonds, Adjustable Rate Series 2012 

for· the purpose of making a loan to the City of Cleveland, Tennessee. The proceeds of this loan are being 

used to finance the costs of improving infrastructure along Durkee Road. The loan matures May 25, 2027, 

and bears interest at a weekly variable rate. As of June 30, 2013, the City had drawn down $905,135 of the 

$1,006,000 loan proceeds. 

On September 20,2013, the City of Cleveland on behalf of the Water Division of Cleveland Utilities entered 

into a loan agreement with the Public Building Authority of the City of Clarksville, TN for a loan in the amount 

of$3,750,000 for the purpose of making extensions and improvements to the water system. The variable rate 

loan was obtained through the Tennessee Municipal League Bond Fund and is ;:unortized over 20 years. As 

of June 30, 2013, $2,923,345, of the loan proceeds have been drawn down. The remaining balance of $826,655, 

will be in received in fiscal year ending June 30,2014 .. 

On December 13, 2012 the City issued $6,000,000, in variable rate notes that will mature through May 25,2028. 

The City issued these notes in conjunction with the Cleveland Utilities Board, Bradley County, and the local 

Industrial Development Board to purchase an undeveloped tract of land off of APD-40 within the city limits of 

Cleveland, Tennessee. The land will become an industrial park when developed. The City, Bradley County 

and Cleveland Utilities, with the approval of the Tennessee Vall~y Authority, have agreed to fund 1/3 of the 

$6 million acquisition and improvement costs. The City issued the notes and will report the total debt liability. 

Bradley County will make intergovernmental payments to the City to cover 1/3 of the debt service. Cleveland 

Utilities has recorded a due to/due from with the City, and will repay their share of the note as it becomes due. 

The land is titled to the Industrial Development Board. As of June 30, 2013, $5,260,038, of the loan proceeds 

have been drawn down. 

Interest Rate Swap - Notes Payable 

The City is a party to an interest rate swap agreement which is considered a derivative instrument. All derivatives 

must be tested for effectiveness to qualify for hedge accounting. The tests are outlined in GASB 53. Depending 
on the test results, the changes in fair value are either reported on the statement of net position as a deferral, 
or in the statement of activities as investment revenue or loss. 

The City engaged an independent Ilarty t9 perform the valuations and required tests on the swaps. Both of the 
City's swaps qualify for hedge accounting under GASB 53, therefore all cumulative changes in fair value, as of 
June 30, 2013 all swap liabilities, are offset by a corresponding deferred outflow asset on the statement of net position. 
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Note 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - (Cont.) 

Interest Rate Swap - Notes Payable - (Cont.) 

All pay-fixed swap transactions are associated with variable debt. Combining a pay-fixed receive-variable rate 
swap with variable debt results in what is termed "synthetic' fixed rate debt: It is called synthetic because the 
economics are similar to fixed rate debt, but another instrument is involved unlike regular fIxed rate debt. 
Each time the City created synthetic fixed rate debt, a comparison and determination was made that the fixed 
rate on regular debt wol,l.1d have been higher than the fIxed rate on the swap. 

For all swaps, there are two main strategies the City pursues with respect to each transaction. Each swap can 
achieve one or more of these strategies. Then as a result of execution of the derivative, its value will change 
with respect to how prevailing rates on each reporting period compare to when the derivative was put in 
place. The accumulated changes in fair value, or total fair value of all the derivatives are a function of how 
prevailing interest rates and other market factors affect each transaction at ea~h reporting period. Pursuant 
to GASB 53, each swap transaction is then evaluated to determine what type of accounting treatment to apply. 

(i) Mitigate the effect of fluctuations in variable interest rates. The primary function of the swaps is for the City 
to pay a fixed rate, and receive a floating rate. In an interest rate environment whose level is generally higher 
than the rate at which the City is fIxed, the swap would result in a positive value to the City. Correspondingly, 
a lower rate environment than the fixed rate would result in a negative value to the City. The value primarily 
depends on the overall level of interest rates on the reporting date comparedJo what the City pays. The 
overall level of long term interest rates from period to period is the primary driver of changes in value 
recorded from the investment derivatives where the City pays fixed and receives a floating rate. Interest 
rates have trended lower since inception of the pay fIxed swaps, therefore, the mark-to-market value is 
generally more negative to the City. 

(ii) Reduce interest expense from expected benefIt resulting from the difference between tax-exempt and 
taxable rates. This is a function of swaps where the City receives 70% of 3-Month LmOR when hedging tax­
exempt variable debt, with the expectation of receiving an ongoing net benefIt from paying a lower fixed 
rate at the time of putting on the swap transaction. The historical average ratio on-Month LmOR (short­
term taxable rates) versus tax-exempt rates, a direct function of tax rates, is approximately 70%, but the 
ratio oflong-term taxable rates and long-term tax-exempt rates is normally signifIcantly higher than 70%. 
Therefore, the fixed rate payable in exchange for a smaller percentage of LmOR will be signifIcantly less 
than a long-term tax-exempt fixed rate. This reduction in fixed rate is the value of the benefIt, the risk being 
tax rates change over the life of the percentage ofLmOR swap" or the variable rates on the City's hedged 
bonds do not closely match the percentage ofLmOR variable rate on the swap. The value of such a swap 
is determined by the prevailing level of taxable interest rates, with no reference to tax-exempt interest rates. 

The following table provides a summary of the basic terms of the swap agreements as of June 30, 2013. 
Counterparty 

Associated Current Effective Maturity Rate Rate Fair Bank Ratings 
Bonds Notional Date Date Paid Received Value Counterparty Moody's/S&PlFitch 

Series E-9-A $11,175,000 1129/10 6/112030 4.4300% 70% of ($3,219,197) Deutsche Bank 
3-Month AG-New 

York Branch 
Series E-9-A $10,000,000 2/02/10 6/112025 4.4250% 70% of ($1,930,465) Deutsche Bank 

3-Month AG-New 
York Branch 

Under its loan agreement, the Puhlic Building Authority of Blount County, TN (the "Authority"), and the 
Public Building Authority of Sevier County, TN (the "Authority"), at the request of the City, entered'into 
interest rate swap agreements for Series A-'J,-A, and IV-C-3. The Series A-2-A and the Series IV-C-3 
notes have since been refunded with a portion of the proceeds of the E-9-A notes, and the interest, rate 
swaps are now associated with the Series E-9-A notes. 

A2/A+/A+ 

A2/A+/A+ 
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Note 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - (Cont.) 

Interest Rate Swap - Notes Payable - (Cont.) 

In order to protect against the potential of rising interest rates and to balance its mixture of variable and 
fixed rate debt, the City requested the Authorities, on its behalf, to enter into interest rate swaps in connection 
with its $10 million Series IV-C-3, and its $11.175 million Series A-2-A variable rate notes. The intention of the 
swaps was to effectively change the City's variable interest rate on the notes to a s~thetic fIXed rate. 

Under the swaps, the Authorities pays the counterparty a fixed payment of 4.425 percent (IV-C-3), and 
4.430 percent (A-2-A) and receives a payment computed as 70.0 percent of the three-month London Interbank 
Offered Rate (LIBOR). At no time will the notional amount on interest rate swap agreements exceed the 
outstanding principal of the Series E-9-A notes. The notes variable-rates have historically approximated the 
Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association Index (the "SIFMA"). The notes mature and the 
related swap agreements mature on June 1,2025 (Series IV-C-3) and June 1; 2030 (Series A-2-A). As of 
June 30, 2013, rates were as follows: 

. Interest rate swap IV-C-3 A-2-A 
Fixed payment to counterparty 4.425 % 4.430 % 
Variable payment from counterparty (1.010) (1.010) 

Net interest rate swap payment 3.415 % 3.420 % 
Variable-rate note payments 0.070 0.070 
Synthetic interest rate on notes 3.485 % 3.490 % 

As of June 30, 2013, the swaps had a negative fair value of$I,930,465, (IV-C-3) and $3,219,197, (A-2-A). The 
negative fair value of the swaps may be countered by reductions in total interest payments required under 
the variable-rate notes, creating lower synthetic rates. Because the rates on the government's variable-rate 
notes adjust to changing interest rates, the notes do not have a corresponding fair value increase. The fair 
values take into consideration the prevailing interest rate environment and the specific terms and conditions 
of each swap. All fair values were estimated using the zero-coupon discounting method. This method 
calculates the future payments required by the swaps, assuming that the current forward rates implied by the 
yield curve are the market's best estimate offuture spot interest rates. These payments are then discounted 
using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for a hypothetical zero-coupon rate bond due on the 
date of each future net settlement payment on the swaps. 

The City was not exposed to credit risk because the swaps had a negative fair value. However, should 
interest rates change and the fair value of the swaps become positive, the City would be exposed to credit 
risk in the amount of the derivative's fair value. The swaps counterparty was unrated at the time. of the swaps. 

As noted above, the swaps expose the City to basis risk should the rate on the notes increase to above 63.5% 
of LIB OR, thus increasing the synthetic rate on the notes. If a change occurs that results in the rate on the 
notes to be below 63.5% of LIB OR, then the synthetic rate on the notes will decrease. 

The derivative contract uses the. International Swap Dealers Association Master Agreement, which includes 
standard termination events, such as failure to pay and bankruptcy. The Schedule to the Master Agreement 
includes an "additional termination provision". The Authority or the counterparty may terminate the swap if 
the other party fails to perform under the terms of the contract. If the swap is terminated, the variable-rate 
bond would no longer carry a synthetic interest rate. Also, if at the time of termination the swap has a negative 
fair v~lue, the Authority would be liable to the counterparty for a pa)i1D.ent equal to the swap's fair value. 
Likewise, if the swap has a positive fair value at termination, the counterparty would be liable to the Authority 
for a payment equal to the swap's fair value. 
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Note 6-

Note 7-

LONG-TERM DEBT - (Cont.) 

Interest Rate Swap - Notes Payable - (Cont.) 

As of June 30, 2013, debt service requirements of the variable-rate debt and net swap payments, assuming 
current interest rates remain the same, for their term were as follows. As rates vary, variable-rate bond 
interest payments and net swap payments will vary. . 

Fiscal Year Series IV -C-3 Net 
Ending Interest Rate 
June 30, PrinCipal Interest Swap Payment Total 

2014 $ 505,000 $ 6,839 $ 333,680 $ 845,519 
2015 530,000 6,486 316,432 852,918 
2016 575,000 . 6,115. 298,331 879,446 
2017 575,000 5,712 278,693 859,405 
2018 575,000 5,310 259,054 839,364 

2019-2023 3,270,000 20,188 984,987 4,275,175 
2024-2025 3,740,000 4,631 225,925 3,970,556 

$ 9,770,000 $ 55,281 $ 2,697,102 $ 12,522,383 

Fiscal Year Series A-2-A Net 
Ending Interest Rate 
June 30, Principal Interest Swap Payment Total 

2014 $ 0 $ 7,823 $ 382,224 $ 390,047 
2015 0 7,823 382,224 390,047 
2016 0 7,823 382,224 390,047 
2017 0 7,823 382,224 390,047 
2018 0 7,823 382,224 390,047 

2019-2023 0 39,113 1,91.1,121 1,950,234 
2024-2028 3,810,000 38,808 1,896,242 5,745,050 
2029-2030 7,365,000 7,809 381,540 7,754,349 

$ 11,175,000 $ 124,845 $ 6,100,023 $ 17,399,868 

RESTRICTED ASSETS 

Cleveland Utilities' restricted assets are represented by cash, certificates of deposit, and unexpended 

bond proceeds and are presented as required under the terms of bond indentures and resolutions. 

Note 8 - JOINT VENTURES 

The City of Cleveland together with Bradley County and the City of Charleston, have created the 
.~ . 

Cleveland Bradley Communications Center (CBCC) to .combine Emergency 911 services that were 

operated separately by each government. The CBCC board consists of ten ex-officio members including: 

the County Mayor, the City of Cleveland Mayor, the City of Charleston Police Chief, the County Sheriff, 

the Cleveland Police Chief, the ~leveland Fire Chief, the Director of Emergency Medical Services, the 

Director of the Emergency Management Agency, Cleveland City Manager and Bradley County Fire 

Chief, along with three persons appointed by the County Mayor with the approval of thj;l County 

Commission and the City of Cleveland Council. The City has constructed abuilding and purchased 

equipment for the CBCC at a total cost of$I,311,046. The City is financing this endeavor through loans from 

bond proceeds issued by the Public Building Authority of Sevier County, Tennessee. The City is receiving· 

impact payments from the. CBCC equal to the debt service requirements. Separate financial statements ate 

issued for the CBCC and may be obtained by writing to the CBCC, Guthrie Drive, Cleveland, Tennessee 37312. 
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Note 9 - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-wide 
statement of net assets: 

The governmental fund balance includes a reconciliation between fund balance - total governmental funds 
and net position - governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position. One 
element of that reconciliation explains that "long-term liabilities, including bonds, notes payable, compensated 
absences and interest payable are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported 
in the funds." The details of this $84,622,979, are as.follows: . . 

Bonds payable $ 37,145,000 
Notes payable 33,986,442 
Capital leases 653,351 
Compensated absences 1,678,051 
Postemployment benefits 11,956,241 
Interest payable 123,892 
Premium on bonds payable 192,357 
Bond issuance costs (729,600) 
Unamortized bond costs (382,755) 

Net adjustment $ 84,622,979 

Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, expem,litures, 
and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities: 

The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes a 
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances for total governmental funds and changes in net position 
of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities. One element of that 
reconciliation explains that "Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported 
as depreciation expense." The details of this $4,341,770, difference are as follows: . 

Capital outlay 
Depreciation expense 

Net adjustment 

$ 9,600,018 
(5,258,248) 

$ 4,341,770 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "Repayment of long-term debt is reported as an 
expenditure in governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of 
net position." The details of this $2,691,153, difference are as follows: 

PriJ;J.cipal repayments: 
General Obligation Bonds 
Notes Payable 
Capital leases payable 

Net adjustment 

. Note 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

$ 1,950,000 
701,977 

39,176 

$ 2,691,153 

Cleveland Utilities Board is a party to a contract With TVA dated August 17, 1976, under which the 
Electric Division purchases its entire requirements for electric power and energy from TVA for . 
resale. The contract may be terminated by either tVA or the Board at any time upon not less than 
five years' written notice. 
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Note 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - (Cont.) 

The Cleveland Utilities Board is a party to a contract with the Hiwassee Utilities Commission (HUC) 
dated June 22, 2006 under which the Water Division agrees to purchase an annual quantity of water 
equal to an average of 5,335,000 gallons o~water per day. 

The Cleveland Utilities Board is a party to a contract with the Hiwassee Utilities Commission (HUC) 
dated January 21, 1982, under which HUC agrees to contracfwith the Water Division for operating 
the water filter plant owned by HUC ip. Charleston, Tennessee. Cleveland Utilities provides all 
necessary functions of the day-to-day operation of the plant. Cleveland Utilities is reimbursed for 
all costs incurred in operating the plant plus ·additional amounts for overhead as called for in the 
contract. Cleveland Utilities is not responsible for property insurance on the HUC facilities. 

On September 16, 2005, Cleveland Utilities received a Commissioner's Order from the Tennessee 
. Department of Environment and Conservation. The order deals with the violations of Cleveland 
Utilities' NPDES Permit related to overflows in the sewer collection system. Cleveland Utilities reported 
the violations listed in the order to TDEC. The Board authorized the utility to engage the services of legal· . 
counsel to appeal the order. The appeal was filed September 21,2005, and on January 25,2006, an 
"agreed order" was signed by all parties. The agreed order outlines certain requirements to be undertaken 
by the utility to address the violations as they are listed in the order. In conjunction with the Commissioner's 
Order received in 2005, Cleveland Utilities submitted a Capacity, Maintenance, Operations and Management 
(CMOM) plan to the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation (IDEC) for approval. This 
document details how Cleveland Utilities will ensure capacity within the wastewater collection system, perform 
routine and preventative maintenance, what daily operations are performed by Cleveland Utilities personnel 
and how the data is being managed. On September 23, 2011, Cleveland Utilities received approval of the 
CMOM program. Cleveland Utilities developed the Strategic Commitment to Protect the Environment 
(SCOPE-I0) program. This program will manage the CMOM program while also overseeing wastewater 
rehabilitation of the collection system. Cleveland Utilities has revised the CMOM document and received 
approval of the new CMOM on July 18, 2012. 

Note 11 - LITIGATION· 

The City genetally follows the practice of recording liabilities from claims and legal actions only when 
they become fixed or determinable in amount. The City of Cleveland and Cleveland Utilities Electric 
and Water Divisions are involved in certain legal matters, the outcome of which is not presently 
determinable. It is the opinion of management, based in part on the advice ofIegal counsel, that these 
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or the financial position of 
the City and Cleveland Utilities. 

Note 12 - TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY (TVA) CONSERVATION PROGRAMS 

Cleveland Utilities - Electric Division is a fiscal intermediary for TVA conservation programs. Under 
these programs, the Division obtains advances from TVA to administer loans to qualified customers 
approved by TVA. The repayment of the customer loans is based on monthly amortization schedules 
ranging from three to ten years. The TVA advances are repaid monthly as payments are received on 
outstanding customer loans. Amounts billed monthly to customers but not yet received are included in 
Accounts Receivable - other. All other amounts are reported as long-term. TVA assumes all credit 
risks under these programs. Effective June 30, 1997, TVA sold its loans to First American National 
Bank which was acquired by Regions Bank during the year ended June 30, 2000. This sale changes 
the parties to the arrangement described above but does not change the Board's role as a fiscal 
intermediary. 

Note 13 - RISK MANAGEMENT 

It is the policy of the City to purchase commercial insurance for the risks ofIosses to which it is 
exposed. The City has cOIDIilercialmsurance coverage for property, employee theft, and major 
equipment. The City is also a member of the Tennessee Municipal League Risk Management Pool 
and receives coverage for worker's compensation claims and general liability. The City pays an 
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Note 13 - RISK MANAGEMENT,- (Cont.) 

annual premium to the Tennessee Municipal League (TML) for its insurance coverage. The creation 
of the TML Risk Management Pool provides for it to be self-sustaining through member premiums. 
Settled claims from losses have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past thr,ee fiscal years. 

Note 14 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and various current liabilities 
reported in proprietary funds are reasonable estimates of their fair value because of the short-term 
maturity of these financial instruments. 

Note 15 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 

During fiscal year ended June 30, 1998, the City of Cleveland implemented GASB Statement No. 32, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans. 
This Statement rescinds GASB No.2, Financial Reporting of Deferred Compensation Plans Adopted 
under the Provision of Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The effect of the new statement is to eliminate 
the requirement for statement presentation and note disclosure for plans that are held in trust and meet the 
requirements of Section 457(g). 

Note 16 - ESTIMATES 

Management uses estimates and assumptions in prepariIig financial statements. Those estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenses. 

Note 17 - RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS 

CLEVELAND BOARD OF EDUCATION, CLEVELAND FIRE AND POLICE DEPARTMENTS, 
CLEVELAND CITY-OTHER DEPARTMENTS, CLEVELAND UTILITIES-WATER DIVISION, 
CLEVELAND UTILITIES-ELECTRIC DIVISION, CLEVELAND SANITATION DEPARTMENT 

PLAN DESCRIPTION 

Certain employees of the above Departments of the City of Cleveland are members of the Political 
Subdivision Pension Plan (PSPP), an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered 
by the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS). TCRS provides retirement benefits as 
well as death and disability benefits. Benefits, are determined by a formula using the member's high 
five-year average salary and years of service. Members become eligible to retire at the age of 60 
with 5 years of service or at any age with 30 years of service. A reduced retirement benefit is 
available to vested members at the age of 55. The City, has ,authorized mandatory retirement for its 
Public Safety Officers. Public Safety Officers can retire at age 55 with five years of serVice or at any age 
with 25 years of service and receive a supplemental bridge payment between the mandatory retirement 
age and 62. Disability benefits are available to active members with five years of service who become 
disabled and cannot engage in gainful employment. There is no service requirement for disability that is 
the result of an accident or injury occurring while the member was in the performance of duty. Members 
joining the system after July 1, 1979 become vested after five years of service' and members joining prior 
prior to July 1, 1979 were vested after 4 years of service. Benefit provisions are established in state 
statute found in Title 8, Chapter 34-37 of the Tennessee Code Annotated (TCA). State statutes are amended 
by the Tennessee General Assembly. 'Political subdivisions such as the City of Cleveland participate in the 
TCRS as individual entities and are liable for all costs associated with the operation and adm.inistration of 
their plan. Benefit improvements are not applicable to a political subdivision unless approved by the chief 
governing body. 

The TCRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes fmancial statements and required 
supplementary information for the PSPP. That report inay be obtained by writing to Tennessee Treasury 
Department, Consolidated Retirement System, 10th Floor Andrew Jackson Building, Nashville, TN 
37243-0230 or can be accessed at httQ:llwww.tn.gov/treasmy/tcrsIPSh 
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Note 17 - RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS - (Cont.) 

FUNDING POLICY 

The City otCleveland Plan is noncontribut-ory and has assumed employee contributions up to 5.0 

percent of annual covered payroll. 

The City of Cleveland is required to contribute at an actuarially detennined rate; the rate for the 

fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 was 17.71% of annual covered payroll. The contribution requirement 

. of plan members is set by 'stat~ statute. Contribution requireIp.ent for the City of Cleveland i.s established 

and may be amended by the TCRS Board of Trustees. 

ANNUAL PENSION COST 

For the year ending June 30, 2013, the City's annual pension cost of$4,912,561 to TCRS was equal to the 

City's required and actual contributions. The required contribution was determined as part of the July 1, 

2011 actuarial valuation using the frozen entry age actuarial cost method. Significant actuarial assumptions 

used in the valuation include (a) rate of return on investment of present and future assets of 7.5 percent a year 

compounded annually, (b) projected 3.0 percent annual rate of inflation, (c) projected salary increases of 4. 75 

percent (graded) annual rate (no explicit assumption is made regarding the portion attributable to the effects 

of inflation on salaries), (d) projected 3.5 percent annual increase in the Social Security wage base, and (e) 

projected post retirement increases of2.5 percent annually. The actuarial value of assets was determined using 

techniques that smooth the effect of short-term volatility in the market value of total investments over a ten-year 

period. The City's unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level dollar amount on a closed 

basis. The remaining amortization period at July 1, 2011 was 12 years. An actuarial valuation was performed as 

of July 1,2011, which established contribution rates effective July 1,2012. 

Trend Information 

Fiscal Annual Percentage Net 

Year Pension ofAPC Pension 

Ending Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation 

6/30/13 $ 4,912,561 100% $0.00 

6/30112 4,974,186 100% $0.00 

6/30/11 4,751,248 100% $0.00 

FUNDED STATUS AND FUNDING PROGRESS 

As of July 1, 2011, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 80.89% funded. The actuarial accrued 

liability for benefits was $102.37 million, and the actuarial value of assets was $82.81 million, reSUlting in an unfunded 

actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $19.56 million. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees 

~overed by the plan) was $26.73 million, and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 73.18%. 

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information (RSI) following the notes 

to the financial statements, present multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets are 

increasing or decreasing over time relative to the AALs for benefits .. 

CLEVELAND CITY SCHOOLS SYSTEM 

PLAN DESCRIPTION 

The Cleveland City Schools contribute to the State Employees, Teachers, and Higher Education 

Employees Pension Plan (SETHEEPP), a cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan . 

administered by the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS). TCRS provides retirement 

benefits as well as death and disability benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Benefits are 
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Note 17 - RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS - (Cont.) 

determined by a formula using the member's high five-year average salary and years of service. 

Members become eligible to retire at the age of 60 with five years of service or at any age with 30 years 

of service. A reduced retirement benefit is available to vested members who are at least 55 years. of age 

or have 25 years of service. Disability benefits are available to active members with five years of service 

who become disabled and cannot engage in gainful employment. There is no service requirement for 

disability that is the result of an accident or injury occurring while the member· was in the performance 

of duty. Members joining the plan on or after July 1, 1979 are vested after five years of service. Members 

joining·prior to July 1, 1979 are vested after four years of service: Benefit provisions are established in 

state statute found in Title 8, Chapters 34-37 of the Tennessee Code Annotated (TCA) .. State statutes 

are amended by the Tennessee General Assembly. Cost of living adjustments (COLA) are provided to 

retirees each July based on the percentage change in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) during the previous 

calendar year. No COLA is granted if the CPI increases less than one-half percent. The annual 

COLA is capped at three percent. 

The TCRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required 

supplementary information for the SETHEEPP. That report may be obtained by writing to the Tennessee 

Treasury Department, Consolidated Retirement System, 10th Floor Andrew Jackson Building, Nashville, 

TN 37243-0230 or can be accessed at www.tn.gov/treasmy/tcrs/Schools. 

FUNDING POLICY 

Most teachers are required by state statute to contribute 5 percent of their salary to the plan. The Cleveland 

City. Schools are required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. The rate for the fiscal year ending 

June 30, 2013 was 8.88 percent of annual covered payroll. The contribution requirement of Cleveland City 

Schools is established and may be amended by the TCRS Board of Trustees. Cleveland City School's 

contributions to the TCRS for the years ending June 30,2013,2012, and 2011, were $1,829,898, $1,792,845, 

and $1,764,065, respectively, equal to the required contributions for each year. 

CLEVELAND UTILITIES - CSA PENSION PLAN 

PLAN DESCRIPTION 

All employees of the Cleveland Utilities - Electric Division hired prior to October 15, 1993 participate in 

a cost-sharing multiple-employer pension plan administered by the Central Service Association (the 

"CSA Plan"). The CSA Plan provides retirement benefits to plan members. Section 5.1 & 5.2 of the Pension 

Plan for employees of Central Service Association ("CSA") assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit 

provisions to the CSA Board ofDirectots. 

On October 1,2005, Cleveland Utilities-Electric Division withdrew from the CSA Non-governmental plan in a, 

spin off whereby assets and liabilities were transferred into the Central Service Association Pension Plan for 

Governmental Employees, a new tax-qualified multiple employer defined benefit pension plan that is maintained 

as a governmental plan (as defined under section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code). The CSA Governmental 

Plan is substantially the same as the CSA Non-governrn,ental plan with certain exceptions, including, but not limited 

to, (1) the CSA Governmental Plan will not be subject to any PBGC requirements, (2) 'benefits under the CSA 

Governmental Plan will not be insured by the PBGC, and (3) the CSA Governmental Plan will not be subject to the 

additional deficit reduction contribution funding requirements of Code Section 412(1). 

The Cleveland Utilities Board will serve as the "Plan Sponsor," in regard to employees participating in the plan 

(active and retired) and CSA shall continue to serve as the "Plan Administrator. " 

- 81 -



Note 17 - RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS - (Cont.) 

CSA issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 

information for the CSA plan. That report may be obtained by writing Central Service Association, P.O. Box 

3480, Tupelo, MS 38803-3480, or by calling (662) 842-5962. 

FUNDING POLICY 

Participants are not required to contribute to the CSA Plan. The Board is required to contribute an 

actuarially deteimined amount. The contribution requirements of the Board are established and may be 

amended by the CSA Board of Directors. The Board's contributions to the CSA Plan for the year ending 

June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011 were $1,348,918, $1,175,552, and $1,126,146, respectively, ~d were equal t6 the 

required contribution established' by the CSA Board. 

ANNUAL PENSION COST AND NET PENSION OBLIGATION 

Determined in accordance with current standards, there is no net pension obligation as the Board has 

contributed the annual required contribution, adjusted with interest, as calculated by actuarial valuation. The 

annual required contribution was determined as part of an actuarial valuation performed as of October 1, 2012, 

using the frozen entry age method. Significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation included (a) a rate 

of return on the investment of present and future assets of7.0% per year compounded annually, (b) projected 

salary increases of3% per year compounded annually, and (c) no postretirement benefit increases. 

Effective October I, 2008, the actuarial value of assets are set to the. smoothed asset value determined by 

recognizing the difference between actual versus expected asset return for each year over a five year period. 

The resulting smoothed asset value cannot be less than 90%, and not more than 110% of the market value of 

assets. The actuarial value of assets is used to determine the minimum required contribution. 

Note 18 - POSTEMPLOYMENTBENEFITS 

CITY EMPLOYEES OTHER THAN CITY SCHOOLS AND CLEVELAND UTn..ITIES 

PLAN DESCRIPTION 

The City provides postretirement medical, dental and life insurance benefits to employees who retire from the City 

with 30 years of service, public safety employees 25 years) or age 55 with 10 years of service. Medical benefits are 

provided using a point of service (POS) single-employer plan through Blue Cross. Dental benefits are provided using 

a preferred provider organization (PPO) through Blue CrosslBlue Shield. Boston Mutual Life Insurance provides 

life insurance benefits. The following schedule applies to employees with over 10 years of service. If the retiree 

has family coverage the City will pay half the difference between the cost of the family plan and the cost of the 

individual plan. No separate report is issued for this plan. 

Years of 

Service At Percentage of Premium 

Retirement Paid by Partici,eant 
<15 100.00% 

15 50.00% 

16 46.67% 

17 43.33% 

18 40.00% 

19 36.67% 

20 33.33% 

21 30.00% 

22 26.67% 
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Note 18 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (Cont.) 

Years of 

Service At 

Retirement 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30+ 

FUNDING POLICY AND ANNUAL OPEB COST 

Percentage of Premium 

Paid by Participant . 

23.33% 

20.00% 

16.67% 

13.33% 

10.00% 

6.67% 

3.33% 

0.00% 

The City's 1mD.ual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) for the plan is calculated based on the annual 

required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters 

of government accounting standards. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is 

projected to cover normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) 

over a period not to exceed thirty years. The City's annual OPEB cost for the current year areas follows: 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) 

Interest on net OPEB obligation 

Adjustment to annual required contribution 

Annual OPEB cost (expense) 

Contributions made 

Increase in net OPEB obligation 

Net OPEB obligation - June 30; 2012 
Net OPEB obligation - June 30, 2013 

$ 1,982,343 

265,546 

(313,684) 

$ 1,934,205 

(471,983) 

$ 1,462,222 

6,638,649 
$ 8,100,871 

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB 

obligation is as follows: 

Fiscal 

Year 

Ending 

6/30/2011 
6/30/2012 
6/30/2013 

FUNDED STATUS AND FUNDING PROGRESS 

The funded status of the plan as of July 1,2011, was as follows: 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) 

Actuarial value of plan assets 

Annual 

OPEB Cost 

$ 1,726,281 

1,842,938 

1,934,205 

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) 

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 

Covered payroll (active plan members) 

UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 

Percentage of 

AnnualOPEB 

Cost Contributed 

22.40% $ 
24.84% 

24.40% 

$ 19,584,486 . 

0 
$ 19,584,486 

0% 

$ 15,380,355 

127.3% 

Net 

OPEB 

Obligation 

5,253,571 

6,638,649 

8,100,871 
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Note 18 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (Cont.) 

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events 
far into the future, and actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to 
past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presente<:i as RSI 
following the notes to the financial statements, presents mUltiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of 
plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

. . . . 
Calculations are based on the types of benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan at the time of each 
valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between the employer and plan members to that point. Actuarial· 
calculations reflect a long-term perspective. Consistent with that perspective, actuarial methods and assumptions used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial­
value of assets. 

In the July 1, 2011 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit method was used. The actuarial assumptions 

include a 4.00% funding interest rate and no post retirement benefit increases. A 3% inflation rate is 

being assumed by the plan. The 2011 medical cost trend rate used was 10% with an ultimate medical cost 

trend rate of 5% projected to be reached in 2016. The annual payroll growth rate is assumed to be 2.5%. 

The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of payroll oh a closed basis 

over a 30 year period beginning with Jun,e 30, 2008. 

CLEVELAND UTILITIES - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN 

PLAN DESCRIPTION 

Cleveland Utilities provides postemployment medical, hospitalization, and dental benefits to employees who 

retire from the Utility with 30 years of service, or age 55 with 15 years of service through a single-employer . 

plan. As of August 1, 2006, employees with a hire date prior to July 1, 2005, are non-contnbutory. For those 

participants with a date of hire on or after July 1, 2005, benefit participants pay according to the following schedule: 

Years of 

Service At Percentage of Premium 

At Retirement Paid by Participant 

<15 100.00% 

15 50.00% 

16 46.67% 

17 43.33% 

18 40.00% 

19 36.67% 

20 33.33% 

21 30.00% 

22 26.67% 

23 23.33% 

24 20.00% 

25 16.67% 

26 13.33% 

27 10.00% 

28 6.67% 

29 3.33% 

30+ 0.00% 
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Note 18 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (Cont.) 

As of August 1, 2006, participants with a date of hire prior to July 1,2005, Cleveland Utilities will pay 50% of the 

spouse only premium. For those participants with a date of hire on or after July 1,2005, Cleveland Utilities will 

pay 50% of the spouse only premium based on the schedule shown above for the retiree. There is no provision 

to provide surviving spouse benefits. No separate report is issued for this plan. 

Monthly premiums effective August 1, 2013, are as follows: 

Pre-65 Retiree 

Pre-65 Retiree and Spouse 

Post-65 Retiree 

Post-65 Retiree and Spouse 

FUNDING POLICY AND ANNUAL OPEB COST 

Medical 

$ 435.89 

1,135.87 

292.00 

584.00 

Dental . 

$ 24.66 

63.82 

24.66 

63.82 

The Utilities' annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) for the plan is calculated based on the annual 

required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters 

of governmental auditing standards. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is 

projected to cover normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) 

over a period not to exceed thirty years. The Utilities' annual OPEB cost for the current year are as follows: 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) 

Interest on net OPEB obligation 
Adjustment to annual required contribution 

AnnualOPEB cost (expense) 
Contributions made 
Increase in net OPEB obligation 

Net OPEB obligation - June 30, 2012 
Net OPEB obligation - June 30, 2013 

$ 1,584,417 

165,097 
(197,021) 

$ 1,552,493 
(525,968) 

$ 1,026,525 
4,127,429 

$ 5,153,954 

The Utilities' annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB 
obligation is as follows: 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
6/30/2011 
6/30/2012 
6/30/2013 

FUNDED STATUS AND FUNDING PROGRESS 

The funded·status of the plan as of July 1,2011, was as follows: 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) 
Actuarial value of plan assets 

Annual 
OPEB Cost 

$ 1,214,538 
1,484,359 
1,552,493 

Urifunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) 

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 
Covered payroll (active plan members) 
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 

Percentage of 
AnnualOPEB 

Cost Contributed 
34.77% 
35.96% 
30.12% 

$ 18,690,885 
o 

$ . 18,690,885 

0% 
$ 10,123,317 

184.6% 

Net 
OPEB 

Obligation 
$ 3,176,722 

4,127,429 
5,153,954 

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events 

far into the future, and actuarially: determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results ~e compared to 

past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as RSI 
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Note 18 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (Cont.) 

following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of 

plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

ACTUARIAL :METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Calculations are based on the types of benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan at the time of each 
valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between the employer and plan members to that point. Actuarial 
calculations reflec~ a long-term perspective. Con~istent with that perspective, ac:tuarial methods and assumptio~s used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial 
value of assets. 

In the July 1, 2011 actuarial valuation, the proj ected unit credit method was used. The actuarial assumptions 
include a 4.00% funding interest rate and no post retirement benefit increases. A 3% inflation rate is being 
assumed by the plan. The 2011 medical cost trend rate used was 8% with an ultimate medical cost trend 
rate of 5% projected to be reached in 2014. The annual payroll growth rate is assumed to be 2.5%. The 
unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of payroll on a closed basis 
over a 30 year period beginning with June 30, 2008. 

CLEVELAND CITY SCHOOLS SYSTEM 

The Cleveland City Schools participate in the state-administered Teacher Group Insurance Plan for healthcare 
benefits. For accounting purposes, the plans are agent multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plans. Benefits 
are established and amended by an insurance committee created by Tennessee Code Annotated (TCA) 8-27-302. 
Prior to reaching the age of 65, all members have the option of choosing between the standard or partnership 
preferred provider organization (PPO) plan for healthcare benefits. Subsequent to age 65, members who are 
also in the state's retirement system may participate in a state-administered medicare supplement plan that does not 
include pharmacy. The plans are reported in the State of Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR). The CAFR is available on the state's website at http://tennessee.gov/finance/act/caft.html. 

FUNDING POLICY 

The premium requirements of plan members are established and may be amended by the insurance committee. 
The plans are self-insured and financed on a pay-as-you-go basis with the risk shared equally among the . 
participants. Claims liabilities of the plan are periodically computed using actuarial and statistical techniques to 
establish premium rates. The employers in each plan develop their own contribution policy in terms of subsidizing 
active employees or retired employees' premiums since the committee is not prescriptive on that issue. The State 
does provide a partial subsidy to Local Education Agency pre-65 teachers and a full subsidy based on years of service 
for post-65 teachers in the Medicare Supplemental Plan. 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $ 1,128,000 
Interest on net OPEB obligation 124,663 
Adjustment to annual required contribution (132,328) 
Annual OPEB cost (expense) $ 1,120,335 

Contributions made (381,548) 
Increase in net OPEB obligation $ 738,787 

Net OPEB obligation - June 30, 2012 3,116,582 
Net OPEB obligation - June 30, 2013 $ 3,855,369 

The School's annual OPEB 'cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB 
obligation is as follows: 

Fiscal Percentage of Net 
Year Annual AnnualOPEB OPEB 

Ending OPEB Cost Cost Contributed Obligation 
6/30/2011 $ 1,075,961 34.99% $ 2,366,876 
6/30/2012 1,112,179 32.59% 3,116,582 
6/30/2013 1,120,335 34.06% 3,855,369 
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Note 18 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (Cont.) 

FUNDED STATUS AND FUNDING PROGRESS 

The funded status of the plan as of July 1,2011, was as follows: 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) 
Actuarial value of plan assets 

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (VAAL) 

Funded ratio (actuarial value' of plan assets/AAL) 
Covered payroll (active plan members) 
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 

$ 8,625,000 
o 

$ 8,625,000 

0% 
$ 25,299,624 

34.1% 

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events 
far into the future, and actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to 
past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as RSI 
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of 
plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Calculations are based on the types of benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan at the time of each 
valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between the employer and plan members to that point. Actuarial 
calculations reflect a long-term perspective. Consistent with that perspective, actuarial methods and assumptions used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial 
value of assets. 

In the July 1, 2011, actuarial valuation, the Proj ected Unit Credit actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial 

assumptions included a 4 percent investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses) and an annual healthcare 

cost trend rate of 9.25 percent for fiscal year 2012. The trend will decrease to 8.75% in fiscal year 2013 and then 

will be reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5 percent by fiscal year 2021. A 3% inflation rate is being 

assumed by the plan. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of 

payroll on a closed basis over a 30 year period beginning with July 1,2007. 

Note 19 - FEMA REIMBURSEMENT 

On April 27 , 2011, numerous tornadoes struck within and around the City of Cleveland. Damage to the Electric 
System was extensive and the cost to repair the system was approximately $2,692,918. In addition, the City 
incurred cost for debris removal of approximately $737,998. During fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, a total of 
$1,881,311, was received from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and the Tennessee 
Emergency Management Agency (TEMA). A remaining balance receivable of $703,229 is expected to be 
recovered after FEMA performs its inspection on the completed work. 

Note 20 - ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

Provisions of Governmental Accouriting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and 
Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements; and Statement 
No. 63, Reporting Deferred Outflows, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position, became effective for the year ended June 30, 
2013. 

GASB Statement No. 62 incorporates into GASB's literature the provisions in Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principals Board Opinions, and Accounting Research Bulletins of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' Committee on Accounting Procedures issued on or before 
November 30, 1989, that do not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. The option to use subsequent 
F ASB guidance has been removed. 
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Note 20 - ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

GASB Statement No. 63 provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources that were introduced and defined by Concepts Statement No.4, Elements of Financial Statements. 
Previous financial reporting standards did not include guidance for reporting these financial statement elements, which 
are distinct from assets and liabilities. In addition, the previous Statement of Net Assets was renamed to Statement of 
Financial Position. 

Note 21- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On July 8, 2013, the Cleveland Utilities' board announced that Ken Webb will be appointed as Cleveland Utilities' 
new President and Chief Executive Officer, effective October 1,2013. He will succeed Tom Wheeler who is 
retiring from his position with Cleveland Utilities. Former President/CEO Tom Wheeler retired from his prior 
position after serving over 42 years of service to the Utility. 

On June 26, 2013, Cleveland Utilities received approval for a $10 million loan from the Tennessee State 
Revolving Loan Fund "TSRF" to finance a significant portion of the Strategic Commitment to Protect the 
Environment project, ("Scope 10"). The TSRF loan includes two components. The first is a $1,826,000 loan 
that includes a debt forgiveness of$45 1,022 and the second is a loan for $8,174,000. Both loans are for a 
20-year period at a fixed rate of 1.15 percent. As of the date of this report no funds have been received. 
Scope 10 projects are scheduled to begin during FY 2014. Once projects have begun, funds will be requested 
through the agreement as needed. 

On December 9, 2013, the Cleveland City Council approved resolutions for the issuance of notes not to 
exceed $3,625,000, and $2,750,000, for improvements to the Electric Division and the Water and Wastewater 
Division, respectively, of Cleveland Utilities. It is anticipated that the loans will be for a 20-year period with 
a variable rate of interest. . 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION . 

TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM(TCRS) 
RETIREMENT PLAN 

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial UAALas a 
Actuarial Accrued Percentage 

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded . Funded Covered of Covered 
Valuation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Pay:r:oll Payroll 

Date (a) (b) (b) - (a) . (alb) (c) ((b-a)/c) 

07/01111 $82,810 $102,371 $19,561 80.89% $26,731 73.18% 
07/01109 $65,941 $70,566 $4,625 93.45% $27,521 16.81% 
07/01107 $59,075 $64,847 $5,772 91.10% $24,855 23.22% 

CITY OF CLEVELAND OTHER THAN CITY SCHOOLS AND CLEVELAND UTILITIES 
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial UAALasa 
Actuarial Accrued Percentage 

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered 
Val1l.ation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll 

Date (a) (b) (b) - (a) (alb) (c) ((b-a)/c) 

07/01111 $0 $19,584 $19,584 0.00% $15,380 127.33% 
07/01109 $0 $14,601 $14,601 0.00% $15,112 96.62% 
07/01107 $0 $14,171 $14,171 0.00% $15,125 93.69% 

CLEVELAND UTILITIES 
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial UAALasa 
Actuarial Accrued Percentage 

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered 
Valuation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll 

Date (a) (b) (b) - (a) (alb) (c) ((b-a)/c) 

07/01111 $0 $18,691 $18,691 0.00% $10,123 184.64% 
07/01109 $0 $14,772 $14,772 0.00% $10,795 136.84% 
07/01/07 $0 $12,967 $12,967 0.00% $10,630 121.98% 

CLEVELAND CITY SCHOOLS 
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial UAALasa 
Actuarial Accrued Percentage 

Actuarial Value of Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered 
Valuation Assets (AAL) AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll 

Date (a) (b) (b) - (a) (alb) (c) ((b-a)/c) 

07/01111 $0 .$8,625 $8,625 0.00% $25,299 34.10% 
07/01/10 $0 $8,807 $8,807 0.00% $24,970 35.30% 
07/01/09 $0 $8,700 $8,700 0.00% $24,213 35.93% 
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 

Special Revenue Funds 
 
Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenues that are 
legally restricted to finance specific functions or activities of government and which, 
therefore, cannot be diverted to other uses. 
 
State Street Aid Fund:  This fund accounts for maintenance of all non-State streets in 
the City.  Revenues are provided from a portion of the State of Tennessee gasoline and 
motor fuels tax. 
 
Solid Waste Management Fund:  This fund accounts for the revenues and expenditures 
of the City of Cleveland’s Solid Waste Management program. 
 
School Federal Projects Fund:  This fund accounts for federal project funds received 
from the Federal government and for the disbursement of those funds for federal 
programs of the City of Cleveland. 
 
School Food Services Fund:  This fund is used to account for the revenues and 
expenditures of the City of Cleveland public school cafeterias. 
 
Library Fund:  This fund is used to account for revenues and expenditures of the City’s 
public library. 
 
Drug Enforcement Fund:  This fund is used to account for investigations of violations 
of controlled substance laws and is funded primarily by the state statute from the receipt 
of fines and costs related to drug enforcement cases. 
 
Metropolitan Transportation Planning Organization Fund:  This fund will serve 
Cleveland and the urbanized portions of Bradley County by transportation planning and 
the implementation of transportation projects. 
 
Community Development Block Grant:  This fund is used to account for a grant 
received from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. 
 
Department of Justice Asset Forfeiture Fund:  This fund accounts for all monies 
received from participation in a Federal Equitable Sharing Agreement with the U.S. 
Department of Justice and the U.S. Department of the Treasury.  
 
COPS Hiring Recovery Grant Fund:  This fund is used to account for a grant received 
from the America Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) to hire four police officers 
for a period of three years.   
 
Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grants:  These funds are used to account for grants 
received from the United States Department of Justice for the purchase of equipment.   
 
THDA Neighborhood Stabilization Program Fund: This fund is used to account for 
funds for renovating houses owned by low income individuals.   
 



Targeted Crime Reduction Project Fund:  This fund is used to account for a grant 
from the Office of Criminal Justice Programs.  The grant provides funding for two police 
officers and programs with various partners to reduce crime in sectors 1 and 2 in the City.   
 
Recycling Grant:  This fund is used to account for the “Clean and Green Cleveland” 
program.  It is funded by the TDOT Department of Beautifications’ Special Litter 
Project.   
 

Debt Service 
 
The Debt Service Fund is used for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, 
principal and interest on general long-term debt. 
 

Capital Projects 
 

The Capital Projects Funds are used to account for the acquisition or construction of 
major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds and trust funds. 
 
Capital Improvement Program Fund:  This fund serves as a planning tool for the city’s 
capital improvement needs and accounts for projected revenues and expenditures needed 
to meet those needs. 
 
Greenway Fund:  This fund is used to account for a grant from the State of Tennessee 
Department of Transportation, as well as City and County contributions, to be used for 
construction of the City/County Greenway Project. 
 
Fletcher Park Trust Fund:  This fund is used to account for funds bequeathed to the 
City of Cleveland by Leonard G. and Agnes W. Fletcher for the development of the 
Fletcher Park. 
 
Sales Tax Capital Projects Fund:  This fund is used to account for the proceeds from a 
.5 cent increase in the sales tax rate approved in a March 2009 referendum.  The 
ordinance approving the referendum provided that all of the tax increase is used for 
capital projects for the City and City Schools.    
  
ARRA Grants Fund:  This fund accounts for the proceeds from America Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act (ARRA) grants for acquiring various capital assets for the city.   
 
Spring Branch Industrial Park Fund:  This fund accounts for the purchase and for the 
development of an industrial park located off of Exit 20.      
 

Permanent Fund 
 

Meiler Estate Animal Shelter Trust Fund:  This fund is used to account for funds 
bequeathed to the City of Cleveland Animal Control by John and Elizabeth Jean Meiler. 



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
COMBllUNGBALANCESHEET 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
June 3 0, 2013 

Special Revenue 

State Solid School School' 
Street Waste Federal Food 
Aid Management Projects Services 

Fund Fund Fund Fund 
ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 322,689 $ 542,172 $ 194,442 $ 40~,901 
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 0 0 0 0 
Investments 0 0 0 0 
Investments - restricted 0 0 0 0 
Accounts receivable 0 198,760 0 0 
Due from other government agencies 193,205 0 98,850 169,771 
Due from other funds 0 0 0 0 
Prepaids 0 0 0 3,045 

Total Assets $ 515,'894 $ 740,932 $ 293,292 $ 574,717 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

Liabilities: 
Accrued liabilities $ 9,332 $ 12,024 $ 243,560 $ 0 
Accounts payable 318 140 0 8,158 
Due to other funds 0 0 0 0 
Matured interest payable 0 0 0 0 
Matured bonds payable 0 0 0 0 
Deferred revenue 0 0 0 24,383 

Total Liabilities $ 9,650 $ 12,164 $ 243,560 $ 32,541 

Fund Balances: . 
Nonspendable: 

Permanent fund principal $ '0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Restricted for: 

Law enforcement 0 0 0 0 
Community deveiopment - federal grants 0 0 0 0 
Street improvements 506,244 0 0 0 
Recycling 0 0 0 0 

Capital outlay 0 0 0 0 
Education 0 0 49,732 0 

Committed to: 
Solid Waste 0 728,768 0 0 

" 

.Assigned to: 
Education 0 0 0 542,176 
. Library 0 0 0 0 
Debt service 0 0 0 0 
Capital outlay 0 0 0 0 

Total Fund Balances $ 506,244 $ 728,768 $ 49,732 $ 542,176 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 515,894 $ 740,932 $ 293,292 $ 574,717 
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SEecial Revenue 
Metropolitan Community 

Transportation Development 

Drug Planning Block 

Library Enforcement Organization Grant 

Fund Fund Fund Fund 

$ 234,511 $ 71,525 $ 31,646 $ 51,753 
0 0 0 O· 

364,844 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 1,291 20,457 40,019 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 1,210 

$ 599,355 $ 72,816 $ 52,103 $ 92,982 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
5,463 184 1,708 39,831 

0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 

$ 5,463 $ 184 $ 1,708 $ 39,831 

$ 13,700 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

0 72,632 0 0 
0 0 0 53,151 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 

260,076 0 50,395 0 
0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 
320,116 0 0 O· 

0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 

$ 59.3,892 $ 72,632 $ 50,395. $ 53,151 

$ 599,355 $ 72,816 $ 52,103 $ 92,982 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
COMBllITNGBALANCESHEET 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (Continued) 
June 30, 2013 

Capital 
SEecial Revenue Debt Service Projects 

Targeted 
Crime Capital 

Reduction Rec~c1ing Debt Improvement 
Project Grant Service " Program 
Fund Fund Fund Fund 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 0 $ 3,074 $ 2,683,562 $ 1,327,635 
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 0 0 0 0 
Investments 0 0 0 376,969 
Investments - restricted 0 0 0 
Accounts receivable 0 0 0 0 
Due from other government agencies 76,801 926 0 215,908 
Due from other funds 0 0 0 0 
Prepaids 0 0 0 0 

Total Assets $ 76,801 $ 4,000 $ 2,683,562 $ 1,920,512 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

Liabilities: 
Accrued liabilities $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Accounts payable 0 0 0 168,136 
Due to other funds 76,801 0 0 0 
Matured interest payable 0 0 1,097 0 
Matured bonds payable 0 0 1,000 0 
Deferred revenue 0 0 0 0 

Total Liabilities $ 76,801 $ 0 $ 2,097 $ 168,136 

Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable: 

Permanent fund principal $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Restricted for: 
Law enforcement 0 0 0 0 

Community development - federal grants 0 0 0 0 

Street improvements 0 0 0 0 

Recyclirig 0 4,000 0 0 

Capital outlay 0 0 0 0 

Education 0 0 0 0 
Committed to: 

Solid Waste 0 0 0 0 

Assigned "to: 
Education 0 0 0 0 

Library 0 0 0 0 

Debt service 0 0 2,681,465 0 

Capital outlay 0 0 0 1,752,376 

Total Fund Balances $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 2,681,465 $ 1,752,376 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 76,801 $ 4,000 $ 2,683,562 $ 1,920,512 
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Permanent 
Capital Projects Fund 

Sales Spring Meiler 
Fletcher Tax Branch Estate Total 

Park Cap~tal Industrial Animal Nonmaj.or 
Greenway Trust Projects Park Shelter Governmental 

Fund Fund Fund Fund Trust Fund Funds 

$ 15,789 $ 5,403 $ 1,346,470 $ 50,037 $ 873 $ 7,283,482 
0 0 0 0 4,951 4,951 
0 0 0 0 0 741,813 
0 0 0 0 454,985 454,985 
0 0 0 10,522 3,397 212,679 
0 0 2,025,580 0 0 2,842,808 
0 0 0 1,736,692 0 1,736,692 
0 0 0 0 0 4,255 

$ 15,789 $ 5,403 $ 3,372,050 $ 1,797,251 $ 464,206 $ 13,281,665 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 264,916 
0 0 1,091 0 0 225,029 
0 0 0 0 0 76,801 
0 0 0 0 0 1,097 
0 0 0 0 0 1,000 
0 0 1,327,838 0 0 1,352,221 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 1,328,929 $ 0 $ 0 $ 1,921,064 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 459,936 $ 473,636 

0 0 .0 0 0 72,632 
0 0 0 0 0 53,151 
0 0 0 0 0 506,244 
0 0 0 0 0 4,000 
0 1,050 2,043,121 0 0 2,354,642 
0 0 0 0 0 49,732 

0 0 0 0 0 728,768 

0 0 0 0 0 542,176 
0 0 0 0 0 320,116 
0 0 0 0 0 2,681,465 

15,789 4,353 0 1,797,251 4;270 3,574,039 

$ 15,789 $ 5,403 $ 2,043,121 $ 1,797,251 $ 464,206 $ 11,360,601 

$ 15,789 $ 5,403 $ 3,372,050 $ 1,797,251 $ 464,206 $ 13,281,665 
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Revenues: 

Taxes 

Intergovernmental 

Fines and forfeitures 

Charges for services 

Interest 

Miscellaneous 

Total revenues 

Expenditures: 

Current: 

General government 

Community development 

Public safety 

Public works 

Culture and recreation 

Education 

Capital Outlay 

Debt Service 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of 

revenues over expenditures 

Other financing sources (uses): 

Transfers in 

Transfers out 

Notes issued 

Total other financing sources 

sources (uses) 

Net change in fund balances 

Fund balances at beginning of year 

Fund balances at end of year 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Special. Revenue 

State Solid School School 

Street Waste Federal Food 

Aid Management Projects Services 

Fund Fund Fund Fund 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

1,062,605 0 3,731,299 2,121,055 

0 0 0 0 

0 2,372,613 0 657,382 

719 1,788 0 176 

0 1,731 0 0 

$ 1,063,324 $ 2,376,132 $ 3,731,299 $ 2,778,613 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 

554,025 3,635,615 0 0 

0 0 0 0 

0 0 3,682,969 2,656,870 

0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 

$ 554,025 $ 3,635,615 $ 3,682,969 $ 2,656,870 

$ 509,299 $ (1,259,483) $ 48,330 $ 121,743 

$ 0 $ 1,226,000 $ 0 $ 0 

(371,900) 0 (11,845) 0 

0 0 0 0 

$ (371,900) $ 1,226,000 $ (11,845) $ 0 

$ 137,399 $ (33,483) $ 36,485 $ 121,743 

368,845 762,251 13,247 420,433 

$ 506,244 $ 728,768 $ 49,732 $ 542,176 

Drug 

Library Enforcement 

Fund Fund 

$ 0 $ 0 

570,944 0 

0 14,025 

70,428 0 

2,293 227 

39,297 16,649 

$ 682,962 $ 30,901 

$ 0 $ 0 

0 0 

0 66,377 

0 0 

1,201,465 0 

0 0 

3,155 0 

0 0 

$ 1,204,620 $ 66,377 

$ (521,658) $ (35,476) 

$ 567,933 $ 0 

0 0 

0 0 

$ 567,933 $ 0 

$ 46,275 $ (35,476) 

547,617 108,108 

$ 593,892 $ 72,632 
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Metropolitan Community Department COPS 2011 Byrne .2012 Byrne 

Transportation Developnient of Justice Hiring Memorial Memorial 

Planning Block Asset Recovery Justice Justice 

Organization Grant Forfeiture Grant Assistance Assistance 

Fund Fund Fund Fund Grants Grants 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

94,372 445,684 0 149,415 0 28,237 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

$ 94,372 $ 445,684 $ 0 $ 149,415 $ 0 $ 28,237 

$ 112,223 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

0 240,123 0 0 0 0 

0 0 1,311 149,415 3,729 28,237 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 218,002 . 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

$ 112,223 $ 458,125 $ 1,311 $ 149,415 $ 3,729 $ 28,237 

$ (17,851) $ (12,441) $ (1,311) $ 0 $ (3,729) $ 0 

$ 40,000 $ 38,199 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

$ 40,000 $ 38,199 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

$ 22,149 $ 25,758 $ (1,311) $ 0 $ (3,729) $ 0 

28,246 27,393 1,311 0 3,729 0 

$ 50,395 $ 53,151 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (Continued) 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013, 

Special Revenue Debt Service CaEital Projects 
THDA Targeted 

Neighborhood Crime Capital 
Stabilization Reduction Recycling Debt Improvement 

Program Project Grant Service Program Greenway 
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund 

Revenues: 
Taxes $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Intergovernmental , 21,228 304,703 926 79,284 2,102,006 13,586 

Fines and forfeitures 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Charges for services 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Interest 0 0 0 7,179 2,772 56 
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 83,500 43,655 25,450 

Total revenues ' $ 21,228 $ 304,703 $ 926 $ 169,963 $ 2,148,433 $ 39,092 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

General government $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Community development 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Public safety 0 304,703 0 0 0 0 

Public works 0 0 926 0 0 0 
Culture and recreation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Education· 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Capital Outlay 29 0 0 0 4,197,585 26,435 

Debt Service 0 0 0 4,893,605 0 0 

Total expenditures $ 29 $ 304,703 $ 926 $ 4,893,605 $ 4,197,585 $ 26,435 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ 21,199 $ 0 $ 0 $ (4,723,642) $ (2,049,152) $ 12,657 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers in $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 4,856,600 $ 809,069 $ 0 

Transfers out (21,199) 0 0 0 0 0 

Notes issued 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total other financing 
sources (uses) $ (21,199) $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 4,856,600 $ 809,069 $ 0 

Net change in fund balances $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 132,9~8 $ (1,240,083) $ 12,657 

Fund balances afbeginning of year 0 0 0 2,548,507 2,992,459 3,132 

Fund balances at end ofy.ear $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 2,681,465 $ 1,752,376 $ 15,789 
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Permanent 

CaEital Projects Fund 

Sales Spring Meiler 

Fletcher Tax Branch Estate Total 

Park Capital ARRA Industrial Animal Norunajor 

Trust Projects Grants Park Shelter Governmental 

Fund Fund Fund Fund TrustF~d Funds 

$ 0 $ 4,968,239 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,968,239 

0 0 423 0 0 10,725,767 

0 0 0 0 0 14,025 

0 0 0 0 0 3,100,423 

0 28,145 0 10,522 4,254 58,131 

0 0 0 0 0 210,282 

$ 0 $ 4,996,384 $ 423 $ 10,522 $ 4,254 $ 19,076,867 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 112,223 

0 0 0 0 0 240,123 

0 0 0 0 0 553,772 

0 0 0 0 0 4,190,566 

0 0 0 0 0 1,201,465 

0 0 0 0 0 6,339,839 

0 4,690,541 423 3,437,346 0 12,573,516 

0 431,764 0 36,000 0 5,361,369 

$ 0 $ 5,122,305 $ 423 $ 3,473,346 $ 0 $ 30,572,873 

$ 0 $ (125,921) $ 0 $ (3,462,824) $ 4,254 $ (11,496,006) 

.$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 7,541,801 
0 0 0 0 0 (404,944) 

0 0 0 5,260,075 0 5,260,075 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 5,260,075 $ 0 $ 12,396,932 

$ 0 $ (125,921) $ .. 0 $ 1,797,251 $ 4,254 $ 900,926 

5,403 2,169,042 0 0 459,952 10,459,675 

$ 5,403 $ 2,043,121 $ 0 $ 1,797,251· $ 464,206 $ 11,360,601· 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
STATE STREET AID FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual . (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
State gas tax $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 1,062,605 $ 62,605 

Interest 0 300 719 419 

Total revenues $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,300 $ 1,063,324 $ 63,024 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public works: 
Salaries $ 354,000 $ 354,000 $ 354,033 $ (33) 
Overtime wages 6,000 6,000 3,228 2,772 
Service awards 400 100 75 25 
Longevity 7,000 6,900 6,950 (50) 
Sold vacations 3,300 3,300 2,100 1,200 
Christmas bonus 1,100 5,300 5,299 1 
Dental insurance 5,100 4,700 4,365 335 
Social security 28,000 28,000 26,691 1,309 
Health insurance 75,000 69,000 67,862 1,138 
Retirement 61,000 63,000 61,675 1,325 
Life and disability insurance 4,600 4,400 4,420 (20) 
Worker's compensation insurance 14,200 13,900 13,819 81 
Worker's compensation claims 500 1,600 2,097 (497) 
Pre-employtnenttesting 100 100 28 72 
Safety shoes 1,500 1,500 1,383 117 

Total expenditures $ 561,800 $ 561,800 $ 554,025 $ 7,775 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures $ 438,200 $ 438,500 $ 509,299 $ 70,799 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers out $ (371,900) $ (371,900) $ (371,900) $ 0 

Total other financing sources (uses) $ (371,900) $ (371,900) $ (371,900) $ 0 

Net change in fund balances $ 66,300 $ 66,600 $ 137,399 $ 70,799 

Fund balance at beginning of year 368,845 368,845 368,845 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 435,145 $ 435,445 $ 506,244 $ 70,799 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT F'llND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Charges for services: 

Cormi:lercial garbage $ 1,000,000 $ 965,000 $ 963,054 $ (1,946) 

Residential garbage 1,410,000 1,410,000 1,409,559 (441) 

Interest 1,000 1,000 1,788 788 

Miscellaneous 0 0 1,731 1,731 

Total revenues $ 2,411,000 $ 2,376,000 $ 2,376,132 $ 132 

Expenditures: 

Current: 

Public works: 

Salaries $ 481,000 $ 477,500 $ 478,703 $ (1,203) 

Overtime wages 15,000 15,000 9,263 5,737 

Supplement pay 700 700 100 600 
Service awards 100 100 591 (491) 

Longevity 10,600 10,600 10,550 50 
Sold vacation 2,600 3,200 3,192 8 
Christmas bonus 1,500 6,900 6,889 11 
Dental insurance 5,200 5,200 4,902 298 
Social security 38,600 38,600 36,495 2,105 

Health insurance 87,000 82,400 81,559 841 
Retirement 84,100 87,400 84,577 2,823 

Life insurance 6,300 6,100 6,000 100 
Worker's compensation claims 1,000 1,700 1,413 287 
Safety shoes 1,900 1,900 1,385 515 
Postage 300 300 10 290 
GPS services 3,100 3,600 3,547 53 
Printing 200 100 0 100 
Subscriptions and memberships 100 100 69 31 
Advertising 100 1,000 308 692 
Training and travel 400 400 0 400 
Tire disposal 0 10,000 2,499 7,501 
Landfill 264,000 308,700 285,767 22,933 
Residential account 1,130,000 1,130,300 1,130,069 231 
Commercial account 1,046,000 1,032,500 1,032,409 91 
Commercial recycling 73,500 74,500 74,483 17 
Office expenditures 1,800 1,500 1,461 39 
Operating supplies . . 1,500 2,000 1,918· 82 
Safety supplies 800 800 798 2 
Janitorial supplies 600 400 384 16 
Uniforms 4,000 3,500 3,028 472 
Gasoline and oil 65,600 65,600 60,457 5,143 
Repairs and parts 135,000 160,000 114,648 45,352 
Insurance - property 1,000 400 310 90 
Insurance - vehicle 3,700 4,300 4,256 44 
Insurance - general liability 8,000 10,400 10,366 34 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT FUND (Continued) 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACWAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued):· 

Current - (Continued): 

Public works - (Continued): 

Insurance - workers corp.pensation $ 16,400 $ 16,700 $ 16,702 $ (2) 

Computer maintenance and support 0 4,000 0 4,000 
Miscellaneous 500 500 198 302 
Bradley County recycling 20,000 20,000 20,000 0 
Office furniture and equipment 800 800 440 360 
Knuckleboom replacement 123,000 124,500 124,000 500 

Leaf machine 28,000 38,000 0 38,000 

Street sweeper 0 21,900 21,869 31 

Total expenditures $ 3,664,000 $ 3,774,100 $ 3,635,615 $ 138,485 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over expenditures $ (1,253,000) $ (1,398,100) $ (1,259,483) $ 138,617 

Other financing sources: 

Transfers in $ 1,226,000 $ 1,226,000 $ 1,226,000 $ 0 
Total other financing sources $ 1,226,000 $ 1,226,000 $ 1,226,000 $ 0 

Net change in fund balances $ (27,000) $ (172,100) $ (33,483) $ 138,617 

Fund balance at beginning of year 762,251 762,251 762,251 0 

Furid balance at end of year $ 735,251 $ 590,151 $ 728,768 $ 138,617 

-100 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FEDERAL PROJECTS FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
Variance 

Budgeted Amounts Positive 
Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental: 

Federal government $ 4,058,673 $ 4,402,039 $ 3,731,299 $ (670,740) 

Total revenues $ '4,058,673 $ 4,402,039 $ 3,731,299 $ (670,740) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Education: 
Regular instruction $ 1,625,165 $ 1,685,137 $ 1,450,302 $ 234,835 
Special education 925,195 925,195 831,385 93,810 
Vocational education 89,470 91,758 91,755 3 
Support services 1,421,245 1,701,351 1,309,527 391,824 

Total expenditures $ 4,061,075 $ 4,403,441 $ 3,682,969 $ 720,472 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures $ (2,402) $ (1,402) $ 48,330 $ 49,732 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers out $ (10,845) $ (11,845) $ (11,845) $ 0 

Total other financing sources (uses) $ (10,845) $ (11,845) $ (11,845) $ 0 

Net change in fund balances $ (13,247) $ (13,247) $ 36,485 $ 49,732 

Fund balance at beginning of year 13,247 13,247 13,247 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 49,732 $ 49,732 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHOOL FOOD SERVICES FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance· 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
USDA reimbursements $ 2,064,350 $ 2,088,450 $ 2,121,055 $ 32,605 

Charges for services 797,900 689,500 657,382 (32,118) 
Interest 150 150 176 26 

Total revenues $ 2,862,400 $ 2,778,100 $ 2,778,613 $ 513 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Education: 
Clerical personnel $ 62,500 $ 52,500 $ 52,163 $ 337 
Cafeteria personnel 757,000 797,000 787,437 9,563 
In-service training 2,000 2,050 2,040 10 
Social security 51,000 51,000 48,111 2,889 
State retirement 132,000 117,000 115,801 1,199 
Life insurance 5,000 5,000 4,285 715 
Medical insurance 265,000 209,500 207,195 2,305 
Unemployment compensation 1,000 1,000 596 404 
Employer medicare liability 13,000 12,000 11,252 748 
Other fringe benefits 18,000 22,000 21,912 88 
Communication 750 1,000 970 30 
Dues and membership 700 700 699 1 
Maintenance and repair services 20,000 18,500 15,673 2,827 
Transportation 2,000 3,500 3,518 (18) 
Travel 4,000 4,000 3,117 883 
Other contracted services 20,000 16,850 16,529 321 
Food supplies 1,170,000 1,139,600 1,048,345 91,255 
Office supplies 8,000 8,000 6,922 1,078 
Uniforms 2,000 2,000 1,014 986 
Utilities 4,000 4,200 4,290 (90) 
In-service staff development 1,000 1,250 1,324 (74) 
Food commodities 146,000 146,000 155,430 (9,430) 
Other supplies and materials 150,000 136,000 121,874 14,126 
Applicant investigation 600 600 462 138 
Food service equipment 26,850 26,850 25,911 939 

Total expenditures $ 2,862,400 $ 2,778,100 $ 2,656,870 $ 121,230 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures $ 0 $ 0 $ 121,743 $ 121,743 

Fund balance at beginning of year 420,433· 420,433 420,433 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 420,433 $ 420,433 $ 542,176 $ 121,743 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
LffiRARYFUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
Library archive grant $ 0 $ 0 $ 435 $ 435 
State technology grant 0 2,600 2,576 (24) 

Bradley County 568,000 568,000 567,933 (67) 

Charges for services 76,600 76,600 70,428 (6,172) 
Interest 100 100 2,293 2,193 
Miscellaneous: 

Gifts 70,000 70,000 34,297 (35,703) 
Private grants 0 5,000 5,000 0 

Total revenues $ 714,700 $ 722,300 $ 682,962 $ (39,338) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Culture and recreation: 
Salaries $ 693,100 $ 693,100 $ 666,529 $ 26,571 
Employee benefits 204,800 202,300 185,020 17,280 
Supplies 63,800 67,000 61,680 5,320 
Books 127,200 126,500 127,509 (1,009) 
Utilities 84,000 84,000 65,018 18,982 
Equipment repair/replacement 15,300 15,300 20,797 (5,497) 
Building maintenance 5,000 5,000 8,023 (3,023) 
Insurance 18,000 18,000 18,876 (876) 
Gift and memorial expenditures 70,000 90,000 39,696 50,304 
Grant expenditures 0 8,900 8,317 583 

Capital Outlay: 
Lot paving 0 0 1,930 
Technol~gy equipment 0 0 193 (193) 
Furniture 1,500 1,500 1,032 468 

Total expenditures $ . 1,282,700 $ 1,311,600 $ 1,204,620 $ 108,910 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ ~568,000) $ (589,300) $ (521,658) $ 69,572 

Other financing sources: 
Transfers in $ 568,000 $ 568,000 $ 567,933 $ (67) 

Total other financing sources $ 568,000 $ 568,000 $ 567,933 $ (67) 

Net change in fund balances $ 0 $ (21,300) $ 46,275 $ 69,505 

Fund balance at beg~g afyear 547,617 547,617 547,617 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 547,617 $ 526,317 $ 593,892 $ 69,505 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNES~EE 
DRUGENFORCEMrnNTFUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

. Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Revenues: 
Fines and forfeitures $. 40,000 $ 15,000 0$ 14,025 $ (975) 0 

Interest 0 0 227 227 
Miscellaneous: 

Sale of vehicles 0 16,000 16,149 149 
Other miscellaneous 0 0 500 500 

Total revenues $ 40,000 $ 31,000 $ 30,901 $ (99) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public safety: 

Part-time wages $ 07,400 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Social security 600 0 0 0 

Seized vehicles 2,500 2,500 3,008 (508) 

Subscriptions and memberships 900 900 900 0 

Investigative funds 41,000 41,000 41,000 0 

Telephone 2,700 3,900 3,277 623 

Vehicle maintenance 12,000 12,000 2,894 9,106 

Travel and training 10,000 7,900 2,537 5,363 

Equipment maintenance 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 

Batteries 600 0 0 0 

Audio/video tapes 500 0 0 0 

Detective supplies 1,000 1,000 506 494 

Office supplies 1,500 500 15 485 

OSHA safety supplies 500 0 0 0 

Uniforms 1,400 1,400 1,400 0 

Drug education 2,500 2,500 2,500 0 

Gasoline 8,700 8,700 6,586 2,114 

Canine supplies 2,500 0 0 0 

Miscellaneous 500 500 105 395 

Equipment 10,000. 20,000 1,649 18,351 

Total expenditures $ 110,800 $ 106,800 $ 66,377 $ 40,423 

o Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures $ (700,800) $ (75,800) $ (35,476) $ 40,324 

Fund balance at beginning of year 108,108 108,108 108,108 0 

Fundobalance at end of year $. 37,308 $ 32,308 0$ 72,632 $ 40,324 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION PLANNING ORGANIZATION FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmentai: 
Federal grant $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 94,372 $ (105,628) 

Total revenues $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 94,372 $ (105,628) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

General government: 
MPOPlan#55 

Salaries $ 52,000 $ 52,000 $ 25,685 $. 26,315 
Consultant services 150,000 150,000 66,710 83,290 
Benefits 17,900 17,900 8,793 9,107 
Postage and shipping 1;000 1,000 5 995 
Printing and publications 4,500 4,500 2,298 2,202 
Telephone 1,700 1,700 1,611 89 
Travel and meeting 2,800 3,400 3,330 70 
Supplies 5,600 5,000 1,741 3,259 
Capital purchase 4,500 4,500 2,050 2,450 

Total expenditures $ 240,000 $ 240,000 $ 112,223 $ 127,777 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ (40,000) $ (40,000) $ P7,851) $ 22,149 

Other financing sources: 
Transfers in $ 40,000 $ 40,000 $ 40,000 $ 0 

Total other financing sources $ 40,000 $ 40,000 $ 40,000 $ 0 

Net change in fund balances $ 0 $ 0 $ 22,149 $ 22,149 

Fund balance at beginning of year 28,246 28,246 28,246 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 28,246 $ 28,246 $ 50,395 $ 22,149 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
Community Development Block Grant-20 11 $ 0 $ 122,110 $ 132,748 $ 10,638 
Community Development Block Grant-2012 333,000 332,936 207,941 .' (124,995) 

. TIlDA Emergency Shelter Grant 2011 68,000 75,000 57,974 (17,026) 
TIlDA Emergency Shelter Grant 2012 0 107,456 47,021 (60,435) 

Total revenues $ 401,000 $ 637,502 $ 445,684 $ (191,818) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Community development: 
Administration: 
Salaries $ 51,200 $ 52,401 $ 52,393 $ 8 
Longevity 350 350 350 0 
Christmas bonus 100 550 530 20 
Dental insurance 600 600 534 66 
Social security 4,000 4,100 3,758 342 
Health insurance 8,800 9,800 10,049 (249) 
Retirement 8,700 8,900 8,854 46 
Life insurance and disability 700 700 659 41 
Printing 400 400 312 88 
Advertising 800 500 354 146 
Telephone 1,450 1,450 696 754 
Travel and training 1,200 850 204 646 
Office supplies 1,200 1,000 0 1,000 

Gasoline 1,000 1,000 224 776 
Miscellaneous 1,000 100 23 77 

Codes Enforcement: 
Salaries 35,200 35,900 35,892 8 
Longevity 350 350 350 0 

Christmas bonus 100 550 530 20 

Dental insurance 300 300 290 10 
Social security tax 2,800 2,800 2,851 (51) 

Health insurance 4,800 5,300 5,234 66 

Retirement 6,000 6,100 6,112 (12) 

Life insurance 450 450 448 2 
Laundry and dry cleaning 600 100 0 100 

Printing 400 100 0 100 

Advertising . 100 100 37 63 

Telephone 1,500 1,500 734 766 

Legal services 300 200 0 200 
Vehicle maintenance 1,500 1,500 1,216 284 

Travel and training 500 150 100 50 

Office supplies 300 300 130 170 

Clothing allowance 400 400 130 270 

Gasoline 1,500 2,000 1,873 127 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT FUND (Continued) 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Bud~eted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued): 
Current - (Continued): 

Community development - (Continued): 
Codes Enforcetnent - (Continued): 

Insurance - vehicles $ 500 $ 300 $ 260 $ 40 

Miscellaneous 400 400 0 400 
Emergency shelter: 

Shelter operations 2011 65,000 71,625 57,974 13,651 
Administrative costs 2011 3,000 3,375 0 3,375 
Shelter operations 2012 0 102,620 47,022 55,598 
Administrative costs 2012 0 4,836 0 4,836 

Capital outlay: 

Land acquisition - College Hill recreation 0 45,602 45,602 0 

Community Center 0 87,363 87,363 0 

Mosby Park pool 119,436 112,540 0 112,540 

Downpayment assistance 24,064 24,000 24,000 0 

Acquisition of property - housing 65,000 61,040 61,037 3 

Total Expenditures $ 416,000 $ 654,502 $ 458,125 $ 196,377 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ (15,000) $ (17,000) $ (12,441) $ 4,559 

Other financing sources: 
Transfers in $ 15,000 $ 38,199 $ 38,199 $ 0 

Total other financing sources $ 15,000 $ 38,199 $ 38,199 $ 0 

Net change in fund balance $ 0 $ 21,199. $ 25,758 $ 4,559 

Fund balance at beginning of year 27,393 27,393 27,393 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 27,393 $ 48,592 $ 53,151 $ 4,559 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE ASSET FORFEITURE FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Budgeted Amounts 
Original Final Actual 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative) 

Expenditures: 
CUrrent: 

Public safety: 
Equipment 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures 

Fund balance at beginning of year 

Fund balance at end of year 

$ ° $ -'------ 1,311 $ 1,311 _$ ____ 0_ 

...:;,$ ___ ....:0;.... $ 1,311 $ 1,311 ....;.$ ___ .....;0;.... 

$ ° $ 
(1,311) $ (1,311) $ ° 

° 1,311 1,311 ° 
=$=======0= =$======0= =$=======0= =$======0= 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
COPS HIRING RECOVERY GRANT FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
Federal government $ 135,000 $ 149,414 $ .149,415 $ 

Total Revenues $ 135,000 $ 149,414 $ 149,415 $ . 1 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public safety: 
Salaries $ 85,000 $ 93,000 $ 98,750 $ (5,750) 
Christmas bonus 500 1,590 1,590 0 
Dental insurance 700 824 650 174 
Social security 8,000 8,200 7,680 520 
Health insurance 16,000 15,900 11,774 4,126 
Retirement 17,000 24,000 23,200 800 
Life & Disability insurance 800 1,100 985 115 
Worker's compensation 7,000 4,800 4,786 14 

Total expenditures $ 135,000 $ 149,414 $ 149,415 $ (1) 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ ° 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 0 0 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ ° $ 0 $ 0 $ ° 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
2011 BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual . (Negative) 

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental: 

Federal grant $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Total revenues $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public safety: 
In-car Cameras/Server $ 0 $ 3,729 $ 3,729 $ 0 

Total expenditures $ 0 $ 3,729 $ 3,729 $ 0 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ 0 $ (3,729) $ (3,729) $ 0 

Fund Qalance at begin:i:ring of year 0 3,729. 3,729 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
2012 BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Ne~ative) 

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental: 

Federal grant $ 0 $ 28,237 $ 28,237 $ 0 

Total revenues $ 0 $ 28,237 $ 28,237 $ 0 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public safety: 
In-car Cameras/Server $ 0 $ 28,237 $ 28,237 $ 0 

Total expenditures $ 0 $ 28,237 $ 28,23.7 $ 0 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 0 0 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
THDA NEIGHBORHOOD STABILIZATION PROGRAM FUND 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year pnded June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
THDA Stabilization grant $ 0 $ 21,228 $ 21,228 $ 0 

Total Revenues $ 0 $ 21,228 $ 21,228 $ 0 

Expenditures: 
Capital outlay: 

Administration fee $ 0 $ 29 $ 29 $ 0 

Total expenditures $ 0 $ 29 $ 29 $ 0 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures $ 0 $ 21,199 $ 21,199 $ 0 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers out $ 0 $ (21,199) $ (21,199) $ 0 

Total other financing uses $ 0 $ (21,199) $ (21,199) $ 0 

Net change in fund balance $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 0 0 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
TARGETED CRIME REDUCTION PROJECT FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovenimental: 
Federal grant $ 350,000 $ 350,000 $ 304,703 $ (45,297) 

Total revenues $ 350,000 $ 350,000 $ 304,703 $ (45,297) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public safety: 
Salaries $ 67,600 $ 67,600 $ 74,983 $ (7,383) 

. Dental insurance 1,500 1,500 738 762 
Social security 5,200 5,200 5,544 (344) 
Health insurance 18,000 18,000 9,254 8,746 
Retirement 14,000 14,000 15,092 (1,092) 
Life and disability insurance 400 400 863 (463) 
Postage 700 700 0 700 
Printing 1,600 1,600 42 1,558 
Travel and training 2,800 2,800 148 2,652 
Neighborhood watch signs 800 800 0 800 

. Uniforms 700 700 0 700 
Gasoline 1,500 1,500 0 1,500 
Positive action - Boys & Girls Club 87,600 87,600 84,379 3,221 
RPT Program - Juvenile Court 60,100 60,100 36,333 23,767 
Grant Evaluator 19,000 19,000 18,000 1,000 
Project Liaison 11:500 11,500 12,400 (900) 
Behavioral research 57,000 57,000 46,927 10,073 

Total expenditures $ 350,000 $ 350,000 $ 304,703 $ 45,297 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 0 0 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
RECYCLING GRANT FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
State Recycling Grant $ 0 $ 12,000 $ 926 $ (11,074) 

Total revenues $ 0 $ 12,000 $ 926 $ (11,074) 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public works: 
Litter grant expenditures $ 0 $ 15,500 $ 926 $ 14,574 
Training and travel 0 500 0 500 

Total expenditures $ 0 $ 16,000 $ 926 $ 15,074 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures $ 0 $ (4,000) $ 0 $ 4,000 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers in $ 0 $ ·4,000 $ 4,000 $ 0 

Total other financing sources (uses) $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 4,000 $ 0 

Net change in fund balances $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 4,000 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 0 0 0 

Fun~ balance at end of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,000 $ 4,000 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
DEBT SERVICE FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013. 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Revenues: 
Intergovernme~tal: 

Bradley County $ 146,500 $ 146,500 $ 79,284 $ (67,216) 
Interest 2,900 2,900 7,179 4,279 
Miscellaneous: 

Other 83,500 83,500 83,500 0 

Total revenues $ 232,900 $ ·232,900 $ - 169,963 $ (62,937) 

Expenditures: 
Debt service: 

Principal retirement $ 2,260,000 $ 2,260,000 $ 2,197,000 $ 63,000 
Interest and fiscal charges 2,937,000 2,937,000 2,696,605 240,395 

Total expenditures $ 5,197,000 $ 5,197,000 $ 4,893,605 $ 303,395 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ (4,964,100) $ (4,964,100) $ (4,723,642) $ 240,458 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers in $ 4,964,100 $ 4,964,100 $ 4,856,600 $ (107,500) 

Total other financing sources $ 4,964,100 $ 4,964,100 $ 4,856,600 $ (107,500) 

Net change in:fund balances $ 0 $ 0 $ 132,958 $ 132,958 

Fund balance at beginning of year 2,548,507 2,548,507 2,548,507 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 2,548,507 $ 2,548,507 $ 2,681,465 $ 132,958 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Buageted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental 
Federal grant - Economic Development $ 0 $ 53,425 $ 42,774 $ (10,651) 
State grant - Local Interstate Connector 0 2,302,128 1,380,200 (921,928) 
State grant - Roadscapes phase II 0 119,200 0 (119,200) 
State grant - Roadscapes phase ill 0 117,850 0 (117,850) 
Bradley County - LIC 0 1,110,669 649,820 (460,849) 
Bradley County - comprehensive plan 0 24,212. 24,212 0 
Charleston - comprehensive plan 0 5,000 5,000 0 

Interest 0 2,050 2,772 722 
Miscellaneous: 

Sale of assets 0 4,160 4,160 0 
Insurance reimbursement - vehicle 0 0 4,655 4,655 
Insurance reimbursement - equipment 0 0 10,750 10,750 
Veterans Park donations 0 0 10,750 10,750 
Sundry income 0 5,628 13,340 7,712 

Total revenues $ 0 $ 3,744,322 $ 2,148,433 $ (1,595,889) 

Expenditures: 
Capital outlay: 

Legislative and judicial: 
Veterans Park trees $ 0 $ 0 $ 292 $ (292) 
Contingency 0 127,400 0 127,400 

Administration and Finance: 
Office furniture and chairs 0 1,850 1,925 (75) 

Planning and inspection: 
Comprehensive plan 0 95,081 77,767 17,314 

City-wide computer information systems: 
Software maintenance .0 198,586 143,299 55,287 
Travel and training 0 10,200 6,016 4,124 
Miscellaneous 0 100 55 45 
Hardware 0 0 71 (71) 

Police department: 
TML vehicle hail damage 0 26,170 14,212 11,958 
Drug canine 0 15,000 0 15,000 
HV AC equipment 0 10,750 11,250 (500) 

Fire department: 
Fire truck equipment Q 4,000 3,513 487 
Bunker gear equipment 0 160,000 0 160,000 

Public works - street department 
Street paving 0 420,568 420,568 O· 

Roadscapes grant match I 0 51 51 0 
City-wide ITS system 0 936 936 0 
LIConAPD40 0 1,869,68~ 169,694 1,699,9.89 
Roadscapes grant match II 0 149,000 0 149,000 
Roadscapes grant match ill 0 58,032 0 58,032 
LIC on Stone Lake Road 0 2,653,783 2,579,976 73,807 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FUND (Continued) 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures - (Continued) 
Capital outlay - (Continued) 

Public works - street department - (Continued) 
Dalton Pike $ 0 $ 41,500 $ 0 $ 41,500 
Durkee Road project 0 842,068 610,671 231,397 

Public works - state street aid: 
ITS -Apd40 0 50,000 0 50,000 
25th Street & Peerless 0 40,000 0 40,000 

Parks and recreation: 
Used g;reens mower 0 11,864 9,986 1,878 
. Trencher and equipment 0 13,000 13,000 0 
Pool at Community Center 0 65,070 65,260 (190) 
Splash Park at Community Center 0 59,946 59,946 0 
ATV's 0 5,830 0 5,830 
Dalton Pike widening 0 16,736 8,465 8,271 
Lightning damage repairs 0 3,747 0 3;747 
Roof repairs 0 1,428 572 856 

Total expenditures $ 0 $ 6,952,379 $ 4,197,585 $ 2,754,794 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ 0 $ (3,208,057) $ (2,049,152) $ 1,158,905 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfers in $ 0 $ 631,500 $ 809,069 $ 177,569 

Total other financing sources (uses) $ 0 $ 631,500 $ 809,069 $ 177,569 

Net change in fund balances $ 0 $ (2,576,557) $ (1,240,083) $ 1,336,474 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 2,992,459 2,992,459 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 415,902 $ 1,752,376 $ 1,336,474 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
GREENWAY FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental: 
Federal grant $ 0 $ 13,120 $ 13,586 $ 466 

Interest 0 0 56 56 
. Miscellaneous 0 22,600 25,450 2,850 

Total revenues $ 0 $ 35,720 $ 39,092 $ 3,372 

Expenditures: 
Current: 
Culture and recreation: 

Dues $ 0 $ 950 $ 0 $ 950 
Capital outlay: 

Donation PCL restroom 0 1,000 0 1,000 
Phase IV - Raider to Tinsley 0 16,772 16,772 0 
Greenway benches and banners 0 20,130 9,663 10,467 

Total expenditures $ 0 $ 38,852 $ 26,435 $ 12,417 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures $ 0 $ (3,132) $ 12,657 $ 15,789 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 3,132 3,132 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 15,789 $ 15,789 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
FLETCHER PARK. TRUST FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

Expenditures: 
Capital Outlay: 

Fletcher Park expenditures 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 

Fund balance at beginning of year 

Fund balance at end of year 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Budgeted Amounts 
Original Final Actual 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative) 

$ ° $ -'------ 5,403 ..;...$ ____ 0_ ~$ __ ..:...;5,~40;:.::3_ 

$ ·0 $ 
-'------ 5,403 $ 0 ..;...$ __ --'5,:.....40_3_ 

$ o $ (5,403) $ o $ 5,403 

o 5,403 5,403 ° 
==$=======0= =$======0= $ 5,403 =$===5,=40=3= 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SALES TAX CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final ActUal (Negative) 
Revenues: 

Taxes: 
Local 112 sales tax $ 1,850,000 $ 2,214,000 $ 2,168,337 $ (45,663) 
School 112 cent sales tax 925,000 925,000 943,706 18,706 
Lawsuit - City's share 0 1,610,625 1,667,314 56,689 
Lawsuit - School's share 0 150,725 188,882 38,157 

Interest 0 19,000 28,145 9,145 

Total revenues $ 2,775,000· $ 4,919,350 $ 4,996,384 $ 77,034 

Expenditures: 
Capital outlay: 

School land purchase $ 0 $ 420,568 $ 410,103 $ 10,465 
City capital projects 117,611 0 0 0 
EMA cell tower 50,000 41,000 0 41,000 
Street paving 1,635,000 1,062,882 1,062,882 0 
Police vehicles 225,000 420,404 368,527 51,877 
20thlDaiton Pike design 0 36,060 0 36,060 
Firehall #6 survey and design 0 9,500 0 9,500 
Fire training tower survey and design 0 2,000 50 1-,950 
Guthrie Drive Drainage Project 0 30,800 28,720 2,080 
Comprehensive Plan - City Share 0 2,500 0 2,500 
Electronic Document Management 251,139 41,738 34,738 7,000 
Hardware 0 105,000 83,528 21,472 
GIS program 0 78,000 67,274 10,726 
License fees 0 25,000 0 25,000 
GIS flyover 0 5,000 0 5,000 
GIS Rover 0 5,000 0 5,000 
Opticom Signal Equipment 16,250 16,250 15,000 1,250 
MPO paving match 43,000 0 0 0 
Georgetown and 25th Street Intersection ° 5,795 6,145 (350) 
Stormwater mapping 0 300,000 150,000 150,000 
Drainage projects 120,000 111,315 98,646 12,669 
Sidewalk projects 30,000 24,403 20,182 4,221 
MPO - Ocoee/25th Row 74,000 0 0 0 
8thlBowmaniCentiOcoee Drainage 58,000 58,000 7,390 50,610 

MPO - Bike Plan 30,000 0 0 0 
Street sweeper 180,000 180,000 180,000 0 
MPO 17th Street 3R project 0 127,643 0 127,643 
Tinsley Park tennis lights 0 27,289 7,645. 19,644 
Tinsley Park Playground match 0 0 95 (95) 

Greenway - Willow to Inman survey 20,000 20,000 0 20,000 
Waterville improvements 0 173,000 125,235 47,765 
Tinsley Park re~ovation 0 92,900 83,760 9,140 
Greenway - Mohawk extension 0 60,000 0 60,000 
School land purchase 0 0 723,077 (723,077) 
School capital projects 620,000 2,153,868 1,217,544 936,324 

- 120-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SALES TAX CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND (Continued) 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
;.~ 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Expenditures - (Continued) 

Debt service: 
QSCB principal $ 238,000 $ 260,000 $ 2591577 $ 423 
QSCB interest 63,000 63,100 63,024 76 
QSCB fiscal charges 4,000 4,200 4,160 40 
Arnold School Renovation - principal 0 105,400 67,200 38,200 
Arnold School Renovation - interest 0 0 37,803 (37,803) 

Total expenditures $ 3,775,000 $ 6,068,615 $ 5,122,305 $ 946,310 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures $ (1,000,000) $ (1,149,265) $ (125,921) $ 1,023,344 

Other financing sources: 
Transfers in $ 1,000,000 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Total other financing sources $ 1,000,000 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Net change in fund balance $ 0 $ (1,149,265) $ (125,921) $ 1,023,344 

Fund balance at beginning of year 2,169,042 2,169,042 2,169,042 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 2,169,042 $ 1,019,777 $ 2,043,121 $ 1,023,344 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SPRlNG BRANCH INDUSTRIAL PARK FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Revenues: 

interest $ 0 $ 0 $ 10,522 $ 10,522 

Total revenues $ 0 $ 0 $ 10,522 $ 10,522 

Expenditures: 
Capital outlay: 

Industrial Park land purchase $ 0 $ 4,918,228 $ 3,181,536 $ 1,736,692 
Environmental costs 0 255,810 255,810 0 
Development costs 0 400,000 0 400,000 

. Debt service: 
Debt issuance costs 0 36,000 36,000 0 

Total expenditures $ 0 $ 5,610,038 $ 3,473,346 $ 2,136,692 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over expenditures -$ 0 $ (5,610,038) $ (3,462,824) $ 2,147,214 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Notes issued $ 0 $ 5,610,075 $ 5,260,075 $ (350,000) 

Total other financing sources (uses) $ 0 $ 5,610,075 $ 5,260,075 $ . (350,000) 

Net change in fund balances $ 0 $ 37 '$ 1,797,251 $ 1,797,214 

Fund balance at beginning of year 0 0 0 0 

Fund balance at end of year $ 0 $ 37 $ 1,797,251 $ 1,797,214 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
MElLER ESTATE ANIMAL SHELTER TRUST FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Budgeted Amounts 
Original Final 

Revenues: 
Interest $ 1,000 $ 1,000 $ 

Total revenues $ 1,000 $ 1,000 $ 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures $ 1,000 $ 1,000 $ 

Fundbalance at beginning of year 459,952 459,952 

Fund balance at end of year $ 460,952 $ 460,952 $ 

Variance 
Positive 

Actual (Negative) 

4,254 $ 3,254 

4,254 $ 3,254 

4,254 $ 3,254 

459,952 0 

464,206 $ 3,254 
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 
 

Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided 
by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the government and to 
other government units, on a cost reimbursement basis. 

 
Fleet Management Fund:  This fund is used to account for the maintenance of all 
vehicles owned by the City of Cleveland.  The City also maintains vehicles for other 
governmental agencies.  
 



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND - FLEET MANAGEMENT FUND 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 
Operating Revenues: 

Charges for services $ 740,000 $ 740,000 $ 624,283 $ (l15,7l7) 

Other operating revenue 200 200 0 (200) 

Total operating revenues $ 740,200 $ 740,200 $ 624,283 $ . (115,917) 

Operating Expenses: 

General and administrative: 

Salaries $ 346,200 $ 339,800 $ 332,700 $ 7,100 

Overtime 5,000 5,000 3,220 1,780 

Longevity 2,900 2,900 . 2,850 50 

Sold vacation 2,700 2,700 1,775 925 
Christmas bonus 900 4,300 4,239 61 
Dental insurance 3,800 3,800 3,348 452 
Social security 26,900 27,400 25,100 2,300 

Health insurance 60,000 60,600 54,794 5,806 

Retirement 58,700 61,100 57,600 3,500 
Life and disability insurance 4,400 4,400 4,061 339 
Worker's compensation claims 500 500 0 500 
Postage 600 600 470 130 
Printing 200 200 0 200 
Advertising 100 100 0 100 
Membership dues 1,000 2,200 2,167 33 
Utilities 23,400 21,000 20;047 953 
Telephone 8,500 9,300 9,116 184 
Vehicle maintenance 5,500 9,900 9,870 30 
Contracted services - vehicle maintenance 110,000 110,000 87,452 22,548 
Building maintenance 5,500 6,500 3,717 2,783 
Central fuel maintenance and supplies 8,000 l3,000 8,831 4,169 
Travel and training 1,000 1,000 129 871 
Pest control 300 300 272 28 
Office expense 3,500 4,100 4,069 31 
Waste disposal services 4,000 4,000 2,252 1,748 
Janitorial supplies 4,400 2,500 1,342 1,158 
Uniforms 3,800 2,400 2,356 44 
Gasoline and oil 6,800 5,900 ~,897 3 
Insurance - building and contents 2,200 2,200 2,045 155 

. Insurance - vehicles 600 700 651 49 
Insurance - general liability 1,800 2,200 2,161 39 
Insurance - worker's compensation 9,800 10,700 10,693 7 
Depreciation 32,000 33,100 32,931 169 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND - FLEET MANAGEMENT FUND (Continued) 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Variance 
Budgeted Amounts Positive 

Original Final Actual (Negative) 

Operating Expenses (Continued): 

Computer software maintenance $ 11,200 $ 11,200 $ 11,070 $ 130 

Miscellaneous 500 500 51 449 

Equipment and tools 5,900 3,400 1,432 1,968 

Computer equipment 1,200 200 0 200 

Total operating expenses $ 763,800 $ 769,700 $ 708,708 $ 60,992 . 

Operating income $ (23,600) $ (29,500) $ (84,425) $ (54,925) 

Non Operating Revenues (Expenses): 

Interest income $ 500 $ 500 $ 263 $ (237) 

Total non operating revenues (expenses) $ 500 $ 500 $ 263 $ (237) 

Income (loss) before contributions 

and transfers $ (23,100) $ (29,000) $ (84,162) $ (55,162) 

Capital contributions 0 0 0 0 

Change in net position $ (23,100) $ (29,000) $ (84,162) $ (55,162) 

Total net position - beginning 1,458,872 1,458,872 1,458,872 0 

Total net position - ending $ 1,435,772 $ 1,429,872 $ 1,374,710 $ (55,162) 
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CAPITAL ASSETS  



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL ASSETS USED IN THE OPERATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

COMPARATIVE SCHEDULE BY SOURCE(l) 

Governmental funds capital assets: 
Land 
Buildings . 
Public improvements other than buildings 
Infrastructure 
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and vehicles 

Total governmental funds capital assets 

Investment in governmental funds capital assets: 

June 30, 2013 and 2012 

2013 

$ 10,276,779 
1O?,448,596 

8,831,753 
54,438,245 
28,607,081 

$ 205,602,454 

2012 

$ 9,108,679 
102,770,320 

7,010,575 
52,612,083 
27,812,591 

$ 199,314,248 

Total governmental funds capital assets $ 205,602,454 $ 199,314,248 

(1) This schedule presents only the capital asset balances related to governmental funds. Accordingly, the 
capital assets reported in the internal service fund are excluded from the above amounts. Generally, the capital 
assets of internal service funds are included as governmental activities in the statement of net assets. 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL ASSETS USED IN THE OPERATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

SCHEDULE BY FUNCTION AND ACTNITY(1) 

June 30, 2013 

Total Other, 
Capital Improve-

Function and Activi!y Assets Land Buildings ments Infrastructure Eguipment 
General Government: 

Administration and finance $ 1,094,258 $ 1,800 $ 396,880 $ 174,681 $ 0 $ 520,897 
General government 781,975 180,600 185,251 370,027 0 46,097 
Community development 519,175 56,361 271,086 1,805 0 189,923 
Library 8,026,587 302,000 4,742,955 0 0 2,981,632 

Total General Government $ 10,421,995 $ 540,761 $ 5,596,172 $ 546,513 $ 0 $ 3,738,549 

Public Safety: 
Police $ 10,266,870 $ 290,097 ,$ 5,179,696 $ 28,017 $ 0 $ 4,769,060 
Fire 8,711,435 461,500 3,078,947 170,228 0 5,000,760 
911 Center 867,618 0 867,618 0 0 0 

Total Public Safety $ 19,845,923 $ 751,597 $ 9,126,261 $ 198,245 $ 0 $ 9,769,820 

Public Works: 
Street Department $ 4,214,473 $ 249,715 $ 318,738 $ 90,681 $ 0 $ 3,555,339 
Engineering 496,985 45,385 146,579 35,130 0 269,891 
Old City Landfill 92,500 63,500 25,000 4,000 0 0 
Primary Roads 8,608,215 67,965 0 0 8,540,250 0 
Secondary Roads 37,995,008 378,887 0 0 37,616,121 0 
Drainage 3,983,945 12,147 0 0 3,971,798 0 
Detention Ponds 3,613,911 770,558 0 0 2,843,353 0 
Sidewalks 1,269,731 0 0 0 1,269,731 0 
Bridges 196,992 0 0 0 196,992 0 

Total Public Works $ 60,471,760 $ 1,588,157 $ 490,317 $ 129,811 $ 54,438,245 $ 3,825,230 

Parks and Recreation: 
Recreation Office $ 918,333 $ 0 $ 0 $ 70,585 $ 0 $ 847,748 
Tinsley Park 2,039,202 211,980 165,860 1,585,033 ' 0 76,329 
Waterville Golf Course 2,483,359 256,816 521,641 1,278,409 0 426,493 
College Hill Center 1,048,613 76,890 231,658 641,524 0 98,541 
Cleveland Community Center 639,249 47,000 376,318 122,138 0 93,793 
Johnston Park 425,000 175,000 0 250,000 0 0 
Deer Park 265,740 90,000 0 175,740 0 0 

Arnold Mini Park 14,565 0 0 14,565 0 0 
Mayfield Mini Park 14,000 0 0 14,000 0 0 
Blythe Mini Park 20,044 9,874 0 10,170 0 0 
Bower Mini Park 61,975 0 14,800 47,175 0 0 
Stuart Mini ~ark 9,5~1 0 0 9,531 0 0 
E.L. Ross Craigmile Park 9,880 0 0 9,880' 0 0 

,East Cleveland Neighborhood 83,698 10,000 3,577 70,121 0 0 
Greenway Project 2,586,723 0 66,802 2,391,434 0 128,487 
Fletcher Park 661,326 64,373 118,973 477,980 0 0 
1 st Street Square Park 535,363 174,595 0 360,768 0 0 
Soccer Complex 390,562 50,000 0 340,562 0 0 

Total Parks and Recreation $ 12,207,163 $ 1,166,528 $ 1,499,629 $ 7,869,615 $ 0 $ 1,671,391 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL ASSETS USED IN THE OPERATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (Continued) 

SCHEDULE BY FUNCTION AND ACTIVITY(1) 
June 30, 2013 

Total Other 
Capital Improve-

Function and Activity Assets Land Buildings ments Infrastructure EquiEment 
Miscellan~ous Properties: 

Central and Church 
parking lot $ 101,000 $ 101,000 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Fourth Street 
parking lot 45,500 45,500 0 0 0 0 
Worth and Central 
parking lot 45,000 45,000 0 0 0 0 

Inman Street 
parking lot 32,500 32,500 0 0 0 0 
Second - Central 
parking lot 53,000 53,000 0 0 0 0 

Blythe Day Care 35,136 15,000 11,336 8,800 0 0 
Animal Control 323,706 0 95,301 60,347 0 168,058 
Kaufman - Second Street 
parking lot 33,000 27,500 0 5,5.00 0 0 

Hargis - First Street parking lot 33,000 27,500 0 5,500 0 0 
Urban renewal lots 87,330 87,330 0 0 0 0 
Hill Street building 1,074 0 1,074 0 0 0 
Seventh and Church Street 
parking lot 21,202 13,780 0 7,422 0 0 

Total Miscellaneous 
Properties $ 811,448 $ 448,110 $ 107,711 $ 87,569 $ 0 $ 168,058 

Cleveland City Schools: 
School Property $ 100,653,118 $ 5,781,626 $ 86,628,506 $ 0 $ 0 $ 8,242,986 
Food Service 1,191,047 0 0 0 0 1,191,047 

Total City Schools $ 101,844,165 $ 5,781,626 $ 86,628,506 $ 0 $ 0 $ 9,434,033 

Total Capital Assets $ 205,602,454 $ 10,276,779 $ 103,448,596 $ 8,831,753 $ 54,438,245 $ 28,607,081 

(1) This schedule presents only the capital asset balances related to governmental funds. Accordingly, the capital assets 
reported in internal service funds are excluded from the above amounts. Generally, the capital assets of internal service 
funds are included as governmental activities in the statement of net assets. 

- 129-



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL ASSETS USED IN THE OPERATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES BY FUNCTION AND ACTIVITY(l) 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Beginning Ending 
Function and Activity Balance Additions Deductions Balance 
General Government: 

Administration and finance $ 1,042,431 $ 51,827 $ 0 $ 1,094,258 
General government 776,692 5,283 0 781,975 
Community development 533,734 1,339 15,898 519,175 
Library 7,855,955 175,788 5,156 8,026,587 

Total General Government $ 10,208,812 $ 234,237 $ 21,054 $ 10,421,995 

Public Safety: 
Police $ 9,967,932 $ 459,393 $ 160,455 $ 10,266,870 
Fire 8,686,725 28,539 3,829 8,711,435 
911 Center 867,618 0 0 867,618 

Total Public Safety $ 19,522,275 $ 487,932 $ 164,284 $ 19,845,923 

Public Works: 
Street Department $ 4,001,966 $ 213,725 $ 1,218 $ 4,214,473 
Engineering 472,620 45,385 21,020 496,985 
Old City Landfill 92,500 0 0 92,500 
Primary Roads 8,291,509 316,706 0 8,608,215 
Secondary Roads 36,828,264 1,166,744 0 37,995,008 
Drainage 3,641,233 342,712 0- 3,983,945 
Detention Ponds 3,613,911 0 0 3,613,911 
Sidewalks 1,269,731 0 0 1,269,731 
Bridges 196,992 0 0 196,992 

Total Public Works $ 58,408,726 $ 2,085,272 $ 22,238 $ 60,471,760 

Parks and Recreation: 
Recreation Office $ 917,733 $ 600 $ 0 $ 918,333 
Tinsley Park 1,865,856 173,346 0 2,039,202 
Waterville Golf Course 1,426,432 1,056,927 0 2,483,359 
College Hill Center 1,038,518 10,095- 0 1,048,613 
Cleveland Community Center 628,463 10,786 0 639,249 
Johnston Park 425,000 0 0 425,000 
Deer Park 265,740 0 0 265,740 
Arnold Mini Park 14,565 0 0 14,565 
Mayfield Mini Park 14,000 0 0 14,000 
Blythe Mini Park 20,044 0 0 20,044 
Bower Mini Park 61,975 0 0 61,975 
Stuart Mini Park 9,531 0 0 9,531 
E.L. Ross Craigmile Park 9,880 0 0 9,880 
East Cleveland Neighborhood 83,698 0 0 83,698 
Greenway Project 1,967,462 619,261 0 2,586,723 
Fletcher Park 661,326 0 0 ~61,326 

1st Street Square Park 535,363 0 0 535,363 
Soccer Complex 390,562 0 0 390,562 

Total Parks and Recreation $ 10,336,148 $ 1,871,015 $ 0 $ 12,207,163 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL ASSETS USED IN THE OPERATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES BY FUNCTION AND ACTIVITY(1) 

Function and Activity 

Miscellaneous Properties: 
Central and Church parking lot 
Fourth Street parking lot 
Worth and Central parking lot 
Inman Street parking lot 
Second - Central parking lot 
Blythe Day Care 
Animal Control 

Kaufman - Second Street parking lot 
Hargis - First Street parking lot 
Urban renewal lots 

Hill Street building 

Seventh anci Church Street parking lot 

Total Miscellaneous Properti~s 

Cleveland City Schools: 

School Property 

Food Service 

Total City Schools 

Total Capital Assets 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2013 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Beginning 
Balance 

101,000 
45,500 
45,000 
32,500 
53,000 
35,136 

320,831 

33,000 
33,000 
87,330 

1,074 

21,202 

808,573 

98,862,075 

1,167,639 

100,029,714 

199,314,248 

Additions 

$ 0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

2,875 

0 
0 
0 

0 

0 

$ 2,875 

$ 2,356,558 

26,235 

$ 2,382,793 

$ 7,064,124 

Deductions 

$ 0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 

0 

0 

$ 0 

$ 565,515 

2,827 

$ 568,342 

$ 775,918 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

. (Continued) 

Ending 
Balance 

101,000 
45,500 
45,000 
32,500 
53,000 
35,136 

323,706 

33,000 
33,000 
87,330 

1,074 

21,202 

811,448 

100,653,118 

1,191,047 . 

101,844,165 

205,602,454 

(1) This schedule presents only the capital asset balances related to governmental funds. Accordingly, the capital 
assets reported in internal service funds are excluded from the above amounts. Generally, the capital assets of 
internal service funds are included as governmental activities in the state~ents of net assets. 
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STATISTICAL SECTION 
 

This part of the City of Cleveland, Tennessee’s comprehensive annual financial report 
presents detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in the 
financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says about 
the government’s overall financial health. 
 
 
Contents                                                                                                          Page 
 
Financial Trends           132 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader 
understand how the government’s financial performance and well-
being have changed over time.      
   

Revenue Capacity           142 
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the 
government’s most significant local revenue sources, the property 
tax and the local sales tax.  

 
Debt Capacity            154 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the  
affordability of the government’s current levels of outstanding debt 
and the government’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.  

 
Demographic and Economic Information        161 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to 
help the reader understand the environment within which the 
government’s financial activities take place.  

 
Operating Information          165 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the  
reader understand how the information in the government’s 
financial report relates to the services the government provides and 
the activities it performs.  

 
 
 
Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the  
comprehensive annual financial reports for the relevant year.  



Governmental activities 
Invested in capital assets, 
net of related debt $ 

Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total governmental activities net assets $ 

Business-type activities 
Invested in capital assets, 
net of related debt $ 

Unrestricted 

Total business-type activities $ 

Primary government 
Invested in capital assets, 
net of related debt $ 

Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total primary government net assets $ 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
NET ASSETS BY COMPONENT 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(accrual basis of accounting) 

2004 2005 

52,526,979 $ 51,571,926 
459,646 459,646 

14,385,306 17,119,787 

67,371,931 $ 69,151,359 

89,150,550 $ 92,033,295 
13,550,964 13,421,845 

102,701,514 $ 105,455,140 

141,677,529 $ 143,605,221 
459,646 459,646 

27,936,270 30,541,632 

170,073,445 $ 174,606,499 

Source: Official record of Office of City Clerk. 

2006 2007 

$ 48,522,525 $ 54,639,891 
459,646 459,740 

22,366,833 22,488,017 

$ 71,349,004 $ 77,587,648 

$ 92,062,798 $ 98,773,538 
16,935,342 14,329,076 

$ 108,998,140 $ 113,102,614 

$ 140,585,323 $ 153,413,429 
459,646 459,740 

39,302,175 36,817,093 

$ 180,347,144 $ 190,690,262 
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2008 

$ 58,694,649 $ 
459,740 

16,590,395 

$ - 75,744,784 $ 

$ 100,513,728 $ 

$ 

$ 

Z2,347,483 

122,861,211 $ 

159,208,377 $ 
459,740 

38,937,878 

2009 

59,721,184 $ 
459,740 

15,821,883 

76,002,807 $ 

112,581,181 $ 
15,355,800 

127,936,981 $ 

172,302,365 $ 
459,740 

31,177,683 

2010 

57,893,731 $ 
473,440 

17,372,612 

75,739,783 $ 

120,603,787 $ 
12,830,051 

133,433,838 $ 

178,497,518 $ 
473,440 

30,202,663 

2011 

66,391,099 $ 
2,926,017 

12,436,686 

81,753,802 $ 

132,342,820 $ 
13,179,002 

145,521,822 $ 

198,733,919 $ 
2,926,017 

25,615,688 

$ 198,605,995 $ 203,939,788 $ 209,173,621 $ 227,275,624 $ 

2012 

66,979,125 $ 
6,449,583 

14,134,054 

87,562,762 $ 

143,097,174 $ 
10,789,348 

Schedule 1 

2013 

68,705,499 
4,903,327 

13,058,791 

86,667,617 

161,335,056 
3,654,232 

153,886,522 =$====16=4~,9=89:f,2=8=8 

210,076,299 $ 
6,449,583 

24,923,402 

230,040,555 
4,903,327 

16,713,023 

241,449,284 $ 251,656,905 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(accrual basis of accounting) 

2004 2005 2006 
EXPENSES 

Governmental activities: 
General government $ 3,325,573 $ 2,391,498 $ 2,693,884 
Community development 539,414 622,028 1,054,852 
Public safety 12,683,638 14,180,863 15,151,467 
Public works 8,138,030 8,429,567 9,265,703 
Health and welfare 500,734 538,263 552,573 
Culture and recreatio~ 2,559,373 2,952,398 2,962,458 
Education 31,429,169 35,475,697 37,495,574 
Interest on long-term debt 2,094,798 1,992,504 2,297,623 

Total governmental activities $ 61,270,729 $ 66,582,818 $ 71,474,134 
Business-type activities: 

Water and sewer $ 15,037,429 $ 16,105,695 $ 17,588,719 
Electric 62,524,728 62,737,439 71,747,592 
Brush Chipping 134,631 140,635 197,614 
Airport 0 0 0 

Total business-type activities expenses $ 77,696,788 $ 78,983,769 $ 89,533,925 

Total primary government expenses $ 138,967,517 $ 145,566,587 $ 161,008,059 

PROGRAM REVENUES 
Governmental activities: 

Charges for services $ 7,127,661 $ 7,706,701 $ 8,200,575 
Operating grants and contributions 27,093,926 29,500,770 31,417;297 
Capital grants and contributions 765,700 2,342,151 1,770,080 

Total governmental activities program revenues $ 34,987,287 $ 39,549,622 $ 41,387,952 

Business-type activities: 
Charges for services: 

Water and sewer $ 16,152,299 $ 16,437,866 $ 17,957,369 
Electric 65,987,477 65,541,717 74,832,241 
Brush Chipping 87,075 202,790 197,167 
Airport 0 0 0 

Operating grants and contributions 0 0 0 
Capital grants and contributions 1,448,663 708,439 1,121,813 

Total business-type activities program revenues $ 83,675,514 $ 82,890,812 $ 94,108,590 

Total primary government program revenues $ 118,662,80 I $ 122,440,434 $ 135,496,542 

Net (Expense) Revenue 
Governmental activities $ (26,283,442) $ (27,033,196) $ (30,086,182) 
Business-type activities 5,978,726 3,907,043 4,574,665 
Total primary government net expense $ (20,304,716l $ (23,126,153l $ {25,511,517l 

GENERAL REVENUES AND OTHER CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
Governmental activities: 

Property taxes $ 8,508,570 $ 8,967,774 $ 14,798,767 
Property taxes - fire 3,805,969 4,019,302 0 
Interest and penalty on taxes 110,668 119,841 133,275 
In lieu of taxes 26,977 19,411 19,829 
Local sales tax 6,912,834 7,186,302 7,601,091 
Wholesale beer tax 1,054,330 1,088,535 1,131,612 
Gross receipts tax 823,885 943,128 821,430 
Franchise tax 494,096 716,475 1,142,767 
State sales tax 2,221,608 2,273,609 2,517,380 
Other state taxes 1,736,563 919,876 1,075,526 
Grants and contributions not restricted 344,205 442,832 481,343 
Unrestricted investment earnings 137,287 621,856 960,778 
Gain on sale of capital assets 0 0 0 
Transfers 1,469,381 1,493,683 1,600,029 

Total governmental activities $ 27,646,373 $ 28,812,624 $ 32,283,827 

Business-type activities: 
Unrestricted investment earnings $ 206,307 $ .340,266 $ 568,364 
Transfers {I ,469,381) (1,493,683) (1,600,029) 

Total business-type activities $. (1,263,074) $ (1,153,417l $ (1,03 1,665) 
Total primary government $ 26,383,299 $ 27,659;207 $ 31,252,162 

CHANGE IN NET POSITIOIN 
Governmental activities $ 1,362,931 $ 1,779,428 $ 2,197,645 
Business-type activities 4,715,652 2,753,626 3,543,000 

Total primary government $ 6,078,583 $ 4,533,054 $ 5,740,645 

Source: Official record of Office of City Clerk. 

- 134-



Schedule 2 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

$ 2,674,062 $ 3,045,455 $ 3,125,773 $ 4,294,917 $ 3,396,302 $ 3,463,066 $ 6,338,456 
882,244 1,071,399 1,052,676 867,709 1,373,602 1,481,745 1,140,908 

15,897,312 18,599,983 19,173,722 18,190,814 18,488,592 18,523,073 18,702,183 

9,080,972 9,076,371 9,442,505 9,913,297 9,725,715 10,047,079 9,539,339 

607,956 659,474 665,951 680,086 699,095 725,353 829,343 
3,451,275 4,387,539 3,807,169 . 4,014,995 3,864,303 4,638,754 4,734,464 

39,363,223 39,878,902 41,239,156 42,725,119 46,137,209 46,792,601 46,972,946 
2,637,740 3,152,029 2,923,763 2,298,214 2,814,385 2,822,451 2,878,690 

$ 74,594,784 $ 79,871,152 $ 81,430,715 $ 82,985,151 $ 86,499,203 $ 88,494,122 $ 91,136,329 

$ 18,626,226 $ 20,426,089 $ 20,856,642 $ 20,890,587 $ 21,254,266 $ 21,547,173 $ 22,183,642 
75,438,689 79,179,669 91,699,799 83,803,232 92,666,017 91,125,591 93,526,162 

221,463 176,191 144,655 159,000 0 0 0 
0 206,011 52,591 263,379 62,617 51,203 ' 573,288 

$ 94,286,378 $ 99,987,960 $ 112,753,687 $ 105,116,198 $ 113,982,900 $ 112,723,967 $ 116,283,092 

$ 168,881,162 $ 179,859,112 $ 194,184,402 $ 188,101,349 $ 200,482,103 $ 201,218,089 $ 207,419,421 

$ 7,540,322 $ 7,837,356 $ 7,644,180 $ 7,331,254 $ 7,618,007 $ 7,308,364 $ 6,394,007 
31,719,118 34,905,174 35,612,093 37,462,812 42,206,859 42,136,892 42,650,493 

5,605,567 2,767,768 1,914,789 2,302,461 5,806,175 2,823,302 1,622,538 
$ 44,865,007 $ 45,510,298 $ 45,171,062 $ 47,096,527 $ 55,631,041 $ 52,268,558 $ 50,667,038 

$ 19,411,182 $ 20,208,450 $ 20,724,856 $ 20,356,004 $ 21,846,514 $ 23,391,403 $ 23,006,832 
77,279,666 80,786,137 94,209,090 86,785,472 96,353,160 94,456,322 96,146,039 

234,142 187,296 130,710 0 0 0 0 
0 12,781 17,484 16,775 11,645 15,719 123,841 

90,324 40,523 270,000 ·3,549 5,569 174,663 45,097 
2~282,693 8,879,491 3,685,707 4,882,848 9,401,737 4,800,720 9,622,580 

$ 99,298,007 $ 110,114,678 $ 119,037,847 $ 112,044,648 $ 127,618,625 $ 122,838,827 $ 128,944,389 

$ 144,163,014 $ 155,624,976 $ 164,208,909 $ 159,141,175 $ 183,249,666 $ 175,107,385 $ 179,611,427 

$ (29,729,777) $ (34,360,854) $ (36,259,653) $ (35,888,624) $ (30,868,162) $ (36,225,564) $ (40,469,291) 
5,011,629 10,126,718 6,284,160 6,928,450 13,635,725 10,114,860 12,661,297 

$ (24,718,148) $ (24,234,136) $ (29,975,493) $ (28,960,174) $ (17,232,437) $ (26,110,704) $ (27,807,994) 

$ 15,480,244 $ 15,497,594 $ 15,848,544 $ 16,465,931 $ 16,629,270 $ 16,497,090 $ 16,598,001 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

150,071 156,498 131,485 194,301 275,607 270,429 232,829 
30,136 19,208 22,112 90,822 77,898 281,289 247,400 

8,018,692 7,929,077 8,389,829 9,840,465 10,173,414 11,726,645 11,842,883 
1,162,392 1,206,434 1,239,216 1,245,869 1,303,212 1,490,010 1,514,062 

857,958 883,959 939,795 913,170 962,609 1,103,755 1,139,178 
1,041,053 992,888 929,622 953,496 843,753 790,234 874,574 
2,702,704 2,685,932 2,454,675 2,397,165 2,505,215 2,803,138 2,857,391 
1,800,451 2,116,359 2,513,984 1,298,234 1,685,668 2,046,650 1,955,994 

633,364 738,101 455,312 536,334 605,104 708,181 566,435 
1,203,574 527,603 80,157 27,007 50,070 58,173 79,556 

0 0 1,893,766 (59,455) (22,362) 4,085 49,317 
1,688,551 1,526,951 1,619,179 1,722,261 1,792,723 1,893,518 1,616,526 

$ 34,769,190 $ 34,280,604 $ 36,517,676 $ 35,625,600 $ 36,882,181 . $ 39,673,197 $ 39,574,146 

$. 781,396 $ 595,448 . $ 410,789 $ 290,668 $ 244,982 $ 143,358 $ 55,945 
(1,688,551 ) (1,526,951 ) (1,619,179) (I! 722,261) (1,792,723 } (I,893,518} (I,616,526} 

$ (907,155) $ (931,503) $ (1,208,390) $ (1,431,593} $ (I,547,741} $ (1,750,160) $ (1,560,581) 
$ 33,862,035 $ 33,349,101 $ 35,309,286 $ 34,194,007 $ 35,334,440 . $ 37,923,037 $ 38,013,565 

$ 5,039,413 $ (80,250) $ 258,023 $ (263,024) $ 6,014,019 $ 3,447,633 $ (895,145) 
4,104,474 9,195,215 5,075,770 5,496,857 12,087,984 8,364,700 11,100,716 

$ 9,143,887 $ 9,114,965 $ 5,333,793 $ 5,233,833 $ 18,102,003 $ J 1,812,333 $ 10,205,571 
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FunctionlProgram 
Governmental activities: 

General government 
Community development 
Public safety 
Public works 
Health and welfare 
Culture and recreation 
Education 

Subtotal governmental activities 

Business-type activities 
Water and sewer 
Electric 
Brush Chipping 
Airport 

Subtotal business-type activities 

Total primary government 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
PROGRAM REVENUE BY FUNCTIONIPROGRAM 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(accrual basis of accounting) 

2004 2005 

$ 117,132 $ 141,362 $ 
569,681 599,802 

3,130,973 4,046,913 
3,880,121 3,861,476 

253,654 265,624 
848,808 1,407,893 

26,186,918 29,226,552 

$ 34,987,287 $ 39,549,622 $ 

$ 17,600,962 $ 17,146,305 $ 
65,987,477 65,541,717 

87,075 202,790 
0 0 

$ 83,675,514 $ 82,890,812 $ 

$ 118,662,801 $ 122,440,434 $ 

Source: Official record of Office of City Clerk. 

2006 2007 

144,712 $ 94,478 
845,564 942,799 

4,037,012 3,280,867 
3,740,271 3,394,983 

223,382 272,474 
1,011,707 1,124,039 

31,385,304 35,755,367 

41,387,952 $ 44,865,007 

19,079,182 $ 21,784,199 
74,832,241 77,279,666 

197,167 234,142 
0 0 

94,108,590 $ 99,298,007 

135,496,542 $ 144,163,014 
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Schedule 3 

200~ 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

$ 135,035 $ 92,145 $ 379,084 $ 234,666 $ 116,736 $ 134,104 
925,752 554,623 656,137 1,472,042 1,548,127 1,509,789 

3,593,229 3,500,312 3,780,466 3,488,411 3,516,915 2,526,039 
5,130,737 4,609,105 3,556,569 5,889,898 5,431,881 4,909,092 

327,852 358,574 376,131 356,526 353,828 428,573 
1,497,747 1,533,839 1,349,080 948,610 1,041,708 933,323 

33,899,946 34,522,464 36,999,060 43,240,888 40,259,363 40,226,118 

$ 45,510,298 $ 45,171,062 $ 47,096,527 $ 55,631,041 $ 52,268,558 $ 50,667,038 

$ 21,065,966 $ 23,133,452 $ 21,801,228 $ 22,650,899 $ 24,677,84.3 $ 23,149,324 
80,826,660 94,209,090 86,785,871 96,353,979 94,477,235 96,521,141 

187,296 130,710 0 0 0 ° 8,034,756 1,564,595 3,457,549 8,613,747 3,683,749 9,273,924 

$ 110,114,678 $ 119,037,847 $ 112,044,648 $ 127,618,625 $ 122,838,827 $ 128,944,389 

$ 155,624,976 $ 164,208,909 $ 159,141,175 $ 183,249,666 $ 175,107,385 $ 179,611,427 
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General Fund 
Norupendable 
Unassigned 
Unreserved 

Total general fund 

All Other Governmental Funds: 
Nonspendable 
Restricted 
Committed 
Assigned 
Unreserved, reported in: 

Special revenue funds 
Debt service funds 
Capital projects funds 
Permanent funds 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
FUND BALANCES, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

(modified accrual basis of accounting) 

2004 2005 

$ 0 $- 0 
0 0 

5,771,581 6,667,277 

$ 5,771,581 $ 6,667,277 

$ 0 $ 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 

3,526,721 4,797,634 
1,467,483 1,647,744 
2,013,662 1,998,815 

2,148 8,315 

Total all other governmental funds $ 7,010,014 $ 8,452,508 

Source: Official record of Office of City Clerk. 

2006 2007 

$ 0 $ 0 
0 0 

7,861,168 8,642,201 

$ 7,861,168 $ 8,642,201 

$ 0 $ 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 

3,942,290 3,910,827 
2,602,622 -3,146,620 
6,045,791 5,871,288 

21,825 28,697 

$ 12,612,528 $ 12,957,432 
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Schedule 4 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

$ 0- $ 0 $ 0 $ 4,067 $- 4,193 $ 4,079 
0 0 0 10,152,078 11,955,804 12,388,007 

8,670,275 8,771,673 9,115,200 0 0 0 

$ 8,670,275 $ 8,771,673 $ 9,115,200 $ 10,156,145 $ 11,959,997 $ 12,392,086 

$ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 473,636 $ 473,636 $ 473,636 
0 0 0 2,452,381 3,068,100 3,101,853 
0 0 0 812,939 869,249 728,768 
0 0 0 7,165,754 9,287,308 10,357,450 

3,803,130 2,868,027 3,542,121 0 0 0 
2,692,706 2,849,584 3,246,244 0 0 0 
2,086,748 1,957,547 3,133,624 0 0 0 

20,122 6,647 521 0 0 0 

$ 8,602,706 $ 7,681,805 $ 9,922,510 $ 10,904,710 $ 13,698,293 $ 14,661,707 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(modified accrual basis of accounting) 

2004 2005 2006 
REVENUES 

Taxes $ 21,820,687 $ 23,050,456 $ 25,598,961 
Licenses and permits 614,120 499,409 511,731 
Intergovernmental 32,780,677 36,107,621 36,272,316 
Fines and forfeitures 897,881 1,135,822 1,863,507 
Charges for services 3,969,522 4,205,563 5,852,986 
Interest 137,286 621,858 960,812 
Miscellaneous 795,869 775,016 982,971 

Total Revenues $ 61,016,042 $ 66,395,745 $ 72,043,284 

EXPENDITURES 
General government $ 1,929,123 $ 2,035,118 $ 2,053,861 
Community development 446,997 563,108 961,245 
Public safety 12,010,132 13,133,222 13,692,605 
Public works 6,152,910 7,054,780 7,664,026 
Health and welfare 379,761 428,047 415,101 
Culture and recreation 2,321,247 2,414,280 2,692,519 
Education 29,924,557 32,955,018 34,023,865 
Appropriations 856,465 858,485 996,770 
Capital outlay 2,970,045 4,316,712 12,123,365 
Debt service: 

Interest 2,112,091 2,087,467 1,380,000 
Principal 1,430,000 1,355,000 2,245,522 

Total Expenditures $ 60,533,328 $ 67,201,237 $ 78,248,879 

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures $ 482,714 $ (805,492) $ (6,205,595) 

OTHER FINANCING 
SOURCES (USES) 

Transfers in $ 12,908,687 $ 13,883,341 $ 17,533,104 
Transfers out (11,439,306) (l2,414,658) (l5,933,075) 
Notes issued 703,200 1,025,000 9,836,795 
Bonds issued ° ° ° Capital leases issued ° ° ° Refunding bonds issued ° 10,580,000 ° Premium on bonds issued ° ° ° Payment to refunding bond escrow agent ° (l0,483,075) ° 
Total other financing 

sources (uses) $ 2,172,581 $ 2,590,608 $ 11,436,824 

Net change in fund balances $ 2,655,295 $ 1,785,116 $ 5,231,229 

Debt service as a percent of 
noncapital expenditures 6.15% 5.47% 5.48% 

Source: Official record of Office of City Clerk. 

2007 

$ 26,692,073 
540,832 " 

41,769,671 
1,179,606 
5,851,999 
1,203,574 

969,776 

$ 78,207,531 

$ 2,266,987 
770,395 

14,622,596 
7,710,740 

483,957 
2,883,687 

35,296,056 
1,061,885 

24,865,184 

1,495,000 
2,592,796 

$ 94,049,283" 

$ (15,841,752) 

$ 15,587,872 
(13,899,321) 

9,163,205 
6,100,000 

° ° ° ° 
$ 16,951,756 

$ 1,110,004 

5.78% 
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Schedule 5 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

$ 26,427,496 $ 27,162,225 $ 29,323,204 $ 30,419,645 $ 31,817,105 $ 34,059,819 
568,441 341,384 377,132 584,538 427,088 432,178 

41,534,518 41,359,146 43,498,396 51,877,725 49,795,300 49,121,532 

990,387 884,237 958,249· 872,680 716,361 548,657 
6,162,803 6,317,883 6,010,112 6,160,788 6,164,915 5,4l2,247 

527,698 80,159 27,007 50,905 58,173 79,614 
2,066,056 3,134,650 1,236,941 833,158 689,868 748,627 

$ 78,277,399 $ 79,279,684 $ 81,431,041 $ 90,799,439 $ 89,668,810 $ 90,402,674 

$ 2,260,515 $ 2,386,824 $ 2,429,060 $ 2,376,498 $ 2,243,393 $ 2,286,876 
854,944 876,634 783,855 760,472 828,940 926,915 

16,066,722 17,004,076 15,793,335 16,638,957 16,334,062 16,364,461 
7,679,981 8,107,529 8,075,972 8,412,481 8,242,610 7,917,343 

497,414 493,166 506,882 533,470 548,043 654,628 
3,314,547 3,052,883 3,188,748 3,254,143 3,352,727 3,864,417 

38,597,871 38,826,465 40,237,280 43,728,161 43,685,843 44,673,856 
1,088,089 1,083,718 1,072,554 1,070,897 1,070,066 1,074,137 
9,730,177 7,979,274 7,708,385 11,792,319 .8,380,283 12,573,516 

1,816,428 2,015,129 1,939,428 2,282,667 2,477,857 2,691,153 
3,148,679 3,191,643 2,896,597 2,748,022 2,771,273 2,856,470 

$ 85,055,367 $ 85,017,341 $ 84,632,096 $ 93,598,087 $ 89,935,097 $ 95,883,772 

$ (6,777,968) $ (5,737,657) $ (3,201,055) $ (2,798,648) $ (266,287) $ (5,481,098) 

$ 14,898,717 $ 13,963,115 $ 13,766,312 $ 14,513,077 $ 14,792,877 $ 14,716,372 
(13,371,766) (12,343,936) (12,044,051) (12,720,354) (12,899,360) (13,099,846) 

951,300 3,761,400 4,160,000 312,203 2,615,335 5,260,075 

° ° ° ° ° ° 0 ° ° 394,272 354,870 ° ° 25,525,000 24,960,000 ° ° ° ° 19,831 265,800 ° ° ° 
° (25,337,924) (24,652,000) ° ° ° 

$ 2,478,251 $ 5,587,486 $ 6,456,061 $ 2,499,198 $ 4,863,722 $ 6,876,601 

$ (4,299,717) $ (150,171) $ 3,255,006 $ (299,450) $ 4,597,435 $ 1,395,503 

6.59% 6.76% 6.29% 6.18% 6.28% 6.43% 
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Fiscal 
Year Property 

2004 $ 12,397,898 $ 
2005 12,976,764 
2006 14,748,957 
2007 15,431,771 
2008 15,239,432 
2009 15,510,166 
2010 16,099,996 
2011 16,783,152 
2012 16,701,263 
2013 16,628,885 

Change 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
TAX REVENUES BY SOuRCE, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

-LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(modified accrual basis of accounting) 

Interest & Local Wholesale Gross 
Penalty In lieu Sales Beer Receipts 

110,668 $ 26,977 $ 6,912,834 $ 1,054,330 $ 823,885 
119,841 19,411 7,186,302 1,088,535 943,128 
133,275 19,829 7,601,091 1,131,612 821,430 
150,071 30,136 8,018,692 1,162,392 857,958 
156,498 19,208 7,929,077 1,206,434 883,959 
131,485 22,112 8,389,829 1,239,216 939,795 
194,301 90,822 9,840,465 1,245,869 898,254 
275,607 77,898 10,173,414 1,303,212 962,609 
270,429 281,289 11,180,125 1,490,010 1,103,755 
232,828 247,400 13,422,892 1,514,062 1,139,178 

2004-2013 34.1% 110.4% 817.1% 94.2% 43.6% 38.3% 

Source: Official record of Office of City Clerk. 

Note: The City sales tax rate was increased by a referendum of city voters in March 2009 
and became effective May 1, 2009. 

Schedule 6 

Franchise Total 

$ 494,095 $ 21,820,687 
716,475 23,050,456 

1,142,767 25,598,961 
1,041,053 26,692,073 

992,888 26,427,496 
929,622 27,162,225 
953,497 29,323,204 
843,753 30,419,645 
790,234 31,817,105 
874,574 34,059,819 

77.0% 56.1% 
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Fiscal 
Year 

2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 

Source: 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
ASSESSED AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL V ALOE OF REAL TAXABLE PROPERTY 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS . 

Commercial 
Residential Industrial Personal 

Property Property Property 

$ 286,348,893 '$ 311,879,339 $ 134,709,868 
291,220,041 336,880,151 . 137,794,077 
327,728,811 390,439,469 152,699,708 
340,457,413 411,504,084 160,482,176 
348,565,598 423,629,888 145,922,372 
356,217;401 435,670,644 146,945,263 
407,963,297 504,682,708 168,029,054 
408,183,737 512,067,105 170,815,182 
413,982,981 509,365,475 162,580,268 
410,787,511 522,433,859 168,476,998 

Bradley County Assessor of Property. 

(1) The State of Tennessee, Division of Property Assessment has conducted a comprehensive reappraisal 
for tax year 1999, which is reflected in the FY 2000 financial statements. In tax year 2002, the State performed 
a current value update which is reflected in the FY 2003 financial statements. In tax year 2005, the State 
conducted a comprehensive reappraisal which is reflected in the FY 2006 financial statements. In tax year 
2009, conducted a comprehensive reappraisal which is reflected in the FY 2010 financial statements. Public 
utility assessments increased in tax year 1999. A statewide court ruling awarded reduction in the assessment 
ration from 55% to 40% for specific public utilities. After several years of appeals BellSouth assessments 
were also reduced. 

(2) Property in Bradley County is reassessed once every four years on average. The county assesses property 
at approximately 40 percent of actual value for commercial and industrial property and 25 percent for 
residential property. Estimated actual taxable value is calculated by dividing taxable assessed value by 
those percentages. Tax rates are per $100 of assessed value. 
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Schedule 7 

Total Estimated Taxable Assessed 
Total Taxable Direct Actual Value as a 

Public Assessed Tax Taxable Percentage of 
Utilities Value Rate Value Actual Taxable Value 

$ 22,495,636 $' 755,433,736 $ 1.65 $ 2,428,860,720 . 31.1 % 
22,257,531 788,151,800 1.65 2,520,548,708 31.3 
24,725,621 895;593,609 1.65 2,856,172,605 31.4 
25,365,823 937,809,496 1.65 2,987,247,780 31.4 
22,151,480 934,734,388 1.65 2,972,811,888 31.4 
22,742,171 980,743,876 1.65 3,121,695,808 31.4 
24,313,598 1,105,399,124 1.4904 3,512,121,976 31.5 
23,460,241 1,114,657,624 1.4904 3,539,305,277 31.5 
22,703,062 1,093,599,102 1.4904 3,478,643,702 31.4 
23,526,358 1,120,733,942 1.4904 3,552,824,352 31.5 
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City 

Fiscal Direct 
Year Rate 

2004 $ 1.65 $ 

2005 1.65 

2006 1.65 

2007 1.65 

2008 1.65 

2009 1.65 

2010 1.4904 

2011 l.ft904 

2012 1.4904 

2013 1.4904 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING PROPERTY TAX RATES 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Overlapping Rates - Bradley County 

General Public Pike County 
Fund Library Road Schools 

0.5544 $ 0.0283 $ 0.1430 $ 0.6972 

0.5544 0.0283 0.1430 0.6989 

0.5137 0.0262 0.1325 0.6411 

0.5147 0.0312 0.1427 0.6529 

0.5147 0.0312 0.1427 0.6495 

0.5147 0.0312 0.1427 0.6503 

0.4570 0.0277 0.1263 . 0.5740 

0.4570 0.0277 0.1263 0.5740 

0.4570 0.0277 0.1263 0.5740 

0.4570 0.0277 0.1263 0.5740 

Source: Bradley County Assessor of Property and Office of the City Clerk. 

Note: The City's basic property tax rate may be increased only by a majority vote of the Cleveland 
City Council. 

*Overlapping rates are those of local and county governments that apply to property owners within 
the City of Cleveland. The combined tax rate is charged to all Cleveland property owners. 

City 
Schools 

$ 0.3331 

0.3277 

0.3101 

0.2999 

0.3014 

0.3006 

0.2695 

0.2695 

0.2695 

0.2695 
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Schedule 8 

OverlaEEing Rates - Bradley County - Continued Total 
Education Total Direct 

Debt Capital Capital Community Bradley and 
Service Projects Projects DeveloEment County Overlapping Rate 

$ 0.4240 $ $ $ $ 2.18 $ 3.83 

0.4240 2.18 3.83 

0.3929 2.02 3.67 

0.2786 0.1000 2.02 3.67 

0.2760 0.1000 0.0019 2.02 3.67 

0.2786 0.1000 0.0019 2.02 3.67 

0.2355 0.0017 0.1003 1.79 3.2824 

0.2355 0.0017 0.1003 1.79 3.2824 

0.2355 0.0017 0.1003 1.79 3.2824 

0.2355 0.0017 0.1003 1.79 3.2824 
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Tax;p,ayer 

Mars Chocolate 

(Masterfoods USA) 

Ocoee Health Corporation 

Duracell Company 

Life Care Centers of America 

Merck (Schering-Plough) 

Peyton's Southeastern 

WaImart 

Southeastern Container 

Johnston Coca-Cola 

Bellsouth 

Whirlpool 

Bradley Square Mall 

Honeywell International 

Fairfield Development 

Totals 

$ 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS 

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO 

2012 
Percentage 

Taxable of Total Taxable 
Assessed Assessed Assessed 
Value Rank Valuation Value 

41,478,778 1 3.76% $ 22,831,496 

37,786,424 2 3.43 

20,304,312 3 1.84 26,806,917 

16,595,126 4 1.51 8,498,542 

13,449,705 5 1.22 

10,466,632 6 0.95 6,339,221 

9,771,458 7 0.89 

8,931,135 8 0.81 

8,389,446 9 0.76 6,452,554 

7,645,558 10 0.6Q 12,044,376 

29,465,085 

8,102,202 

5,408,391 

4,593,850 

$ 174,818,574 15.86% $ 130,542,634 

Source: Bradley County Assessor of Property and Office of the City Clerk. 

Schedule 9 

2003 
Percentage 

of Total 
Assessed 

Rank Valuation 

3 3.12% 

2 3.66 

5 1.16 

8 0.87 

7 0.88 

4 1.65 

1 4.02 

6 1.11 

9 0.74 

10 0.63 

17.84% 

-147 -



Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 
June 30, 

2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 

Source: 

Taxes .Levied 
for the 

Fiscal Year 

$ 12,464,657 $ 
13,004,505 
14,777,295 
15,473,857 
15,514,444 
15,869,700 
16,491,558 
16,608,494 
16,294,716 
16,699,031 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Collected within the 
Fiscal Year of the Levy Collections 

Percentage in Subsequent 
Amount of Levy Years 

11,671,276 93.6 % $ 777,929 
12,257,261 94.3 731,385 
13,963,167 94.5 807,540 
14,486,289 93.6 969,356 
14,406,638 92.9 1,076,191 
14,659,032 92.4 1,151,906 
14,982,438 90.8 1,399,447 
15,383,696 92.6 1,047,759 
15,299,096 93.9 686,001 
15,612,473 93.5 0 

Official records of Office of City Clerk. 

Schedule 10 

Total Collections to Date 
Percentage 

Amount of Levy 

$ 12,449,205 99.9 % 
12,988,646 99.9 
14,770,707 99.9 
15,455,645 99.9 
15,482,829 99.8 
15,810,938 99.6 
16,381,885 99.3 
16,431,455 98.9 
15,985,097 98.1 
15,612,473 93.5 
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Apparel Stores 

General Merchandise Stores 

Food Stores 

Eating and Drinking Places 

Furrciture Stores 

Building Materials 

MY Dealers and Service Stations 

Other Retail 

All Other Outlets 

Total 

City direct sales. tax rate 

CITY OF CLEVELAJ'ID, TENNESSEE 
LOCAL TAXABLE SALES BY CATEGORY 

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS 

2003 2004 

$ 20,067,489 $. 20,838,181 $ 

156,574,634 185,089,441 

88,428,286 82,104,833 

89,273,487 98,404,213 

.. 26,189,600 27,948,716 

61,524,532 71,604,267 

34,550,414 42,391,937 

49,907,813 52,947,959 

106,722,004 114,746,617 

$ 633,238,259 $ 696,076,164 $ 

2.25% 2.25% 

Source: Tennessee Department of Revenue, Research Division. 

Note: Figures subject to revision due to amended taxpayer returns. 

2005 2006 

22,977,123 $ 24,118,354 

186,651,791 194,129,215 

80,325,692 80,846,489 

102,259,368 107,408,150 

28,225,563 29,458,464 

81,440,562 92,086,623 

48,059,604 49,518,509 

56,146,560 56,400,083 

121,559,017 128,462,703 

727,645,280 $ 762,428,590 

2.25% 2.25% 
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Schedule 11 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

$ 24,557,551 $ 23,889,508 $. 23,196,641 $ 22,968,582 $ 23,696,309 $. 24,874,164 

198~812,878 217,069,065 211,669,093 212,408,304 218,850,296 220,486,064 

81,744,415 85,451,136 83,313,624 81,734,875 89,648,300 93,245,397 

110,229,805 114,031,347 113,360,467 115,354,893 125,492,706 ·136,648,212 

25,419,561 29,137,587 20,378,691 18,206,730 24,584,741 17,588,750 

86,587,221 77,945,342 64,311,183 64,449,914 72,925,808 78,397,949 

54,702,390 57;305,039 58,349,439 63,719,429 69,025,064 71,337,280 

54,205,683 53,159,542 54,525,312 56,470,758 59,093,623 61,405,593 

125,169,940 128,726,025 114,423,011 114,343,520 126,459,065 . 139,311,618 

$ 761,429,444 $ 786,714,591 $ 743,527,461 $ 749,657,005 $ 809,775,912 $ 843,295,027 

2.25% 2.25% 2.25%/2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING SALES TAX RATES 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Fiscal 
. Year. 

2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011· 
2012 
2013 

Source: Official records of Office of City Clerk. 

City of 
Cleveland 

and Bradley 
County Rate 

2.25 % 
2.25 
2.25 
2.25 
2.25 

2.25/2.75 
2.75 
2.75 
2.75 
2.75 

Note: The maximum local sales tax rate allowed by Tennessee State law is 2.75%. 

The City sales tax rate was increased by a referendum· of city voters in March 2009 
and became effective May 1, 2009. Bradley County had a subsequent referendum in 
May 2009 which became effective July 1,2009. 

Schedule 12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
LOCAL SALES TAX REVENUE BY INDUSTRY 

FISCAL YEARS 2004 AND 2013 

Fiscal Year 2004 
Number Percentage Tax 
of Filers of Total Liability 

Retail Trade 810 58.91 % $ 12,418,941 

Services 336 24.44 1,057,954 

Manufacturing 87 6.33 611,413 

Wholesale Trade 79 5.75 610,632 

Construction 18 1.31 30,815 

Finance Insurance Real Estate 19 1.38 14,986 

Transportation and Utilities 8 0.58 91,169 

Agriculture 5 0.36 4,999 

Percentage 
of Total 

83.23 % 

7.09 

4.10 

4.09 

0.21 

0.10 

0.61 

0.03 

Other, Non Classified 13 0.95 80,756 0.54 

Total 1,375 100.00 % $ 14,921,665 100.00 % 

Source: Tennessee Department of Revenue, Research Division. 

Notes: 
1. Figures subject to revision due to amended taxpayer returns. 
2. Figures represent local sales tax collected by merchants during the period, not disbursements from the Department 

of Revenue. Thus, amounts presented above do not match to amounts reflected within the financial report. 
3. Changes in local telecommunications sourcing rules in 2003 reduced the number of taxpayers reporting 

in the Transportation and Utilities sector. 
4. Does not include Cleveland's share of county clerk or out-of-state taxpayer amounts. 
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Schedule 13 

Fiscal Year 2013 
Number Percentage Tax Percentage 
of Filers of Total Liability of Total 

836 58.14 % $ 19,313,334 83.26 % 

335 23.30 1,836,775 7.92 

89 6.19 611,183 2.63 

77 5.35 801,320 3.45 

11 0.76 11,415 0.05 

26 1.81 38,392 0.17 

10 0.70 149,713 0.65 

10 0.70 10,276 0.04 

44 3.06 422,724 1.82 

1,438 100.00 % $ 23,195,132 100.00 % 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Governmental Activities 
General 

General Obligation 
Fiscal Obligation Refunding 
Year Bonds Bonds Notes 

2004 $ 11,290,000 $ 8,070,000 $ 24,715,000 

2005 1,225,000 17,095,188 25,535,000 

2006 1,025,000 16,187,020 43,795,000 

2007 6,850,000 15,248,852 44,045,000 

2008 6,370,000 14,275,685 44,664,872 

2009 5,885,000 13,313,207 48,095,182 

2010 5,735,000 36,888,110 27,456,503 

2011 5,580,000 35,194,326 27,361,943 

2012 5,420,000 33,505,542 29,393,873 

2013 5,250,000 31,737,203 33,953,841 

Source: -Official record of Office of City Clerk. 

Source: Percentage of Personal Income and Per Capita data from Schedule 19. 

Capital 
Leases 

$ ° 
° 
° 
° 
° 
° 
° 

375,238 

692,527 

653,351 
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Schedule 14 

Business-type Activities 

Total Percentage 
Revenue Primary of Personal Per 

Bonds Notes Government Income CaEita 

$ 26,279,883 $ 18,531,307 $ 88,886,190 2.58 % $ 2,427 

24,805,694 19,650,000 88,310,882 2.77 2,404 

23,305,462 25,755,000 110,067,482 2.33 2,939 

30,483,212 24,565,000 121,192,064 2.15 3,190 

28,867,336 33,845,000 128,022,893 2.47 3,268 

27,018,821 32,030,000 126,342,210 2.62 3,181 

56,064,782 606,994 126,751,389 2.32 3,102 

61,674,516 792,000 130,978,023 2.40 3,168 

57,968,972 877,265 127,858,179 2.66 3,043 

54,251,865 4,903,981 130,750,241 N/A N/A 
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Fiscal 
Year 

2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2012 

Source: 

$ 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

General Percentage of 
Obligation Actual Actual taxable 

Bonds Taxable ValUe) Value of 
Outstanding of Property . Population Property 

19,360,000 $ 2,428,860,720 37,521 0.8·% 

18,320,188 2,520,548,708 37,914 0.7 
17,212,020 2,856,172,605 38,263 0.6 
22,098,852 2,987,247,780 38,627 0.7 
20,645,685 2,972,811,888 39,333 0.7 
19,198,207 3,121,695,808 39,753 0.6 
42,623,110 3,512,121,976 40,261 1.2 
40,774,326 3,539,305,277 41,285 1.2 
38,925,542 3,478,643,702 41,723 1.1 
36,987,203 3,552,824,352 42,386 1.0 

Official records of Office of City Clerk. 

Note - Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements. 

Schedule 15 

Debt 
Per 

Capita 

$ 516 
483 
450 
572 
525 
483 

1,059 
9.88 
933 
873 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT 

June 30,2013 

Percentage 
of Debt 

Net Debt Applicable 
Outstanding. to the City 

City of Cleveland direct debt $ 71,594,395 100.00% 

Bradley County, Tennessee 73,664,265 54.41% 

Total direct and overlapping debt $ 145,258,660 

. Source: Official records of Office of City Clerk and Bradley County Assessor of Property. 

Note - Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic 
boundaries of the City. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of 
those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and businesses of the City 
of Cleveland. This process recognizes that, when considering the City's ability to issue 
and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses 
should be taken into account. 

For debt repaid with property taxes, the percentage of overlapping debt applicable is 
estimated using taxable assessed property values. Applicable percentages were estimated 
by determining the portion of another governmental unit's taxable assessed value that is 
within the City's boundaries and dividing it by each unit's total taxable assessed value. 

Schedule 16 

City's 
Share 

of Debt 

$ 71,594,395 

40,080,727 

$ 111,675,122 

- 157-



Debt limit 

Total net debt applicable to limit 

Legal debt margin 

Total net debt applicable to limit 
as a percentage of debt limit 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

2004 2005 

$ 75,543,374 . $ 78,815,180 

42,607,517 42,812,256 

$ 32,935,857 $ 36,002,924 

56.40% 54.32% 

2006 2007 

$ 89,559,361 $ 93,780,950 

58,977,378 63,538,380 

$ 30,581,983 $ 30,242,570 

65.85% 67.75% 

Note - Under Tennessee State law, the City's outstanding general obligation debt is not limited. However, 
the City has established a financial policy limit of no more than 10 percent of assessed property value. 

Source: Official record of Office of City Clerk. 
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Schedule 17 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

$ 93,473,439 $ 98,074,388 $ 110,539,9i2 $ 111,465,762 $ 109,359,910 $ . 112,073,394 

63,127,166 64,921,560 67,053,472 65,804,739 66,667,364 69,103,328 

$ 30,346,273 $ 33,152,828 $ 43,486,440 $ 45,661,023 $ 42,692,546 $ 42,970,066 

67.53% 66.20% 60.66% 59.04% 60.96% 61.66% 

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2013 

Total assessed value $ 1,120,733,942 

Legal debt margin: 
Debt limitation - 10% oftotal assessed value 

as adopted by resolution $ 112,073,394 
Debt applicable to limit: 

Total bonded debt $ 131,743,774 
Less: Revenue bonds 59,958,981 

Amount available for repayment 
of general obligation bonds 2,681,465 

Total debt applicable to limit 69,103,328 

Legal debt margin $ 42,970,066 
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Direct 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
REVENUE BOND Co.VERAGE 

WATER AND WASTEWATER BONDS 
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Net Revenue 
Available 

Fiscal Gross Operating for Debt Debt Service Reguirements 
. Year (1) Revenue (2) Expenses Service 

2004 $ 16,152,299 $ 10,030,334 $ 6,121,965 $ 
2005 .16,437,866 11,001,573 5,436,293 
2006 17,992,739 12,061,012 5,931,727 
2007 19,411,182 12,603,637 6,807,545 

. 2008 20,208,450 13,823,995 6,384,455 
2009 20,994,856 14,279,638 6,715,218 
2010 20,359,154 14,338,730 6,020,424 
2011 21,846,514 14,496,608 7,349,906 
2012 23,545,153 14,742,103 8,803,050 
2013 23,545,153 15,292,780 8,252,373 

Source: From official records of Office of City Clerk. 

(1) All revenues except interest income and gain on sale of assets 
(2) All expenses except depreciation, amortization and interest 
(3) Interest expense for year as reflected in audit report 

Principal (3) Interest Total 

1,875,000 $ 1,547,125 $ 3,422,125 
2,145,000 1,5~5,770 3,690,770 
2,315,000 1,703,232 4,018,232 
2,560,000 1,971,336 4,531,336 
2,615,000 2,136,772 4,751,772 
3,275,000 1,930,027 5,205,027 
3,535,000 1,939,915 5,474,915 
2,605,000 1,942,720 4,547,720 
2,928,418 1,888,023 4,816,441 
3,182,356 1,720,182 4,902,538 

Schedule 18 

Coverage 

1.79 
1.47 
1.48 
1.50 
1.34 
1.29 
1.10 
1.62 
1.83 
1.83 
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Calendar 
Year 

2003 

2004 

2005 

2006 

2007 

2008 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS 

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS 

Personal 
Population Income 

37,368 $ 2,336,728 $ 

37,691 2,510,307 

38,186 2,616,694 

38,627 2,650,669 

39,333 2,729,670 

39,753 3,210,000 

40,261 3,367,000 

41,285 2,964,034 

41,723 3,170,403 

42,386 3,434,502 

Per 
Capita 

Personal 
Income 

25,955 

27,572 

28,400 

28,280 

28,600 

29,207 

29,704 

30,335 

31,687 

33,960 

Sources: Population and educational attainment data from U.S. Census. 
Median age calculated by Cleveland Community Development Department from U.S. 

Census data. 
Personal income and Per Capita income from U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. 
Unemployment data from U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. 
School enrollment from Cleveland City Schools. 
Personal income, per capita income, median age and unemployment rate data are for 
Bradley County. 

Median 
Age 

36, 

37 

37 

37 

37 

37 

37 

37 

38 

38 
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Schedule 19 

Annual 
Percent Percent Average 

HighSchool Bachelor's Adjusted 
graduate or degree School . lJnernploynrrent 

higher orbigher Emollment Rate (%) 

73 % 16 % 4,317 5.1 %. 

. 73 16 4,454 5.1 

76 18 4,456 5.3 

76 22 4,503 6.7 

76 22 4,632 7.0 

76 22 4,849 6.4 

76 22 4,869 9.9 

82 25 4,965 9.3 

83 24 5,009 9.0 

83 24 5,423 7.7 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS 

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO 

2013 

Employer Employees Rank 

Whirlpool/Maytag 1,503 

City Government 1,202 

Bradley County Schools 1,200 

SkyRidge Medical Center (Bradley Memorial) 1,147 

Peyton's Southeastern 950 

Lee University 815 

Wal-Mart 640 

Bradley County Government 620 

Amazon 600 

Mars Chocolate (Mars Snackfood US) 577 

Merck (Schering Plough) 537 

Duracell 350 

Jackson Furniture Industries 

Total 10,141 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

Source: ClevelandlBradley Chamber of Commerce and Tennessee Department of Labor & 
Workforce Development 

This schedule should include the ten largest employers, unless fewer are required to reach 
50% oftotal employment. 

Percentage of 
Total Labor Force 
Bradley County 

3.00 % 

2AO 

2.40 

2.29 

1.90 

1.63 

1.28 

1.24 

1.20 

1.15 

1.07 

0.70 

20.25 % 
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Schedule 20 

2004 
. Percentage of 

Total Labor Force 
Employees Rank Bradley County 

2,200 1 4.78 % 

1,087 4 2.36 

800 5 1.74 

1,200 3 2.61 

1,200 2 2.61 

N/A N/A N/A 

N/A N/A N/A 

400 10 0.87 

N/A N/A N/A 

775 6 1.68 

475 9 1.03 

475 8 1.03 

525 7 1.14 

9,137 19.85 % 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE Schedule 21 
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTIONIPROGRAM 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Full-time Eguivalent Em:eloyees as of June 30 
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

FunctioniProgram 

General government 
City Council and legislative 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 
Administration and finance 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 15 14 14 
Community development 7 8 9 10 10 10 8 8 8 8 
Cleveland Regional Jetport 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Police 
Officers 91 90 90 90 92 92 88 94 95 85 
Civilians 11 11 12 12 12 12 11 12 12 11 

Fire 
Firefighters and officers 79 79 82 88 91 97 94 94 94 89 
Civilians 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Public works 
Operations 18 19 23 26 26 26 25 26 26 20 
Engineering 9 9 9 7 7 7 7 7 5 4 
Landscaping maintenance 7 7 8 8 8 8 10 0 0 0 
Solid waste management 13 13 13 13 13 13 14 14 14 13 
Stormwater management fund 0 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 
State street aid 13 12 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 10 
Fleet management 9 9 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 
Brush chipping 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 

Parks and recreation 
Administration and maintenance 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 
Landscaping maintenance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 7 7 
College Hill Recreation Center 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 
Cleveland Community Center 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 
Waterville Golf Course 7 7 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 

Animal control 
Administration and operations 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 

Weed and seed program 2 2 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Community development block grant 0 0 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Subtotal 3.07 308 317 327 331 337 328 332 330 305 

Cleveland Utilities 
Electric division 105 . 105 109 108 114 115 91 89 88 84 
Water/wastewater division 83 83 85 86 86 85 109 102 98 98 

City schools 
Certificated staff 357 357 359 364 370 379 383 387 397 407 
Non-certificated personnel 254 254 253 253 258 263. 268 270 274 277 

Library 11 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 11 11 

Total 1,117 1,118 1,133 1,148 i,169 1,189 1,189 1,190 1,198 1,182 

Source: City Finance Department. 

Note - A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick leave) except City 
School certified staff. 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTIONIPROGRAM 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

2004 2005 
FunctionlProgram 

, General government 
, Building permits issued 438 495 
Value of construction permitted $110,607,005 $56,689,803 

Police 
Parking violations 1,245 1,425 
Traffic violations 6,180 9,609 

Fire 
Emergency responses (city only) 803 884 
Fires extinguished (city only) 138 252 
Fire inspections 450 450 

Public works 
Street resurfacing (tonnage) 434 22,940 
Utility cut permits (# Excavations) 310 346 
Drainage pipe installed (linear ft.) 8,085 7,280 
Tons of brush chipped 1,200 1,188 

Parks and recreation 
Softball league participants 1,450 1,400 
Basketball league participants 350 400 
Football league participants nla nla 
Soccer league participants 638 730 
Rounds of golf played 11,500 11,900 

Library 
Volumes in collection 124,572 128,491 
Circulation 290,461 293,402 
Attendants 215,543 223,546 

City Schools 
Average Daily Membership 

High School 1,109 1,152 
Middle School 1,050 1,069 
Elementary Schools 2,123 2,162 
Ungraded - Special Education 48 72 

ACT composite scores 21.2 20.9 
% of High School graduates nla 75.4 

Electric 
Class of Service # of Customers 

Residential 23,813 2,4,031 
Small lighting and power 3,319 3,382 
Large lighting and power 587 593 
Street and outdoor lighting 135 128 

2006 

460 
$75,980,803 

1,625 
12,143 

1,256 
182 
846 

32,863 
319 

7,644 
1,269 

1,477 
454 
nla 

750 
12,120 

131,099 
326,927 
239,067 

1,385 
1,187 
1,906 

68 
21.3 
84.9 

24,315 
3,407 

649 
129 

Kilowatt-hours purchased 1,130,449,913 1,115,957,513 1,150,136,397 
Kilowatt-hours SQld 1,092,827,383 1,076,529,177' -1,118,005,640 
Line losses and kilowatt-hours 

unaccounted for 37,622,530 39,428,336 32,130,757 
Percentage of losses and unaccounted . I 

for kilowatt-hours to purchases 3.33% 3.53% 2.79% 

2007 

437 
$83,346,627 

1,716 
11,472 

1,313 
140 

2,522 

12,334 
422 

4,953 
1,978 

1,350 
350 
nla 

850 
14,700 

135,000 
348,159 
245,146 

1,203 
1,053 
2,248 

61 
21 
83 

24,541 
3,426 

620 
IJ9 

1,146,736,443 
1,107;755,437 

38,981,006 

3.40% 
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Schedule 22 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 . 2013 

393 247 286 217 360 350 
$107,879,191 $39,596,442 $41,805,750 $43,490,568 $63,587,030 $59,121,927 

1,082 1,349 1,659 1,669 1,130 974 
8,437 6,244 7,617 8,771 5,603 4,060 

1,456 1,932 2,497 2,969 2,939 2,429 
178 135 150 245 136 169 

2,973 2,755 2,713 3,162 2,454 2,208 

6,362 0 3,773 8,669 9,967 18,898 
329 321 290 293 228 229 

7,119 5,995 3,166 5,054 3,901 5,919 
1,080 4,353 5,507 8,523 6,446 8,282 

1,500 1,814 1,820 1,155 1,440 1,500 
184 212 220 200 216 230 
nla 90 258 150 74 80 

875 920 950 950 950 1,000 
12,400 10,000 9,600 3,500 4,000 5,000 

144,202 149,970 149,867 152,407 156,934 161,836 
356,498 356,050 361,590 389,603 421,792 409,206 
251,246 254,440 261,118 269,262 307,291 270,860 

1,274 1,246 1,224 1,254 1,297 1,339 
1,035 1,207 1,117 1,124 1,147 1,200 
2,241 2,315 2,380 2,514 2,567 2,884 

82 81 81 81 81 81 
21 22 20 21 20 20 
82 89 88 81 82 86 

24,672 24,539 24,720 25,003 25,170 25,420 
3,627 3,616 3,652 3,669 3,706 3,720 

647 619 624 647 609 608 
113 115 110 108 188 189 

1,136,162,043 1,095,830,882 1,112,981,850 1,118,790,042 1,090,315,133 1,103,372,115 
1,102,780,890 1,060,994,420 1,078,380,377 1,095,719,182 1,051,139,979 1,072;904,012 

33,381,153 34,836,462 34,601,473 23,070,860 39,175,154 30,468,103 

2.94% 3.18% 3.11% 2.06% 3.59% 2.76% 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTIONIPROGRAM 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS, 

2004 2005 2006 
FunctionIProgram 

Water 
Class of Service # of Customers 

Residential 24,343 24,870 25,414 
Commercial & Industrial 3,091 3,139 3,220 

Gallons purchased 1,050,685,973 1,103,601,315 1,207,869,115 
Gallons pumped 2,599,175,514 2,569,476,656 2,736,379,124 
Gallons sold 2,799,868,500 2,779,692,000 2,895,225,000 
Line losses and gallons unaccounted for 849,992,987 893,385,971 1,049,023,239 
Percentage oflosses and unaccounted 

for gallons to total provided 23.29% 24.32% 26.60% 
Average daily water consumption (gallons) 7,670,873 7,615,595 7,932,123 

Wastewater 
Class of Service # of Customers 

Residential 13,688 13,903 14,255 
Commercial & Industrial 2,398 2,420 2,487 

Capacity daily (thousands of gallons) 21,600 21,600 21,600 
Treatment during fiscal year (gallons) 3,514,220,000 3,778,740,000 2,927,060,000 

Sources: Various city departments. 

2007 

25,898 
3,054 

1,255,708,159 
2,791,321,111 
3,016,467,750 
1,030,561,520 

25.46% 
8,264,295 

14,356 
2,482 

21,600 
2,824,970,000 
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2008 2009 2010 

26,322 26,286 26,465 
3,056 3,017 3,034 

1,411,079,914 1,648,632,220 1,827,886,130 
2,526,119,809 2,107;995,107 1,664,898,520 
3,040,388,250 2,861,916,000 2,668,847,250. 

896,811,473 894,711,327 823,937,400 

22.78% 23.82% 23.59% 
8,329,831 7,840,866 7,311,910 

14,663 14,629 14,792 
2,534 2,502 2,517 

21,600 21,600 21,600 
3,098,910,000 3,482,470,000 3,955,870,000 

20.11 2012 

26,096 26,327 
3,611 3,639 

1,860,475,140 1,845,875,000 
1,785,496,000 1,874,042,670 
2,937,399,663 2,959,307,166 

708,571,477 760,610,504 

19.43% 20.45% 
8,047,670 7,904,814 

14,989 15,156 
2,543 2,553 

21,600 21,600 
3,499,120,000· 3,615,480,000 

Schedule 22 
(Continued) 

2013 

26,496 
3,671 

1,759,640,000 
1,789,485,000 
2,814,193,000 

709,217,000 

19.98% 
7,710,118 

15,267 
2,592 

21,600 
3,995,860,000 
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FunctionlProgram 

Police 
Stations 
Substations 
Patrol units 

Fire 
Stations 
Fire Trucks (pumpers, 

ladders & tankers 

Public works 
. Street (miles) 
Street lights 
Traffic signals 
Pedestrians signals 
Knucklebooms 

Parks and recreation 
Acreage 
Playgrounds 
Softball fields 
Soccer fields 
Tennis courts 
Community centers 
Swimming pools 
Golf courses 

Schools 
Elementary schools 
Middle schools 
High schools 

Library 
Bookmobiles 

Electric 
Electric lines (miles) 
Substations 

Water 
Water mains (miles) 
Fire hydrants 
Storage capacity 
(thousands of gal) 

Wastewater 
Sanitary sewers (miles) 
Treatment capacity 
(thousands of gal) 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTIONIPROGRAM 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

1 
o 

117 

1 
o 

110 
o 

110 

1 
o 

103 

1 
o 

88 

4 4 5 5 5 

10 10 15 15 16 

291 
5,594 

503 
96 

5 

302 
5,738 

517 
88 
6 

321 323 323 
6,020 

566 
56 

6 

5,873 6,047 
540 542 

88 54 
6 6 

292 292 289 289 289 
9 9 8 8 8 
555 5 5 

15 15 15 15 16 
12 12 12 12 8 
2 2 2 2 2 
333 3 3 
1 1 1 1 

7 7 6 6 6 
1 1 1 1 
111 1 

o 1 

500 500 513 518 522 
14 14 15 15 15 

623 688 697 710 728 
2,127 2,228 2,302 2,343 2,416 

14,300 14,300 14,300 14,300 15,300 

269 322 326 329 334 

21,600 21,600 21,600 21,600 21,600 

1 
o 

85 

1 
o 

85 

5 5 

16 16 

323 323 
6,307 5,714 

582 595 
64 70 

5 6 

289 
8 
5 

16 
8 
2 
3 
1 

6 
1 
1 

1 

525 
15 

736 
2,492 

15,300 

347 

21,600 

289 
8 
5 

16 
8 
2 
3 

6 
1 
1 

1 

528 
15 

738 
2,510 

15,300 

355 

21,600 

1 
o 

95 

5 

14 

346 
5,734 

599 
70 

6 

Scheduie 23 

1 
o 

112 

1 
o 

120 

5 5 

14 14 

347 348 
5,844 5,801 

604 613 
70 72 
6. 6 

289 289 289 
8 ·8 8 
555 

16 16 16 
888 
222 
333 
111 

6 6 6 
1 1 1 

1 1 

1 1 1 

528 534 537 
15 15 15 

741 743 750 
2,565 2,571 2,575 

15,300 15,300 15,300 

355 356 359 

21,600 21,600 21,600 

Sources; Various city departments and City Of Cleveland Utilities Electric, Water and Sewer Divisions. 

Notes: No capital asset indicators are available for the general government function. 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE Table 1 

INSURANCE IN FORCE 

ALL FUND TYPES EXCLUDING CLEVELAND UTILITIES 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Type of Coverage and . Policy Policy Details Liability Annual 
Name of Company Number Period of Coverage Limits Premium 

Property Building and TMP-8187 9/1/2012 Buildings, contents,' $ 56,400,422 $ . 72,817 
Contents, Boiler and to boilers, fired vessels 
Machinery, Commercial 8/31/2013 electric steam generators. 
Crime, Inland Marine. Theft, disappearance and 
TML Risk Management destruction. Radio, video 
Pool equipment, mobile equip-

ment, police dogs. 

Comprehensive TML-026R 7/1/2012 General and public Asper $ 353,138 
Liability to officials liability, auto schedule 
TML Risk Management 6/30/2013 liability, auto physical 
Pool damage, personal injury . 

. Excess auto physical 
damage. Airport liability 

Worker's TWC-0187 7/1/2012 Job related injuries, $ 1,000,000 $ 367,631 
Compensation to employees $ 1,000 ded. 
TML Risk Management 6/30/2013 
Pool 

Property (School TNRMT 7/1/2012 Property Various $ 287,815 
Buildings and Contents, to Equipment 
Boiler, Vehicles) 7/1/2013 Liability 

Tennessee Risk 
Management Trust 

Worker's TNRMT 7/1/2012 Job related $ 1,000,000 $ 188,021 
Compensation to injuries, 
Tennessee Risk 7/1/2013 employees 
Management Trust 

- 171 -



CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

INSURANCE IN FORCE 

CLEVELAND UTILITIES 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Cleveland Utilities - Water and Electric Division 

Insurer Type of Coverage 

Distributors Self Insurance Fund Worker's compensation 

Distributors Self Insurance Fund . Employer's liability 

Affiliated FM Real property 

Hartford Machinery and equipment 
breakdown 

Affiliated FM Flood and earthquake 

Chubb General liability (excess) 

Distributors Insurance Co. General liability (primary) 

Chubb Auto liability and 
physical damage 

Zurich-American Public official and employees 

Travelers Casualty & Surety Co. Commercial crime 

North River Umbrella liability 

Lloyd's Corporate Identity 

(1) The general liability insurance policies with Chubb and Distributors Insurance Co. are limited 
to $750,000 and $250,000, respectively, per occurrence. 

Table 2 

Amount 
of Coverage 

Statutory 

$ 1,000,000 

$ 135,471,943 

$ 10,000,000 

$ 10,000,000 

$ 2,250,000 (1) 

$ 750,000 (1) 

$ 1,000,000 

$ 5,000,000 

$ 1,000,000 

$ 15,000,000 

$ 1,000,000 
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Property Taxes 

2012 $ 
2011 
2010 
2009 
2008 
2007 
2006 
2005 
2004 
2003 
2002 

$ 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CHANGES IN PROPERTY TAXES RECEN ABLE 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Balance Collections & 
7/112012 Levies Adjustments 

0 $ 16,699,031 $ 15,612,473 . 
995,620 0 686,001 
404,443 0 227,404 
179,167 0 69,494 
94,119 0 35,357 
32,704 0 1,089 
24,207 0 5,995 

9,832 0 '3,244 
16,293 0 434 
15,643 0 191 
22,227 0 22,227 

1,794,255 $ 16,699,031 $ 16,663,909 

$ 

$ 

Note - Property taxes receivable also include the 2013 levy reported as deferred revenue in the amount 
of$18,781,000. 

Table 3 

Balance 
6/30/2013 

1,086,558 
309,619 
177,039 
109,673 
58,762 
31,615 
18,212 
6,588 

15,859 
15,452 

0 

1,829,377 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CHANGESrNGENERAL 

OBLIGATION BONDS PAYABLE 
For the Year Ended June 30,2013 

General Obligation 
Interest Balance New Bonds Bonds 
Rates 07/01112 I~sued Retired 

General Improvement Refunding Bonds 
Series 2005 
Maturing 2024 3.00-5.00% $ 9,795,000 $ 0 $ 215,000 

General Improvement Bonds 
Series 2007 A 
Maturing 2037 4.00-5.00% 5,420,000 0 170,000 

General Improvement Refunding Bonds 
Series 2009B 
Maturing 2012 3.00% 685,000 0 685,000 

General Improvement Refunding Bonds 
Series 2009C 
Maturing 2031 2.00-4.50% 15,335,000 0 550,000 

General Improvement Refunding Bonds 
Series 2009D 
Maturing 2022 2.00-4.00% 7,860,000 0 330,000 

Total General 
Obligation Bonds $ 39,095,000 $ 0 $ . 1,950,000 

Table 4 

Balance 
06/30/13 

$ 9,580,000 

5,250,000 

0 

14,785,000 

7,530,000 

$ 37,145,000 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
CHANGES IN REVENUE BONDS PAYABLE 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Revenue 
Balance· New Bonds 
07/01112 Issued 

Water, sewer & electric revenue and tax 
bonds, maturing through 2037 
Due September 2013 - 2.00% to 3.50% $ 955,000 $ ° $ 
Due September 2028 - 2.00% to 4.375% 10,780,000 ° Due June 2037 - 4.00% to 5.00% 8,145,000 ° Due June 2015 - 2.00% to 3.00% 1,760,000 ° Due June.2028 - 2.00% to 4.375% 17,920,000 0 
.Due June 2028 - 2.50% to 4.25% 10,970,000 ° DueJune2031-1.00%to 5.75% 8,345,000 ° 

Total Revenue Bonds $ 58,875,000 $ ° $ 

Table 5 

Bonds Balance 
Retired 06/30/13 

495,000 $ 460,000 
975,000 9,805,000 
165,000 7,980,000 
780,000 980,000 
525,000 17,395,000 
475,000 10,495,000 
405,000 7,940,000 

3,820,000 $ 55,055,000 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE Table 6 
CHANGES IN NOTES PAYABLE 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Maturity Interest Balance Balance 
Date R.ate 06/30/12 Additions Retirements 06/30/13 

Water Division: 
Note payable to the State of 
Tennessee revolving loan 
fund 2031 Variable $ 640,220 0 $ 28,441 $ 611,779 

Water Division: 
Note payable to the State of 
Tennessee revolving loan 
fund -ARRA 2031 Variable 128,045 0 5,689 122,356 

Water Division: 
Note payable to the 
TN Municipal Bond Fund 
Fund Series 2012 2032 Variable 0 2,923,346 187,500 2,735,846 

Public Improvement Loans: 
Note payable to the Public 
Building Authority 
Clarksville, TN 
Series 2008 TMBF 2028 Variable 1,589,000 0 67,000 1,522,000 

Public Improvement Loans: 
Note payable to the Public 
Building Authority 
Clarksville, TN Fixed for 

Series 2012 2032 5 years 1,710,200 0 67,200 1,643,000 

Public Improvement Loans: 
Note payable to the Public 
Building Authority 
Clarksville, TN 
Series 2012 2027 Variable 905,135 0 50,000 855,135 

Public Improvement Loans: 
Note payable to the Public 
Building Authority 
Clarksville, TN 
Series 2012 2028 Variable 0 5,260,075 0 5,260,075 

Airport Improvement Loans: 
Note payable to the Public 
Building Authority 
Clarksville, TN 
Series 2012 2027 Variable 109,000 1,400,000 75,000 1,434,000 

Refunding Debt: 
Note payable to the Public 
Building Authority 
Blount County, TN 
Series E-9-A 2028 Variable 21,210,000 ° 130,000 21,080,000 

Capital Outlay Notes 
Local Government Energy Loan: 
Local Government Energy Efficiency 
Loan Program 2013 0.00% 142,858 ° 71,429 71,429 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE Table 6 
CHANGES IN NOTES PAYABLE 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Maturity Interest Balance Balance 
Date Rate 06/30/12 Additions Retirements 06/30/13 

School Construction Loan: 
Qualified School Construction 
Loan (QSCB) 
Series 2009 2027 1.1515% $ 3,662,476 $ 0 $ 259,577 $ 3,402,899 

S~hool Energy Loan: 
Tennessee Energy Efficient 
School Initiative Program 
(EESI) Loan 2016 3.00% 208,675 0 56,771 151,904 

Totals $ 30,305,609 $ 9,583,421 $ 998,607 $ 38,890,423 
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Tax 
Year 

2003 $ 
2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
UNCOLLECTED DELINQUENT PROPERTY TAXES FILED 

June 30,2013 

Original 
Amount Unpaid 

Filed Balance 

207,721 $ 15,452 
232,661 15,859 
203,051 6,588 
305,663 18,212 
452,759 31,615 
501,311 58,762 
614,201 109,673 
501,912 177,039 
371,448 309,619 

Table 7 

Percentage. 
Collected 

92.6 % 
93.2 
96.8 
94.0 
93.0 
88.3 
82.1 
64.7 
16.6 
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Fiscal 

Year 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2023 

2024 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

2030 

2031 

2032 

2033 

2034 

2035 

2036 

2037 

Total 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

BOND PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 

REQUIREMENTS BY FISCAL YEAR FOR GENERAL OBLIGA nON BONDS 

June 30, 2013 

2005 

Series 

Principal Interest Principal 

$ 570,000 $ 404,087 $ 175,000 

590,000 381,288 250,000 

610,000 351,787 265,000 

800,000 328,913 275,000 

870,000 298,912 285,000 

925,000 261,938 295,000 

960,000 222,625 305,000 

1,000,000 184,225 320,000 

1,050,000 139,225 335,000 

1,075,000 95,125 350,000 

1,130,000 49,438 360,000 

380,000 

390,000 

410,000 

70,000 

75,000 

75,000 

80,000 

85,000 

85,000 

90,000 

95,000 

100,000 

100,000 

$ 9,580,000 $ 2,717,563 $ 5,250,000 

2007 

Series 

Interest 

$ 226,713 

219,712 

209,713 

199,112 

188,113 

176,712 

164,913 

152,712 

139,513 

125,694 

111,256 

96,406 

77,406 

57,906 

37,406 

34,344 

31,063 

27,781 

24,281 

20,563 

16,844 

12,906 

8,750 

4,375 

$ 2,364,194 
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Table 8 

Total 

2009C 2009D 

Series Series Principal Interest 

Principal Interest Principal Interest 

$ 550,000 $ 602,156 $ 365,000 $ 253,650 $ 1,660,000 $ 1,486,606 

250,000 588,406 695,000 . 244,525 1,785,000 1,433,931 

250,000 582,156 740,000 227,150 1,865,000 1,370,806 

30,000 574,656 870,000 206,800 1,975,000 1,309,481 

30,000 573,756 890,000 180,700 2,075,000 1,241,481 

25,000 572,781 910,000 151,775 2,155,000 1,163,206 

25,000 571,906 990,000 119,925 2,280,000 1,079,369 

25,000 570,969 1,040,000 82,800 2,385,000 990,706 

25,000 569,969 1,030,000 41,200 2,440,000 889,907 

1,100,000 568,969 2,525,000 789,788 

1,050,000 524,969 2,540,000 685,663 

300,000 482,969 680,000 579,375 

3,400,000 470,969 3,790,000 548,375 

3,125,000 334,969 3,535,000 392,875 

350,000 206,063 420,000 243,469 

100,000 190,750 175,000 225,094 

100,000 186,500 175,000 217,563 

4,050,000 182,250 4,130,000 210,031 

85,000 24,281 

85,000 20,563 

90,000 16,844 

95,000 12,906 

100,000 8,750 

100,000 4,375 

$ 14,785,000 $ 8;355,163 $ 7,530,000 $ 1,508,525 $ 37,145,000 $ 14,945,445 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
NOTE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 

REQUIREMENTS BY FISCAL YEAR EXCLUDING CLEVELAND UTILITIES & AIRPORT 
June 30, 2013 

Fiscal Note Payable - Public Building Note Payable - Public Buildil).g Note Payable - Energy Efficienl 
Year Authority of Clarksville TN Authority of Blount County TN Schools Initiative Loan 

2008TMBF E-9-A EESILoan 
Series Series Series 

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2014 $ 70,000 $ 76,100 $- 515,000 $ 1,054,000 $ 63,816 $ 3,684 
2015 74,000 72,600 '535,000 1,028,250 65,760 1,740 
2016 78,000 68,900 580,000 1,001,500 22,328 150 
2017 82,000 65,000 580",000 972,500 
2018 86,000 60,900 580,000 943,500 
2019 90,000 56,600 595,000 914,500 
2020 94,000 52,100 625,000 884,750 
2021 99,000 47,400 660,000 853,500 
2022 104,000 42,450 685,000 820,500 
2023 .109,000 37,250 730,000 786,250 
2024 115,000 31,800 870,000 749,750 
2025 121,000 26,050 2,875,000 706,250 
2026 127,000 20,000 562,500 
2027 133,000 13,650 450,000 562,500 
2028 140,000 7,000 3,400,000 540,000 
2029 3,600,000 370,000 
2030 3,800,000 190,000 
2031 
2032 

$ 1,522,000 $ 677,800 $ 21,080,000 $ 12,940,250 $ 151,904 $ 5,574· 

(I) Variable rates of 4% have been assumed on loans through Blount Counties and ClarksvilIe, TN. 
(2) Non-interest bearing loan from Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development. 
(3) $739,962 ofloan proceeds have not been drawn down at June 30, 2013. 
(4) $100,865 ofloan proceeds have not been drawn down at June 30, 2013 

Note Payable - Public Building 
Authority of ClarksvilIe, TN 

2012 
Series (4) 

Princi:eal Interest 

$ 52,000 $ 23,900 
54,000 22,600 
57,000 21,250 
59,000 19,825 
61,000 . 18,350 
64,000 16,825 
66,000 15,225 
69,000 13,575 
72,000 11,850 
74,000 10;050 
77,000 8,200 
80,000 6,275 
84,000 4,275 
87,000 2,175 

$ 956,000 $ 194,375 
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Table 9 

Note Payable -. Public Building Note Payable - Public Building 
Authority of Clarksville, TN Authority of Clarksville, TN Local 

2012 2012 2009 QSCB Government 
Series Series (3) Series Energy Loan (2) Total 

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Principal Interest (1) 

$ 70,000 $ 38,118 $ 300,000 $ 240,000 $ 237,946 $ 67,184 $ 71,429 $ 1,380,191 $ 1,502,986 
71,000 36,494 312,000 228,000 259,577 67,184 1,371,337 1,456,868 
73,000 34,846 324,000 215,520 259,578 67,184 1,393,906 1,409,350 
75,000 33,153 337,000 202,560 259,577 67,184 1,392,577 1,360,222 
77,000 31,413 351,000 189,080 259,577 67,184 1,414,577 1,310,427 
78,000 29,626 365,000 175,040 259,577 67,184 1,451,577 1,259,775 
80,000 27,817 379,000 160,440 259,578 67,184 1,503,578 1,207,516 
82,000 25,961 394,000 145,280 259,577 67,184 1,563,577 1,152,900 
84,000 24,058 410,000 129,520 259,577 67,184 1,614,577 1,095,562 
86,000 22,110 426,000 113,120 259,577 67,184 1,684,577 1,035,964 
88,000 20,114 443,000 96,080 259,578 67,184 1,852,578 973,128 
90,000 18,073 461,000 78,360 259,578 67,184 3,886,578 902,192 
92,000 15,985 480,000 59,920 285,130 67,184 1,068,130 729,864 
94,000 13,850 499,000 40,720 24,472 6,292 1,287,472 639,187 
96,000 11,670 519,000 20,760 4,155,000 579,430 
98,000 9,442 3,698,000 379,442 

101,000 7,169 3,901,000 197,169 
103,000 4,825 103,000 4,825 
105,000 2,436 105,000 2,436 

$ 1,643,000 $ 407,160 $ 6,000,000 $ 2,094,400 $ 3,402,899 $ 879,684 $ 71,429 $ 34,827,232 $ 17,-199,243 
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Fiscal 
Year 

2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 
2030 
2031 
2032 
2033 
2034 
2035 
2036 
2037 

Total 

CITY OF CLEVELAND,. TENNESSEE 
BOND PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 

REQUIRErvlENTS BY FISCAL YEAR FOR CLEVELAND UTILITIES 
, June 30, 2013 

Electric, Water and Sewer Revenue and Tax Bonds 

2003 . 2004 2007 
Series Series Series 

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest 

$ 460,000 $ 8,050 $ 970,000 $ 385,896 $ 170,000 $ 346,212 
965,000 347,196 180,000 339,412 
955,000 308,796 190,000 332,212 
945,000 270,796 200,000 324,613 
710,000 233,697 210,000 316,612 
905,000 199,496 225,000 308,213 
540,000 174,596 330,000 299,212 
440,000 156,676 345,000 286,013 
435,000 138,141 360,000 271,781 
435,000 119,110 375,000 '256,931 
430,000 100,187 390,000 241,463 
425,000 81,484 405,000 225,375 
420,000 63,000 305,000 205,125 
415,000 44,735 315,000 189,875 
410,000 26,687 .330,000 174,125 
405,000 8,860 345,000 159,688 

355,000 144,594 
370,000 129,062 
390,000 112,875 
405,000 95,812 
420,000 78,094 
435,000 59,719 
455,000 40,687 
475,000 20,781 

$ 460,000 $ 8,050 $ 9,805,000 $ 2,659,353 $ 7,980,000 $ 4,958,486 

. 2009B 

Series 
Principal Interest 

$ 490,000 $ 22,050 
490,000 7,350 

$ 980,000 $ 29,400 
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Tabre 10 

Total 
2009C 2009D 2010 
Series Series Series Principal Interest 

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest 

$ 860,000 $ 380,594 $ 540,000 $ 605,924 $ 410,000 $ 220,462 $ 3,900,000 $ 1,969,188 
895,000 359,094 1,000,000 592,425 415,000 215,798 3,945,000 1,861,275 
600,000 336,719 1,805,000 567,424 415,000 209,190 3,965,000 1,754,341 
410,000 318,719 2,100,000 517,788 420,000 201,771 4,075,000 1,633,687 
435,000 306,419 2,040,000 454,787 425,000 192,898 3,820,000 1,504,413 
475,000 292,281 ~,545,000 388,488 425,000' 183,230 3,575,000 1,371,708 
625,000 275,656 1,680,000 334,412 430,000 172,732 3,605,000 1,256,608 
500,000 252,219 1,895,000 271,413 435,000 161,552 3,615,000 1,127,873 
575,000 232,218 1,800,000 195,612 435,000 150,102 3,605,000 987,854 
675,000 209,219 1,385,000 123,613 440,000 138,084 3,310,000 846,957 
600,000 182,218 1,010,000 68,213 445,000 125,358 2,875,000 717,439 
970,000 158,219 420,000 25,288 450,000 111,908 2,670,000 602,274 

1,040,000 119,418 75,000 7,438 455,000 97,721 2,295,000 492,702 
985,000 77,819 50,000 4,250 460,000 82,934 2,225,000 399,613 
850,000 37,188 50,000 2,125 465,000 67,535 2,105,000 307,660 

465,000 51,516 1,215,000 220,064 
475,000 35,043 830,000 179,637 
475,000 17,753 845,000 146,815 

390,000 112,875 
405,000 95,812 
420,000 78,094 
435,000 59,719 
455,000 40,687 
475,000 20,781 

$10,495,000 $ 3,538,000 $ 17,395,000 $ 4,159,200 $ 7,940,000 $ 2,435,587 $ 55,055,000 $17,788,076 
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Fiscal 
Year 

2014 $ 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028. 
2029 
2030 
2031 
2032 

$ 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
NOTE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 

REQUIREMENTS BY FISCAL YEAR FOR CLEVELAND UTILITIES 
June 30, 2013 

TN Municipal State of Tenhessee 
Bond Fund (1) Revolving Loan Fund 

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal 

.187,500 142,500 $. 34,856 $ 15,155 $ 222,356 
187,500 135,000 35,599 14,412 223,099 
187,500 127,500 36,358 13,654 223,858 
187,500 120,000. 37,133 12,878 224,633 
187,500 112;500 37,924 12,088 225,424 
187,500 105,000 38,731 11,280 226,231 
187,500 97,500 39,557 10,454 227,057 
187,500 90,000 - 40,399 9,612 227,899 

.187,500 82,500 41,261 8,750 228,761 
187,500 75,000 42,139 7,872 229,639 
187,500 67,500 43,037 6,974 230,537 
187;500 60,000 43,954 6,058 231,454 
187,500 52,500 44,891 5,120 232,391 
187,500 45,000 45,847 4,164 233,347 
187,500 37,500 46,824 3,187 234,324 
187,500 30,000 47,821 2,190 235,321 
187,500 22,500 48,840 1,171 236,340 
187,500 15,000 28,964 204 216,464 
187,500 7,500 0 0 187,500 

3,562,500 $ 1,425,000 $ 734,135 $ 145,223 $ 4,296,635 

(1) $826,655 ofloan proceeds have not been drawn down at JuneJO, 2013. 

Table 11 

Total 
Interest 

$ 157,655 
149,412 
141,154 
132,878 
124,588 
116,280 
107,954 
99,612 
91,250 
82,872 
74,474 
66,058 
57,620 . 

49,164 
40,687 
32,190 
23,671 
15,204 
7,500 

$ 1,570,223 
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Fiscal 
Year 

2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
NOTE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 

REQUIREMENTS BY FISCAL YEAR FOR CLEVELAND MUNICIPAL AIRPORT 
June 30, 2013 

2012 Series Public Building 
Authority Clarksville, TN 

Principal Interest (1) 

$ ·78,000 $ 57,360 
82,000 54,240 
85,000 50,960 
88,000 47,560 
92,000 44,040 
95,000 40,360 
99,000 36,560 

103,000 32,600 
107,000 28,480 
112,000 24,200 
116,000 19,720 
121,000 15,080 
125,000 10,240 
131,000 5,240 

$ 1,434,000 $ 466,640 

(1) Variable rates of 4% have been assumed on loans through Clarksville, TN. 

Table 12 
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Description 

Investment in Ce~ificates of Deposit: 
First Tennessee Bank 
First Tennessee Bank 
First Tennessee Bank 
First Tennessee Bank 
First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

First Tennessee Bank 

Total Certificates of Deposit 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
INVESTMENTS 

June 30, 2013 

1.00% 
0.10% 
0.55% 
1.00% 
0.55% 

0.55% 

0.40% 

0.80% 

0.80% 

0.15% 

0.55% 

0.55% 

0.80% 

1.20% 

Investment in Local Government Investment Pool: 
State of Tennessee 
State of Tennessee 
State of Tennessee 

Total Local Government Investment Pool 

Total Investments 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Table 13 

Fair 
Cost Value 

57,576 $ 57,576 
50,000 50,000 
40,528 40,528 
37,953 37,953 
33,663 33,663 

30,328 30,328 

25,000 25,000 

20,000 20,000 

5,990 5,990 

13,699 13,699 

29,987 29,987 

14,993 14,993 

5,127 5,127 

454,985 454,985 

819,829 $ 819,829 

302 $ 302 
43,727 43,727 

332,940 332,940 

376,969 $ 376,969 

1,196,798 $ 1,196,798 
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clTY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

TRANSFERS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Transfers In: Transfers Out: 

Capital Improvement Program General Fund 
Cleveland Municipal Airport Authority Fund General Fund 
Community Development Block Grant Fund General Fund 
Community Development Block Grant Fund THDA Neighborhood Stabilization Program 
Debt Service Fund General Fund 
Debt Service Fund School Fund 
Debt Service Fund State Street Aid Fund 
General Fund Cleveland Utilities - Electric Division 
General Fund Cleveland Utilities - Water Division 
Library Fund General Fund 
Metropolitan Transportation Planning Organization General Fund 
Recycling Grant Fund General Fund 
School Fund General Fund 
School Fund School Feder~ Projects Fund 
Solid Waste Management Fund General Fund 

Total 

Table 14 

Amount 

$ 809,069 
426,200 

17,000 
21,199 

3,997,700 
487,000 
371,900 

1,837,680 
205,046 
567,933 
40,000 
4,000 

5,120,000 
11,845 

1,226,000 

$ 15,142,572 
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CITY OF etEVELA:-<O. TEN;"''ESSEE 
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JU KE 30, 2013 
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Name 

TomRowl~d 

Avery Johnson, Sr. 

Richard Banks 

William Estes 

Dale Hughes 

David May, Jr. 

Charles McKenzie 

George Poe, Jr. 

Janice S. Casteel 

Melinda Carroll 

William Watson, CPA 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SALARIES AND SURETY BONDS OF PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS 

For the Year Ended June 30,2013 

Office Salary 

Mayor $ 12,000 

Vice Mayor 7,200 

Councilman 7,200 

Councilman 7,200 

Councilman 7,200 

Councilman 7,200 

Councilman 7,200 

Councilman 7,200 

City Manager 140,215 

Assistant City Manager 80,198 

City Clerk 74,072 

. Table 16 

Amount 
of Bond 

$ 600,000 

600,000 

° 
° 
° 
0 

° 
° 

600,000 

i50,000 

1,150,000 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHEDULE OF FEDERAL AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE ACTIVITY 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

PROGRAM 
Federal Grants: 

School Breakfast Program 
School Lunch Program 
USDA Fresh Fruits and Vegetables 
Comprehensive Economic Development Plan 
Community Development Block Grant 
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 
Emergency Shelter 
Protective vests 
COPS Hiring Recovery Program - ARRA 
Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws (EUDL) 

Targeted Crime Reduction Grant 
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance - 20.11 
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance - 2012 

Subtotal Program 16.738 

Airport Construction ofT-Hangars 
Airport Construction Phase I 
Airport Construction Phase II 
Airport Land Acquisition Phase ill 
Airport Construction Phase ill 

Subtotal Program 20.106 

Train Depot Restoration - ARRA 
Transportation Planning 
Cleveland Mouse Creek Greenway - Phase IV 

Subtotal Program 20.205 

2012 LSTA Technology Grant 
Detention Ponds 
Title I Grant to Local Educational Agencies 

Special Education - Grants to States 
Special Education - Grants to States 

Subtotal Program 84.027 

Vocational Improvement 
Special Education - Preschool Grants 
Smaller Learning Communities Program 
English Language Acquisition Enhancement Title ill 
Teacher and Principal Training & Recruiting Title II-A 
SF SF - Race to the Top - ARRA 

Federal Disaster Relief - Utilities 
Federal Disaster Relief - Public Works 

Subtotal Program 97.036 

Homeland Security Grant 

Total Federal Grants 

Grantor 

Dept of Agriculture 
Dept of Agriculture 
Dept of Agriculture 
Dept of Commerce 
DeptofHUD 
DeptofHUD 
DeptofHUD 
Dept of Justice 
Dept of Justice 
Dept of Justice 

Dept of Justice 
Dept of Justice 
Dept of Justice 

Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 

Dept. of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 

Library & Archives 
EPA 
Dept of Education 

Dept of Education 
Dept of Education 

Dept of Education 
Dept of Education 
Dept of Education 
Dept of Education 
Dept of Education 
Dept of Education 

FEMA 
FEMA 

Dept of Homeland Sec 

CFDA 
Number 

10.553 * 
10.555 * 
10.582 
11.306 
14.218 * 
14.228 
14.231 
16.607. 
16.710 
16.727 

16.738 * 
16.738 * 
16.738 * 

20.106 * 
20.106 * 
20.106 * 
20.106 * 
20.106 * 

20.205 
20.205 
20.205 

45.310 
66.202 
84.010 

84.027 
84.027 

84.048 
84.173 
84.215 
84.365 
84.367 
84.395 

97.036 
97.036 

97.067 

* 

* 
* 

* 

* 

State 
Grant 

Number 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

ESG-09-24 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

AERO-13166 
AERO-10108 
AERO-I1102 
AERO-11160 

N/A 

N/A 
Z-07036293 

N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
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(Continued) 

Balance 

Balance Cash Other Expend- Paid To Transfers June 30, 

July 1,2012 Receipts Additions itures Grantor Out 2013 

$ (50,188) $ 518,744 $ 0 $ 516,141 $ 0 $ 0 $ (47,585) 
(127,140) 1,410,266 0 1,400,677 0 0 (117,551) 

(3,685) 47,856 0 48,806 0 0 (4,635) 
(71,575) 71,575 0 42,774 0 0 (42,774) 

(2,216) 342,717 0 340,689 0 0 (188) 
0 21,228 0 21,228 0 0 0 

(9,416) 74,581 0 104,996 0 0 (39,831) 
(l3,962) l3,962 0 2,926 0 0 (2,926) 
(29,528) 178,943 0 149,415 0 0 0 

(9,454) 9,454 0 0 0 0 0 

$ (48,935) $ 276,837 $ 0 $ 304,703 $ 0 $ 0 $ (76,801) 
3,729 0 0 3,729 0 0 0 

0 28,237 0 28,237 0 0 0 

$ (45,206) $ 305,074 $ 0 $ 336,669 $ 0 $ 0 $ (76,801) 

$ 0 $ 53,865 $ 0 $ 59,772 $ 0 $ 0 $ (5,907) 
0 72,788 0 72,788 0 0 0 
0 104,745 0 170,952 0 0 (66,207) 
0 0 0 158,793 0 0 (158,793) 

(1,509,073) 5,000,000 0 3,490,927 0 0 0 

$ (1,509,073) $ 5,231,398 $ 0 $ 3,953,232 $ 0 $ 0 $ (230,907) 

$ (129,246) $ 129,246 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
(20,974) 94,889 0 94,372 0 0 (20,457) 

(274,857) 288,443 0 13,586 0 0 0 

$ (425,077) $ 512,578 $ 0 $ 107,958 $ 0 $ 0 $ (20,457) 

$ 0 $ 2,576 $ 0 $ 2,576 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
(525,600) 525,600 0 0 0 0 0 

(4,831) 1,735,080 0 1,700,214 0 0 30,035 

$ 12,975 $ 1,132,381 $ 0 $ 1,155,103 $ 0 $ 0 $ (9,747) 

° 51,759 0 51,759 0 0 0 

$ 12,975 $ 1,184,140 $ 0 $ 1,206,862 $ 0 $ 0 $ (9,747) 

$ 0 $ 93,516 $ 0 $ 102,596 $ 0 $ 0 $ (9,080) 
0 55,345 o· 55,345 0 0 0 

(55,827) 216,652 0 160,826 0 0 (1) 
0 36,007 0 44,828 0 0 (8,821) 

(2,003) 257,041 0 270,1'87 0 0 (15,149) 
(35,667) 365,853 0 366,539 0 0 (36,353) 

$ (401,838) $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ (401,838) 
(189,447) 0 0 0 0 0 (189,447) 

$ (591,285) . $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ (591,285) 

$ (28,925) $ 28,925 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

$ (3,527,683) $ l3,239,111 $ 0 $ 10,935,484 $ 0 $ 0 $ (1,224,056) 
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CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 
SCHEDULE OF FEDERAL AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE ACTIVITY 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 

PROGRAM 

State Grants: 
Safe Schools Act 
Coordinated School Health 

. Lottery for Educatio·n - Afterschool Programs 
Disaster Relief - Utilities 
Disaster Relief - Public Works 
Archives Development 
Airport Maintenance 
Airport Mitigation 
Airport Phase ill Design 
Airport Maintenance 
Airport Terminal Building 
Airport Hangar Grant 
Airport Site Improvement 
Airport Lighting Grant 
Airport Design/Construction of Refueling System 
Airport Security Enhancements 
Airport Engineering/Construction T-Hangars 
Airport Taxilanes 
Airport Grounds Maintenance 
Airport Approach Clearing 
Airport Construction Phase ill 
Community Based Special Litter Grant 
Local Interstate Connector, Stone Lake Rd 
Tinsley park playground 

Total State Grants 

Total Federal and State Financial Assistance Activity 

Grantor 

Dept of Education 
Dept of Education 
Dept of Education . 
TEMA 
TEMA 
Library and Archives 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation . 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Dept of Transportation 
Environment & Conserv. 

CFDA 
Number 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

*Denotes major programs 

State 
Grant 

Number 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

AERO-12117 
AERO-I2118 
AERO-I2167 
AERO-I2173 
AERO-I2214 
AERO-I2215 
AERO-I2216 
AERO-I2217 
AERO-I 3 I 18 
AERO-13166 
AERO-13213 
AERO-13238 
AERO-13240 
GGI237936 

N/A 
113131 

GG1135120 
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(Continued) 

Balance 

Balance Cash Other Expend- Paid To Transfers June 30, 

July 1,2012 Receipts Additions itures Grantor Out 2013 

$ (8,783) $ 32,683 $ 0 $ 23,900 $ 0 $' 0 $ 0 
(51,682) 132,740 0 125,000 0 0 (43,942) 
(21,081) 171,823 0 162,000 0 0 (11,258) 

(280,694) 0 0 0 0 0 (280,694) 
(6,209) 0 0 0 0 0 (6,209) 

0 435 0 435 0 0 0 
O· 8,183 0 12,443 0 0 (4,260) 
0 261,064 0 266,346 0 0 (5,282) 
0 79,354 0 79,354 0 0 0 

(4,604) 4,604 0 0 0 0 0 
(60,678) 350,000 0 289,322 0 0 0 
(51,000) 303,187 0 344,392 0 0 (92,205) 

(6,198) 211,797 0 246,054 0 0 (40,455) 
(9,000) 614,328 0 605,328 0 0 0 

0 103,399 0 171,256 ° 0 (67,857) 
0 131,234 0 148,324 0 0 (17,090) 
0 2,993 0 3,321 0 0 (328) 
0 33,874 0 63,924 0 0 (30,050) 
0 0 0 60,000 0 0 (60,000) 
0 0 0 16,625 0 0 (16,625) 
0 2,689,161 0 2,795,015 0 0 (105,854) 
0 ° O. 926 0 0 (926) 

(882,713) 2,147,490 0 1,380,200 0 0 (115,423) 
(110,000) 110,000 0 0 0 0 0 

$ (1,492,642) $ 7,388,349 $ 0 $ 6,794,165 $ 0 $ 0 $ (898,458) 

$ (5,020,325) $ 20,627,460 $ 0 $ 17,729,64-9 $ 0 $ 0 $ (2,122,514) 
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CFDA Program Name 

10.569 Commodity Assistance 

CITY OF CLEVELAND, TENNESSEE 

SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH AS.SISTANCE 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

Balance 
July 1, 

Grantor Agency 2012 Receipts 

U.S. Department $ 0 $ 155,430 

of Agriculture 

Expend- Balance 
ituresl June 30, 
Issues 2013 

$ 155,430 $ 0 
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ARNETr, KIRKSEY, KIMSEY, SULLIVAN, LAy & HALL, PLLC 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

WEDGf:WOOD OFFICE PARK 
4395 N. OCOEE STREET 

CLEVELAND. TENNESSEE 37312 
MEMBERS 

RO NALD E. ARNEIT, CPAlPFS, CVA 
WILLIAM n. KmKSEY, CPA 

AM ER]CAN lNSfrTInl: OF 
CERTIFIED I'UBUC ACCQUNT,\ NTS 

BUDDY E. KIMSEY, CPAlPFS 
\~CK I PIERCE SULLIVAN, CPA 
MARK A. LAY: CPA 

TELEPHONE: (42:1) 47(;,5581 
FACSIMILE: (423) ,172·9893 
EMAIL: cpa @nkk s lh .com 

TENN Es.."lEE SOCn::1Y OF 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOU NTANTS 

SCOTI' D. HALL. CPA 
NATJONAl. ASSOCL.'tTlON OF 

CERTIFIED \'.'\J.U~\110N AN,\LYSTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' R.EPORT ON INT I, RNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL RE PORTING 

AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MAnE RS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCOR.DANCE WITH GOVE RNMENT AU DITING STAl\f])ARDS 

To the Honorable ivrayor and Council 

oflhc City o[Cleveland 

Cleve land, Tennessee 

\Ve have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

and the standards app licable to financial audits contained in Governm ent Alidiling Standards issued by the 

Ca rnptToller Genera l of the United States, the financ ia l sta tements a r the governmental activities, the business-type 

activities, each major fund , and the aggregate rema ining rllnd information of the City of Cleve land, Tennessee 

as o f and fo r the year ended June 30, 201 3, and the re lated notes to the financia l statements, which collective ly 

comprise the City of Cleve land, Tennessee's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated 

December 16,2013. 

lilternal COlltrol Oller Financial R eporting 

[n plann ing and perform ing our audit of the fillallCial sta tements, we considered the City of Cleveland Tennessee's 

internal contro l over financial rep0I1ing (internal contTol) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circulllstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effec ti veness orthe Ci ty of Cleveland, Tennessee's interna l contTol. Accordingly, 

we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of tile City of Cleve land, Tennessee's in ternal COnLTOI. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation o[ a contTo l does not a llow management or 

em ployees, in the normal comse of perfo rln ing their assigned [un ct ions, to prevent, or detect and correct 

miss tatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of defic iencies, in interna l 

control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a materia l miss tatement of the entity's financial statements \vill 

not be prevented, or detected and con"ected on a timely basis . A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 

com bination of de ficiencies, ill internal contro l that is Icss sever than a materi a l weakness, yet important enough 

to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of interna l control over financia l reporting was for the lim ited purpose descri bed in the fi rst 

paragraph of thi s section and was not designed to identify all defic iencies in intern al contTo\ over financial reporting 

that might be material \\'eaknesses or signifi cant deficiencies and therefore, maleria l weaknesses or significant defic iencies 

Illay ex ist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our aud it we did not identify and defic iencies that we 

cons ider 10 be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses Illay ex.ist that have not been id entifi ed. We did 

identify certai_11 deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanyiJlg schedule of findings and questioned costs 

that we consider to be significant defic iencies in internal control over financial rep0l1ing: 20 13-1 . 
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Compliallce mlft Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Cleveland, Tennessee's Ilnancial statements 

are fTee of material miss tatement, we performed tes ts o f its compl iance with certa i_n provisions oflaws, regulations, 

contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with "vhich cou ld have a direct and materi a l effect on the 

delcmlination of fman cial statement amOllnts. Hmvever, prov iding an opinion on compl iance with those provisions 

w.as not au objective of our aud it, and accordingly, we do not ex press such an op inion. The results of our tests 

d isclosed no instances of nOll complian ce or other matters that is required to be reported uncl eI' Government 

Auditing Standard" 

Th e City ol e /evellll1d, Tellflessee's Response to Findings 

The City of Cleveland, Tennessee's res ponse to the t:ind i_ngs idenlified in our audit is described in the 

accompanying schedule of fmdings and questioned costs. The City o f Cleveland, Tennessee's response was 110t 

subjected to the auditing procedures appli ed in the audit of the fi nancial statements and, accordingly, we express 

DO opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope afoUl" testing ofintemal control and compliance and the 

results oftbat testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness o rthe entity 's internal control or on 

compliance. Thi s report is an integral pari of an aud it performed iJ1 accordance with Government Audiling Standards 

in considelin g the entity's internal contro l and compl iance. According ly, thjs communication is not suitab le for any 

other purpose, 

~ fu..-l.o-t't, t~, tklCul"'--, ~'( 'V Waf'~ 
ARNETT, KIRKSEY, KlMSEY, SUL LI VAN, LA Y & HALL, PLLC 

Cert ifi ed Publ ic Accountants 

December 16, 20 13 
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ARNETr. KlRKSEY. KIMSEY. SULLIVAN. lAy & HALL. PLLC 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

RONALD E. ARNETT. CPA/PFS. CVA 
WILLIAM Il. KIilKSEY. CPA 
BUDDY E. KIMSEY. CPA/PFS 
\~CKI PIERCE SULLfVAN. CI'II 

. MARK A LAY. CPA 
SCOT!' D. IIALL. CPA 

WEDGEIVOOD OFFICE PAHK 
,1395 N. OCOEE STREET 

CLEVElAND, TE NN ESSEE 373 12 

TELEPHONE: (·123) 476-5581 
FACSIMILE: ('123) 472-9893 
EMAIL: cpa@akks lh .com 

MEMBEIlS 

AvlERICAN INSTrrUrE OF 
CERTIFIED I'UBJJC ACCOU[I.'TAI.\'TS 

n~NNESSEE SOCIETY OF 
CERTIFIED PUIl IJC I\CCO\Ji\'T.O\~JS 

NAllONALAS$OC IATION OF 
CEIn1FIED VALUATION ANALY~"l'S 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WlTH REQUIREMENTS THA T COULD 

I-lAVE A DUUOCT At"\[D MATERIAL EFFECT ON EACH MAJOR PROG RAM AND ON INTERNAL 

CONTROL OVER COMP LlANCE IN ACCORD ANCE WlT H OMB Cm.CU LAR A-133 

To the Honorable Mayor and Council 

oflhe City ofClev~ l and 
Cleve land, Tennessee 

Report Oil Compliance/or Each 111ajor Federal Program 

\Ve have aud ited tbe City of Cleveland, Tennessee's compl iance \vith the types of compliance requirements 

described in the ONtB Ci rcular Aw l33 Comp liance Supplcme nt that could have a direct and material effect all each of 
the City ofClevelaod, Tennessee's major fedcl'(l1 programs fo r the year ended June 30, 20 13. The City of Cleveland, 

Tennessee's major federal programs are identified ill the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying 

schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

JI,,-/aJlagemellt'.'I Responsibility 

Ivfanagement is respons ible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regu lations, contracts, and grants 

applicable to its federa l programs. 

Our responsibility is to express an opin ion on compliance For each of the City ofC lcveland, Tennessee's major 

federa l programs based on our aud it afthe types ofcampliallce req uirements referred to above. We conducted 

our audit of the compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the slandards applicable to unancial audits contained in Govel'nmenI Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptro ller 

General oflhe United States; and OMB Circular A-133 , Allclils o/States, Local Governmenls, and l'lon-Profit 

OrganizCllions. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perf0n11 the audit to obta in 

reasonable assurance about whether non compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above 

that could have a direct and material effect on a major federa l program occurred. An audit includes examining, on 

a test basis, evidence about the City of Cleveland, Tennessee's compliance \-\lith those requirements and performing 

such other procedllres as \ve considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We bel ieve that our audit provides a reasonab le basis for our opillion on compli ance for each major federal program. 

However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Cleveland, Tennessee's comp liance. 
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Opillioll 011 £(1(.:11 A1ajor Federal Program 

In our opinion, the City Qf Cleveland, Tennessee compli ed, in a ll material respects, \'vith the types of compliance 

requirements refe rred to above that could have a d irect and mate ria l e ffec t on each of its major federa l programs 

for the year ended June 30, 2013. 

illfern al COlltrol Over Compliallce 

Management ofrhe City ofCleveland j Tennessee is respons ib le ror estab lishing and maintaining effecti ve 

intcma l control over comp liance wi lh the ty pes of compliance requi rements referred to above. In plann.ing our 

audi t of compliance, we considered the Ci ty of Cleve land, Tennessee's interna l control over compliance wi th the 

requ irements that co uld have a direct and mate rial e frec t on a major federa l program to determine the audi ting 

procedures d1at are appropriate in the circumstances fo r the purpose of expressing our opinion On comp liance fo r 

each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB 

C ircular A- 133, but not for the purpose of expressing an OpiJl ion o n the effect iveness of inlerna l control over 

compliance. Accordingly, we do no t express an opi nion on the c rTectiveness or the City of C leve land, Tenncssee's 

inlelllal contro l over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance ex ists when the design or operation of a contro l over compliance 

docs not al low management or employees, in the normal course o f performing their ass igned fu nctions, to prevent or 

detect and correc t, noncompliance v .. ith a type of compliance requ irement ofa federa l program on a timely bas is. 
A material weakness in infernal confrol over compliance is a defic iency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 

contro l over compliance, sll ch that there is a reasonable poss ib il ity that materia l noncompli ance with a type of 
compl iance requirement of a federal program wi ll not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 

A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance with a type of compli ance requirement of a federal 
program that is less severe than a material weakn ess in int erna l contro l over compliance, yet important enough to 
merit attent ion by those charged with governance. 

Our considera tion of interna l control over compliance was for the lim ited purpose described in the first paragraph 

of this section and was not des igned to identify all de fi c iencies in inLemal control over compliance that might be 

male rial weaknesses or significant de ficiencies. "Ve d id nOl identi ry any de fi cienc ies in interna l control over 

compliance that we conside r to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may ex.ist tbat have not 

been identified. 

The purpose of dl is report on internal conlro l over comp liance is so lc ly to describe (he scope of our testing of 

internal contro l over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requi rements of OMB Circu lar A-133. 

Accordingly! this report is not suitable for any other puqJose. 

au/uti, llu..l-a-t,(, 1:t?~'1, tkdiLlLut., ~ 'f r.;ktt 
ARNETT, KIRKSEY, K1MSEY, SULU VAN, LAY & HALL, PLLC 

Cen ified Public Accountants 

December 16,2013 
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CITY OF CLE VELAND, TENNESSEE 

SCHEDULE OF FIND INGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2013 

A. SUMMARY or AUDIT RESULTS 

I. The auditors' report expresses an unqual.ified opinion on the financial statements of the City of 

Cleve land, Tennessee. 

2. The audit of the financ ial statements ofthe City of Cleveland, Tennessee, disclosed significant 
deficiencies in internal contro l. None of these deficienc ies was considered 1O be a material 

weakness. 

3. The audit disclosed no instances of noncompl iance that were material to tbe financia l statements. 

4. No significant deficiencies relating to the aud it of the major federal award programs were reported in tbe 

Report on Compliance Witb Requirements Applicable to Each Major Program and Internal Control 

Over Compliance in Accordance With Ol'v1l3 Circular A-133. 

5. An unqualified opinion was issued on comp liance for major progyarns. 

6. The audit revealed no Ondings that were required to be reported lmder Section 5 10(a) ofOlVlB 

Circu lar A- 133. 

7. The programs tested as major programs included : 

Title r Grants to Local Educational Agencies 

Race to the Top - Recovery 

(Cluster) 

Special Education - Grants to States 

Special Educalion - Preschoo l Grants 

(Cluster) 

School Breakfast Program 

School Lunch Program 

A irport Improvement Program 

Ed\vard Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance 

Targeted Crime Reduction Grant 

Community Development Block Grant 

7 The thresho ld for distinguishing Types A and B programs was $332,727. 

8 The City of Cleveland, Termcssee, was determi ned \0 be a \O\v-risk auditee. 

CFDA# 

84.0 10 

84.395 

84.027 

84 .1 73 

10.553 

10.555 

20.106 

20.205 

20.205 

14.2 18 
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B. FINDINGS - FINANC IAL STATEMENT AUD IT 

SIGN1FICAi'JT DEFIC IENCIES 

20 13-1 ProCurement Cards 

Condition: Aggregate purchases over $499 \-vere made lIsing procu.rement cards in 
four instances during the fiscal year. 

Criteria: The City has a limit for individual purchases WiU, procurement cards of$499. 

Effect: Purchases were made in violation of City policy. 

Recommendation: The current policy regarding purchases with procurement cards should 
be reite rated to aU employees. 

Response: Management agrees wi th the finding and wi ll encourage the proper use of 
procurement cards. 

C. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL A WARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

U.S. Department of Ed ucation: 

T itle I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 

Race to the Top - Recovery 

Special Education - Grants to Sta tes 

Special Education - Preschool Grants 

U.S. Department of Agriculture: 

Schoo l Breakfast Program 

School Lunch Program 

U.S. Department of Transportation: 

Airport Improvement Program 

U.S. Departm ent of Justice: 

NONE 

NONE 

NONE 

Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance 
Targeted Crime Reduction Grant 

NONE 

U.S. Department o f Housing and Urban Development 

Community Development Block Grant 

NONE 

84.010 

84.395 

84 .027 

84. 173 

10.553 

10.555 

20. 106 

20.205 

20 .205 

14.2 18 
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CITY OF CLEVE LAND, TENNESSEE 

SUMMARY SC HEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT F INDINGS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 20 13 

A. FINANClAL STATEMENT AUD1T 

Compl iance FUlding 201 2- 1 as restated below was corrected during the current year. 

20 12-1 Invoices 

Condition: Invoices related to airport construction are being received in tbe public 
works office instead of accollnts payable. 

Criteria: All invoices shou ld be received in accounts payable. 

Effect: Invoices are not being received iJ) the required ccntra lizecllocation. 

being made. 

Recommendalion: Efforts shoul d be made to have invoices d irected to the accounts payable 

office by all vendors. 

Response: Management agrees v.lith the find ing and wiLl direct all departments to have 
invoices sent to accounts payable. 

Compliance Finding 201 2-2 as restated below was repealed during the current year as compliance 

finding 2013-1. 

201 2-2 Procurement Cards 

Condition: Aggregate purchases over $499 were made using procurement cards in 
four instances during the fi sca l year. 

Criteria: The City bas a limit for individual purchases with procurement cards of$499. 

Effect: Purchases were made in vio lation of City po licy. 

Recommendation: The current policy regarding purchases with procurement cards should 
be reiterated to all employees. 

Response: Management agTees with the finding and wi ll cncourage the propcr use of 

procurement cards. 

B. MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

None from prior year 
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<!tHy of <!tleuelanll 
Janice S. Casteel 

City Manager 
CLEVELAND,TENNESSEE Cleveland Municipal Building 

190 Church Street, N.E. 
(423) 472-4551 . 

(423) 559-3337 Fax 
jcasteel@clevelandtn.gov 

P.O. Box 1519 
Cleveland, TN 37364-1519 

December 16,2013 

U.S. Department of Education 

The 'City of Cleveland, Tennessee respectfully submits the fo llowing corrective action plan for the year ended 
June 30, 201 3. 

Name and address of independent public accounting firm: Arnett, Kirksey, Kimsey, Sullivan, Lay & Hall, PLLC, 
Certi fi ed Public Accountants, 4395 North Ocoee Slreet, Cleveland, Tennessee, 373 12. 

Audit Period: July 1,2012 to June 30, 20 13 

SIGNlFICANT DEFICIENCIES 

20 I 3-1 Procurement Cards 

Condition: Aggregate purchases over $499 were made using procurement cards in 

four instances during the fiscal year. 

Criteria: The City has a limit for individual purchases with procurement cards of$499. 

Effect: Purchases were made in violation of City policy. 

Recommendation: The current policy regarding purchases with procurement cards should 

be reiterated to all employees. 

Response: Management agrees with the finding and will encourage the proper use of 

procurement cards. 

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 

U.S. Department of Ed ucation: 
Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
Race to the Top - Recovery 
Special Education - Grants to States 
Special Education - Preschool Grants 

U.S. Department of Agriculture: 
School Breakfast Program 
School Lunch Program 

U.S. Department of T ransportation: 
Airport Improvement Program 

NONE 

NONE 

NONE 

84.0 10 
84.395 
84.027 
84.173 

10.553 
10.555 

20. 106 
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U.S. Department of Jnstice: 
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Ass istance 
Targeted Crime Reduction Grant 

NONE 
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 

Community Development Block Grant 

Respectfully submitted, 

Jani ce S. Castee l, City Manager 
City of Cleveland, Tennessee 

NONE 

20.205 
20.205 

14.2 18 
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